Soft graviton exchange and the information paradox

Nava Gaddam and Nico Groenenboom

Institute for Theoretical Physics and Center for Extreme Matter and Emergent Phenomena, Utrecht University, 3508 TD Utrecht, The Netherlands.

E-mail: gaddam@uu.nl, n.groenenboom@uu.nl

ABSTRACT: We show that there is a remarkable phase in quantum gravity where gravitational scattering amplitudes mediated by virtual gravitons can be calculated explicitly in effective field theory, when the impact parameter b satisfies $L_{Pl} \ll b \lesssim R_S$, with R_S being the Schwarzschild radius. This phase captures collisions with energies satisfying $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$ (with $\gamma \sim M_{Pl}/M_{BH}$) near the horizon. We call this the black hole eikonal phase, in contrast to its flat space analogue where collisions are trans-Planckian. Hawking's geometric optics approximation neglects gravitational interactions near the horizon, and results in thermal occupation numbers in the Bogoliubov coefficients. We show that these interactions are mediated by graviton exchange in $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering near the horizon, and explicitly calculate the S-matrix non-perturbatively in M_{Pl}/M_{BH} . This involves a re-summation of infinitely many ladder diagrams near the horizon, all mediated by virtual soft gravitons. The S-matrix turns out to be a pure phase upon this re-summation and is agnostic of Planckian physics. Our calculation suggests that non-renormalisability of gravity is irrelevant for a resolution of the information problem, and is agnostic of any specific ultraviolet completion. In contrast to the flat space eikonal limit, the black hole eikonal phase captures collisions of extremely low energy near the horizon.

Contents

1	Introduction and a summary of results	1
2	A review of eikonal physics in flat space	6
3	Quantum gravity in the soft limit	11
	3.1 Spherically symmetric backgrounds	12
	3.2 Decomposition in spherical harmonics	13
	3.3 Decoupling of the odd and even parity graviton modes	16
	3.4 The odd parity graviton does not contribute	19
	3.4.1 The interaction vertex	19
	3.5 Action for the even parity graviton	20
	3.6 Decoupling of the partial waves	21
	3.7 An effective two-dimensional theory	22
	3.7.1 Weyl rescaling	23
4	Feynman rules on the horizon	26
	4.1 The near horizon approximation	27
	4.2 The graviton propagator	30
	4.2.1 The \mathcal{K} propagator	33
	4.2.2 The \mathfrak{h}_{ab} propagator	33
	4.2.3 Propagator for $\mathfrak{h}_{ab} \to \mathcal{K}$	36
	4.3 The scalar propagator	36
	4.4 The interaction vertex	37
	4.5 The black hole eikonal limit: $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$	39
	4.6 The Feynman rules	42
5	Scattering amplitudes on the horizon	43
	5.1 Loop diagrams and the resummation	44
	5.2 An apparent discrepancy demystified	47
6	Discussion and conclusions	50
A	Metric fluctuations	56
	A.1 Quadratic action	56
в	Some definitions and calculations	57
	B.1 Metric and coordinates	57
	B.2 The antisymmetric Levi-Civita tensor	59
	B.3 Quadratic operators reduced to two dimensions	60

C Shockwaves and on-shell perturbations

1 Introduction and a summary of results

Hawking argued that semi-classical black hole physics is well approximated by the propagation of free quantum fields in the presence of a fixed classical background, and therefore that they reliably describe the state of radiation [1, 2]. The supposition is therefore that the gravitational effect of quantum radiation is described by an adiabatic change of the background. In stark contrast to this picture, 't Hooft has long argued that strong gravitational interactions between the infalling matter and outgoing Hawking quanta dramatically change the observations of the external observer [3, 4, 5]; the claim therefore being that the radiation is not sufficiently described by quantum radiation on a fixed background and that quantum coherence is in fact preserved. If this claim is to be true, the natural question to then ask is, how must Hawking's calculation be modified to include these strong gravitational interactions? An educated guess might be that this must be via the inclusion of graviton exchange between the in and out going quanta near the horizon; after all, gravitational interactions dominate all others in this region. In this paper, we explicitly compute an infinite number of such graviton exchange diagrams near the horizon, non-perturbatively re-sum them in a controlled approximation, and show that the result provides for compelling evidence in support of the said claim.

Consider a spherical shell of matter that is energetic enough to collapse into a black hole. For as long as the matter fields are far away from the eventual Schwarzschild radius of the horizon that is to be formed, they may safely be taken to be propagating on flat space. At such large impact parameters, gravitational interactions can largely be ignored if the energy of collisions is small. However, if the energy of collisions becomes Planckian, graviton exchange between the modes starts to dominate [6]. In the so-called eikonal approximation, these processes can be reliably calculated non-perturbatively by summing an infinite number of ladder diagrams [7]; this is the regime of negligible momentum transfer. Considerable effort has gone into studying trans-Planckian scattering (when impact parameters $b \gg G_N \sqrt{s}$, where \sqrt{s} measures the centre of mass energy of the collision), both within semi-classical gravity and string theory [8, 9, 10, 11, 12]. However, when the impact parameters reach a certain critical value $b \sim G_N \sqrt{s}$, the eikonal result diverges [13, 14]. This suggests the production of an intermediate state. In equal measure, it also prevents a study of scattering at impact parameters smaller than the said critical scale. Notwithstanding this difficulty, various attempts have been made to capture black hole formation and evaporation [15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21]. Nevertheless, it is fair to say that no universally accepted picture of information retrieval has emerged so far. Any hope to repair this situation seems to be

64

hidden in physics near the only intrinsic ultra-violet scale available, when impact parameters are comparable to Planck length; a regime where large momentum transfers and microscopic black hole formation dominates. A regime where little to nothing is known.

Gravity has the remarkable property that strong quantum effects arise not only in scenarios with large momentum transfer, but also via the emergence of strong gravitational effects at emergent scales (much larger than Planck length). A case in point being the Schwarzschild radius. In fact, in the collapsing spherical shell scenario under consideration, an apparent horizon opens up long before the shell has fallen past the Schwarzschild radius of the eventual horizon to be formed. This is depicted in Fig. 1.

Of course, in the very early stages of the opening up of the horizon, it is Planckian in size and all processes are dominated by large momentum transfers. However, as the horizon grows to be larger than Planck size, impact parameters of collisions on the horizon are of the order of the Schwarzschild radius or less, but larger than Planck size: $L_{Pl} \ll b \leq R_S$. Consequently, momentum transfer effects are suppressed. Nevertheless, in this regime, the physics is necessarily dominated by scattering in the presence of the horizon that has opened up due to the collapse [22]. The primary difficulty with carrying out this calculation is that unlike in flat space, the graviton propagator on such a background is analytically intractable, rendering the scattering process difficult to study.

When there is a separation of scales of the kind $L_{Pl} \ll b \leq R_S$, it is known that the transverse directions of the horizon can be integrated out. Such an expectation arose from arguments due to the Verlindes [23, 24]. It was anticipated in their work that single graviton exchange in this approximation would already modify the state of Hawking radiation. Carrying this integration out explicitly allows for a partial wave basis, in which the scattering problem becomes analytically tractable near the horizon.

In this article, we calculate a four point correlator of matter fields in the said partial wave basis, near the black hole horizon. Owing to a sub-dominant transverse momentum transfer, we may choose the external momentum to be ingoing to the black hole for the infalling modes and outgoing from the horizon for the Hawking quanta. These modes exchange soft gravitons on the horizon. The interactions are governed by the universal three-point vertex coupling the graviton with the stress tensor of the matter fields. Upon integrating the transverse sphere out, the strength of the interactions is dictated by the emergent dimensionless parameter: $\gamma = \kappa/R_S \sim M_{Pl}/M_{BH}$. The main result of this article is that, for every partial wave ℓ , the four point function is given by

$$\langle \phi \phi \phi \phi \rangle = 4 p_{\rm in} p_{\rm out} \left[\exp \left(i \frac{\gamma^2 R_S^2}{\hbar \left(\ell^2 + \ell + 2 \right)} p_{\rm in} p_{\rm out} \right) - 1 \right]$$

$$= 4 p_{\rm in} p_{\rm out} \left[\exp \left(i \frac{8 \pi G_N}{\hbar \left(\ell^2 + \ell + 2 \right)} p_{\rm in} p_{\rm out} \right) - 1 \right],$$
 (1.1)

where p_{in} and p_{out} are the in and out going momenta of the infalling matter and Hawking quanta respectively. This is a result of a resummation of an infinite number of ladder diagrams



Figure 1. In this figure, a schematic picture of black hole evolution is shown. It is formed by a collapsing shell of null matter of width $v_1 - v_0$. Already at a classical level, an apparent horizon forms long before the entire collapse has occurred. For most of the lifetime of the black hole, however, the apparent horizon is essentially indistinguishable from the event horizon. In fact, already at the final stages of the collapse, the apparent horizon begins to resemble the event horizon very closely. Therefore, except during the very dynamical phase of the collapse, all infalliing matter essentially appears to fall into an already formed horizon. The infalling mode is drawn in red, the outgoing one in green, while the symbolic exchange of gravitons is shown by the blue wavy line. The central conclusion of this paper is that the radiation receives information about the infalling matter from the mediated virtual soft gravitons; this is manifest after a re-summation of infinitely many ladder diagrams. Our calculations are valid so long as $\gamma = \frac{M_{Pl}}{M_{BH}}$ is small. Consequently, the radiation imprints this information on the Cauchy slice drawn in yellow, allowing the external observer to retrieve it.

on the horizon. Therefore, it is non-perturbative¹ in γ and \hbar . Exponential behaviour in such

¹It is non-perturbative in the sense that, for small γ , effects that are exponentially suppressed in γ are

four point functions has received renewed interest owing to their close connection to quantum chaos [25, 26]. Scattering near the horizon has also been argued to be related to chaos [27, 28]. This may be seen to arise from (1.1), when one moves to exponentiated coordinates near the horizon. In fact, the two-dimensional Dray-'t Hooft scattering amplitude was shown to exactly agree with the semi-classical limit of the four point function of the Schwarzian quantum mechanics that describes the collective infra-red mode of the SYK model [29, 30, 31, 32, 33]².

However, as far as four dimensional black holes are concerned, the importance of the emergent scale and the new dimensionless coupling γ cannot be overstated. Based on intuition from the eikonal approximation in flat space, one may have feared that near-horizon scattering may result in firewalls [34, 35, 36, 28]; it is indeed true that soft graviton exchange in flat space requires collision energies that are trans-Planckian. So, an infalling observer may worry about encountering highly energetic outgoing modes. However, as we will show in the present article, this amplitude (1.1) actually arises at leading order in the approximation

$$\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl} \,. \tag{1.2}$$

We call this the black hole eikonal phase of quantum gravity. This is in contrast to the eikonal approximation in flat space for which $s \gg M_{Pl}^2$. For an earth mass black hole (with $R_s \sim 1 cm \gg L_{Pl}$), where our calculation is valid, we see that (1.2) implies that $s \gg 10^{-64} M_{Pl}^2$. The calculation captures collisions of extremely low energy because the physics is captured by zero momentum transfer effects for the $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitudes under consideration.³ Nevertheless, given that we perform an asymptotic scattering amplitude calculation, the experience of an infalling observer is not directly addressed. The effective field theory we set up in this paper, may be useful to this end using the in-in formalism. Moreover, in contrast to scattering in flat space in a partial wave basis (which for a fixed impact parameter and collision energy is dominated by large ℓ modes [23]), scattering near the horizon is evidently dominated by the low ℓ modes, as can be seen from (1.1). The importance of metric perturbations for a resolution of the information paradox has previously been emphasised [37, 38, 39, 40].

A rather important consequence of (1.1) is the fact that upon a Fourier transform of the right hand side of that equation, we see that the four point function is non-zero only when

$$y_{out} = \frac{8\pi G_N}{\ell^2 + \ell + 2} p_{in} \,. \tag{1.3}$$

This relation is very close to the Shapiro delay derived from the backreaction calculation of [41] in a first quantised formalism [42, 43, 44]. The curious discrepancy is in the extra

captured. But it may also be called 'perturbatively exact' in the sense that Planckian (large momentum transfer) effects that arise from the $\gamma \sim 1$ regime are not captured.

²In contrast to the expression (1.1) in reference [33], we find the extra factor arising from the partial wave ℓ . This factor is of importance, as we explain below (1.3) and discuss further in Section 5.2.

³We expect that momentum transfer effects will play a significant role in general $2 \rightarrow N$ amplitudes. Moreover, the time scale associated to those scattering processes is also expected to be longer. Therefore, all external legs are better interpreted as asymptotic states at future and past null infinity; therefore conclusions about firewalls would require further care in general.

factor in $\ell^2 + \ell + 2$ instead of the $\ell^2 + \ell + 1$ that was found in those references. As we will show in Section 5.2, both results are correct in their own right and the present one must be seen as a second quantised generalisation that includes arbitrary off-shell fluctuations in the path integral. It is worth noting that our results are consistent with the expectation that quantum chaos is non-perturbatively realised; our calculation shows which parameters are required to be non-perturbatively treated (namely γ and \hbar), and which perturbatively $(\sqrt{s}/\gamma M_{Pl})$, for this realisation. Our effective field theory setup allows us to see that while the eikonal expectation [25] that ladder diagrams yield the shock wave geometry is indeed largely true, the 'classicalisation' also allows for off-shell gravitons to contribute to the black hole eikonal amplitude, as we show in Section 5.2. Moreover, our effective field theory is a natural framework that can capture exponentially suppressed amplitudes, and exponentially many of them, in the form of general $2 \rightarrow N$ amplitudes in addition to the $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitudes we study in this paper.

That scattering amplitudes capture non-linearities in Einstein's equations is increasingly being appreciated [45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53]. In fact, the classical tree-level three point vertex is sufficient [14, 54] to completely determine the Aichelberg-Sexl solution [55, 56, 57]. In the case of black holes, under consideration in the present article, off-shell fluctuations do contribute to the non-perturbative amplitudes⁴. It is curious and remarkable that their effect is to merely renormalise⁵ the prefactor in (1.3). This may implore one to ask whether quantum chaotic behaviour can also be seen to emerge in the first quantised formalism of [42, 43, 44]. As it turns out, appropriate boundary conditions that respect the scattering algebra near the central causal diamond do indeed generate a rich and chaotic spectrum; those of the zeroes of the Riemann zeta and Dirichlet beta functions [59]. This boundary condition can be motivated to arise from the expectation that CPT is a gauge symmetry in a putative UV complete theory of quantum gravity, as was also argued in [59]. It is to be seen as a generalisation of the antipodal identification that has gained some traction in the context of black holes [60, 43, 44, 61, 62, 63, 64] and wormholes [65, 66].

Organisation of the paper We begin with a quick review of the eikonal regime in flat space in Section 2. In Section 3, we set up the theory of quantum gravity coupled to a massless scalar field in a certain soft limit, in the background field method. We first begin with arbitrary backgrounds, and then specialise to spherically symmetric ones, integrate the sphere out, and formulate an effective two-dimensional theory. Thereafter, in Section 4, we move to physics near the horizon and derive the propagators and Feynman rules governing the interactions. In Section 5, we compute the advertised four point function. We end with a discussion on the implications of our results for various existing proposals for a resolution of the information paradox and an outlook, in Section 6. The sections and subsections have

⁴See [58] for a recent perspective on classical scattering of a pair of black holes.

⁵The change in prefactor is compared to the what appears in the non-linear Dray-'t Hooft solution; see eq. (2.9) of [43] for instance. We discuss this further in Section 5.2.

been so titled to allow for an understanding of the flow of the paper, merely by reading the table of contents.

2 A review of eikonal physics in flat space

Certain features of Planckian scattering in flat space are dominated by virtual gravitons. The significance of soft gravitons in quantum gravity was perhaps first noted in this classic example. In the eikonal limit, elastic forward scattering of massive scalar particles can be calculated exactly [6, 7]. It is instructive to review this example. We begin with the flat space metric in Cartesian coordinates in four dimensions

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2}.$$
(2.1)

Of the four external particles, the two ingoing ones are taken to carry momenta p_1 and p_2 while the outgoing momenta are labelled by p_3 and p_4 . The Mandelstam variables of interest are

$$s := -(p_1 + p_2)^2$$
 and $t := -(p_1 - p_3)^2$, (2.2)

and we focus on the limit $s \gg t$. The eikonal limit consists of discarding effects that are sub-dominant in s/m^2 , where m is the mass of the scalar field. Moreover, to avoid large transverse momentum transfer, the impact parameter is taken to be large; in flat space, the only availables scales to compare the impact parameter with are the Planck length, i.e. $b \gg \ell_{\rm Pl}$, and the scale associated to the centre of mass energy of the collisions, i.e. $b \gg G_N \sqrt{s}$. Therefore, the two scattering particles maintain most of their momentum in the scattering direction which we call longitudinal, i.e. $p_1^{\parallel} \approx p_2^{\parallel}$. The two particles do however exchange momentum in the remaining two directions; the transverse directions, such that $p_1^{\perp} \neq p_2^{\perp}$. Nevertheless, for all particles, we take $p_i^{\parallel} \gg p_i^{\perp}$. This will later allow us to consider diagrams where there is no exchange in four momentum, all virtual gravitons will be 'soft'.

The Feynman rules of interest include the familiar flat space scalar and graviton propagators that are well known and relatively straight forward to calculate

$$\begin{array}{c} \phi(p) \\ \hline \\ h_{\mu\nu} \end{array} = \frac{-i}{p^2 + m^2 - i\epsilon} \\ h_{\mu\nu} \end{array} = \frac{-2i\kappa^2}{k^2 - i\epsilon} (\eta^{\mu\rho}\eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma}\eta^{\nu\rho} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}) \\ \end{array}$$

and the interactions are governed by a three point vertex that arises from the coupling of the stress tensor to the metric fluctuations. It is of the form:



The scalar propagator is the familiar Klein-Gordon propagator and the graviton propagator is written in the harmonic gauge with $\kappa^2 = 8\pi G_N$. The vertex in principle contains another term

$$p_{\mu}p_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu} \left(p^2 + m^2\right) , \qquad (2.3)$$

but the second recoil term of the matter field can be neglected for eikonal scattering. Similarly, for large external momentum p, internal scalar propagators can be approximated as:

$$\frac{1}{\left(p+k\right)^2 + m^2 - i\epsilon} \approx \frac{1}{2p \cdot k - i\epsilon}.$$
(2.4)

The tree level contribution to the four point function $\langle \phi(p_1) \phi(p_2) \phi(p_3) \phi(p_4) \rangle$ arises from the Feynman diagram shown in Fig. 2.





This tree level diagram Fig. 2 is easily shown to evaluate to

$$i\mathcal{M} = \frac{2i\kappa^2 j(s)}{-t}$$
 with $j(s) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(s - 2m^2 \right)^2 - 2m^4 \right)$. (2.5)

In the eikonal limit, the Feynman diagrams that dominate are the so-called ladder diagrams displayed in Figure 3. All other loop diagrams (self-energy, vertex corrections) are insignificant in the eikonal regime, that is to say that their contributions are sub-leading in s/m^2 .



Figure 3. The one-loop ladder diagrams contributing to the eikonal scattering amplitude. The two graviton lines crossing each other in the diagram on the right do not interact, as graviton self-interactions are sub-leading in the eikonal limit. The ladder diagrams give all leading contributions in s/m^2 .

At loop level, it is important to average over the various ways to attach the internal graviton legs, and the corresponding conserved momentum. For the one-loop case, as can be seen in Fig. 3, there are two possibilities arising from fixing internal graviton momentum k on either external leg in a direction of choice. The total amplitude at one-loop results from summing over both of these choices, and inserting a factor of a half. It is then straightforward to proceed with the calculation for the amplitude, as outlined in [7]. The final expression at one-loop becomes

$$i\mathcal{M} = \kappa^{2} j(s) \int d^{4}x \ e^{-i(p_{1}-p_{3})\cdot x} \Delta(x) \chi(x) , \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\chi \coloneqq -2\kappa^{2} j(s) \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \ e^{ik\cdot x} \frac{1}{k^{2}-i\epsilon} \times \left[\frac{1}{-2p_{1}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{2}\cdot k-i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{-2p_{1}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{-2p_{4}\cdot k-i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2p_{3}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{2}\cdot k-i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2p_{3}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{3}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{3}\cdot k-i\epsilon} \right] . \qquad (2.7)$$

Here, we have defined a momentum space massless Klein-Gordon propagator

$$\frac{-1}{k^2 - i\epsilon} = \int d^4x \ e^{-ik \cdot x} \Delta(x) \ . \tag{2.8}$$

Furthermore, in arriving at the above expression for the amplitude, we approximated $(p_i + k)_{\mu} \approx p_{i\mu}$ in the vertex since p_1 is very large. While k is integrated over, the eikonal approximation is such that the leading order contributions to the integrand are for $k \ll p_i$ allowing

us to safely take only p_i . This approximation notwithstanding, the expression for χ does not contain any UV-divergences in the eikonal approximation. The additional k from the vertex would then be countered by a k^2 in the matter propagator. Remarkably, the UV-divergences are all embedded in different diagrams, whose effects are subdominant in eikonal scattering. This is crucial as the theory is not renormalisable. While it may seem counter-intuitive at first glance, the divergent diagrams when dimensionally regularized are indeed lower order in the eikonal approximation. Gravity does not allow us to do any better at this stage.

The next step is to sum over all higher loop diagrams. Since any diagram at order n would contain n extra graviton legs (in comparison to the tree level diagram), there is an n! that arises from symmetry. This also holds for diagrams where the graviton legs cross each other. Therefore, we find a 1/n! factor for each order in perturbation theory. So, non-perturbatively an exponential series ensues; this is a typical feature of eikonal scattering. The total scattering amplitude is thus written as

$$i\mathcal{M} = -2i\kappa^2 j(s) \int d^4x \ e^{-i(p_1 - p_3) \cdot x} \Delta(x) \frac{e^{i\chi} - 1}{\chi}.$$
 (2.9)

A calculation of the non-perturbative amplitude from such an exponentiation of the one-loop result is possible owing to the fact that vertex corrections and self energy diagrams are subdominant, as argued in [67]. What remains now is the evaluation of χ by solving the integral. To this end, we now approximate $p_1 \approx p_3, p_2 \approx p_4$. This may interpreted as a soft limit as it restricts the virtual graviton momenta. Inserting $p_1 = p_3, p_2 = p_4$ into (2.7) results in:

$$\chi = -2\kappa^2 j(s) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{ik \cdot x} \frac{1}{k^2 - i\epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{2p_1 \cdot k + i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2p_1 \cdot k - i\epsilon} \right] \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{2p_2 \cdot k + i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2p_2 \cdot k - i\epsilon} \right].$$
(2.10)

Since ϵ is an infinitesimal regulator, we can now use the following delta identity:

$$\frac{1}{x+i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{x-i\epsilon} = -2\pi i\delta(x). \qquad (2.11)$$

Using this, two of the integrals can be removed from (2.10), allowing us to rewrite it as

$$\chi = -2\kappa^2 j(s) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{ik \cdot x} \frac{1}{k^2 - i\epsilon} (-2\pi i)^2 \,\delta(2p_1 \cdot k) \,\delta(2p_2 \cdot k) \tag{2.12}$$

$$= \frac{\kappa^2 j(s)}{4Ep} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 k_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik_{\perp} \cdot x_{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_{\perp}^2 + \tilde{\mu}^2 - i\epsilon}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where we switched to the center of mass frame defined by $p_1 = (E, 0, 0, p)$ and $p_2 = (E, 0, 0, -p)$. The new parameter $\tilde{\mu}$ is an infrared regulator corresponding to the graviton mass and x_{\perp} are the two remaining coordinates in the transverse directions. The solution to the integral in (2.13) can be shown to be

$$\chi = \frac{G_N j(s)}{Ep} K_0 \left(\tilde{\mu} x_\perp \right) \approx -\frac{G_N j(s)}{Ep} \log \left(\tilde{\mu} x_\perp \right) , \qquad (2.14)$$

where the last approximation holds for $\tilde{\mu}x_{\perp} \ll 1$ since $\tilde{\mu}$ is a regulator. In this expression, a numerical constant has been absorbed into $\tilde{\mu}$. In contrast to this result, we will see in this paper that the black hole provides for a natural infrared regulator that is not put in by hand.

We now return to solving (2.9); now that χ is known, only the integral remains. First we pay attention to $\Delta(x)$. In the eikonal approximation, $p_1 - p_3$ only contains transverse components, i.e. only the transverse components of $q \equiv p_1 - p_3$ are dominant. This allows us to write $e^{-iq \cdot x} \approx e^{-iq_{\perp} \cdot x_{\perp}}$. We can then isolate

$$\int dt dz \ \Delta(x) = \int \frac{d^2 q_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{iq_{\perp} \cdot x_{\perp}} \frac{-1}{q_{\perp}^2 - i\epsilon} = \frac{-Ep}{2\pi G_N j(s)} \chi \,. \tag{2.15}$$

Since χ only depends on x_{\perp} , we can insert this expression into (2.9). The integral to be solved simply becomes

$$i\mathcal{M} = 8Ep \int d^2 x_{\perp} \ e^{-iq_{\perp} \cdot x_{\perp}} \left(e^{i\chi} - 1 \right).$$
(2.16)

Solving this integral yields the final result for the scalar four point function in the eikonal regime

$$i\mathcal{M} = \frac{2i\kappa^2 j(s)}{-t} \frac{\Gamma\left(1 - i\alpha(s)\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + i\alpha(s)\right)} \left(\frac{4\tilde{\mu}^2}{-t}\right)^{-i\alpha(s)}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where we defined

$$\alpha(s) = G_N \frac{\left(s - 2m^2\right)^2 - 2m^4}{\sqrt{s\left(s - 4m^2\right)}} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

This amplitude is non-perturbative in the coupling constant κ , but is valid only to leading order in s/m^2 . Therefore, the approximation gets better with ultra-high energy scattering. For large s, we notice that $\alpha(s)$ is real and the complete amplitude reduces to the tree-level amplitude in (2.5) up to a phase. In the limit $m \to 0$ and for $\tilde{\mu} = 1$ the scattering amplitude matches the semi-classical scattering matrix derived by 't Hooft in [6] based on a first quantised description of shockwaves on an Aichelburg-Sexl metric [56]. This corroborates the naive notion that while certain aspects of ultra-high energy scattering can be well understand, quantum gravity is generically very difficult and poorly understood because regimes of large momentum transfer (which are ignored in the eikonal approximation) are plagued with problems like UV divergences, potential non-locality at the Planck scale, etc. In what we have calculated so far, it is not clear how one may even proceed to account for these in principle.

Nevertheless, this notion is indeed naive in that quantum gravity is not only sensitive to large momentum transfers and Planckian physics, but also to strong gravitational backgrounds. Indeed, remarkable puzzles arise in strong gravitational backgrounds that are classical solutions to General Relativity. The most celebrated of them is of course the paradox of black hole information loss. In this paper, we will address the problem of quantum gravity in a tractable limit (that in which the virtual gravitons do not transfer momenta) in the presence of strong gravitational backgrounds where new large scales emerge dynamically. An example is the Schwarzschild solution where a new physical scale of the Schwarzschild radius emerges well before a collapsing shell has fallen past that radius. The graviton propagator is difficult to determine in generic backgrounds, and as we will see, it will take us some effort to derive the necessary Feynman rules before we are able to carry out a calculation, of the kind reviewed in this section, on the horizon of a Schwarzschild black hole.

3 Quantum gravity in the soft limit

We begin by setting the scene for a putative quantum gravity path integral

$$\mathcal{Z} = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(S\left[\bar{g}_{\mu\nu},\phi\right]\right) \,, \tag{3.1}$$

where we take the matter action to be that of a minimally coupled scalar field for simplicity:

$$S\left[\bar{g}_{\mu\nu,\phi}\right] = S_{EH}\left[\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\right] + S_M\left[\bar{g}_{\mu\nu},\phi\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}} \,\bar{R} - \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}} \,\bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\phi \bar{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi \,, \qquad (3.2)$$

with $\kappa^2 = 8\pi G_N$. The covariant derivatives with the bar are associated to $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ and in what follows, those without will be associated to $g_{\mu\nu}$. We will work in the background field method with a vanishing matter background,

$$\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + \kappa h_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.3)$$

and assume that $g_{\mu\nu}$ solves the vacuum Einstein's equations. This implies that (3.1) becomes

$$\mathcal{Z} = \int \mathcal{D}h_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(S_{EH}\left[h_{\mu\nu}\right] + S_M\left[h_{\mu\nu},\phi\right]\right) \,. \tag{3.4}$$

In principle, both terms in the exponent come with infinitely many powers of $h_{\mu\nu}$ owing to the fluctuations of the inverse metric. The matter action begins with:

$$S_{M}[h_{\mu\nu},\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{4}\sqrt{-g}\phi \Box \phi - \kappa \int d^{4}x \frac{\delta S_{M}[\bar{g}_{\rho\sigma},\phi]}{\delta \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}(x)} \Big|_{\bar{g}=g} h^{\mu\nu}(x)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int d^{4}\sqrt{-g}\phi \Box \phi + \frac{1}{2}\kappa \int d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} h^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu}$$
(3.5)

where we defined the stress tensor

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{-2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_M}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}.$$
(3.6)

For most of this paper, we will restrict our attention to the quadratic kinetic terms and the cubic interaction in (3.5). The pure gravity action is (derived in Appendix A.1):

$$S_{EH} \left[h_{\mu\nu} \right] = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left(h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} h \right) \left(2 \nabla^\sigma \nabla_{(\mu} h_{\nu)\sigma} - \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu h \right), \qquad (3.7)$$

where we defined the trace of the graviton $h = g^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$.

Higher order fluctuations give rise to quartic (and higher order) interaction vertices. In the Einstein-Hilbert part of the action, some of these contain terms with derivatives on $h_{\mu\nu}$. In momentum space, these contribute to graviton momenta in the Feynman diagrams. Integration over these momenta results in the familiar non-renormalisable features of gravity [68, 69]. These arise from large momenta in the ultraviolet. As we will show in this paper, extremely interesting physics arises in the soft limit where internal graviton momenta are taken to vanish. Although it is premature at this stage, we will argue in Section 4 and Section 5 that contributions from large virtual momenta are vanishing for the four-point function of interest; the soft limit is essentially enforced upon us when we restrict ourselves to three-point vertices. There are additional higher order interaction terms that do not contain derivatives (for instance, those coming from the expansion of the inverse metric to higher orders), which we hope to address in future work.

Therefore the complete action (upto cubic vertices) for fluctuations about a generic solution of vacuum Einstein's equations of motion is given by the sum of (3.7) and (3.5):

$$S[h_{\mu\nu},\phi] = S_{EH}[h_{\mu\nu}] + S_M[h_{\mu\nu},\phi] .$$
(3.8)

A recent discussion emphasising the role and importance of interactions in the context of black holes can be found in [40, 70].

3.1 Spherically symmetric backgrounds

In what follows, we will focus on backgrounds with spherical symmetry. Of course, Birkhoff's theorem limits the class of such allowed vacuum solutions. Nevertheless, large parts of our calculation is aimed at generic spherical backgrounds supported by matter; we will only specify the Schwarzschild metric in Section 4. The general metric we will concern ourselves with is of the form:

$$ds^{2} = -2A(x,y)dxdy + r(x,y)^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
(3.9)

With $A = e^{1-r/R}R/r$ and r implicitly defined by $xy = 2R^2(1-r/R)e^{r/R-1}$, this reduces to the Schwarzschild solution in Kruskal-Szekeres coordinates. Perturbations around the Schwarzschild metric have long been studied [71, 72, 73, 74, 75] with a predominant focus often laid on a study of gravitational waves, cosmic censorship, and quasi normal modes.

Gauge symmetry Not all components of the fluctuations $h_{\mu\nu}$ are physical; there are gauge redundancies due to infinitesimal diffeomorphisms $x \to x + \xi(x)$, under which the graviton transforms as

$$h_{\mu\nu}(x) \rightarrow h_{\mu\nu}(x) + \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu}.$$
 (3.10)

A choice of the vector ξ_{μ} fixes a choice of gauge. This choice is of course, not to be confused with the choice of a system of coordinates for the background. Infinitesimal diffeomorphisms acting on the graviton fluctuations are different from finite coordinate transformations of the background; as we will see, ξ_{μ} will be linear in the fluctuations and therefore shall not interfere with the choice of coordinates for the background. An alternative way to think about this is to note that a covariant action can be written for the fluctuations as in (3.8). A choice of background coordinates would not break that covariance, while a choice of ξ_{μ} would make unphysical components of the graviton $h_{\mu\nu}$ redundant.

The oft employed gauge in the literature is the harmonic (or covariant or De Donder) gauge defined by

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} h \right) = 0. \qquad (3.11)$$

In this gauge, the first order variation of the Ricci tensor is of the form

$$R_{\mu\nu}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(g_{\mu\rho} g_{\nu\sigma} \Box - 2R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma} \right) h^{\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

The operator $g_{\mu\rho}g_{\nu\sigma}\Box + 2R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}$ is the familiar Lichnerowicz operator. It has been studied on the Schwarzschild background in [76, 77]. An important difficulty with the choice of the harmonic gauge is that the Lichnerowicz operator couples various spherical harmonics of the graviton. Instead, we will use an alternative gauge; the *Regge-Wheeler* gauge first proposed in [71]. This choice exploits the spherical symmetry of the background and allows us to reduce the action (3.8) to an infinite tower of decoupled⁶ effective two-dimensional actions; one for each partial wave. Conveniently enough, the reduced effective action can be written covariantly in two dimensions.

3.2 Decomposition in spherical harmonics

The decomposition of the graviton into spherical tensor harmonics needs care. Owing to its tensorial nature, the corresponding spherical harmonic decomposition differs from the usual spherical harmonic decomposition of scalars. The angular components h_{aA} and h_{AB} have a nontrivial spherical harmonic expansion which must be taken into account. The lowercase indices run over the lightcone coordinates while the uppercase indices span the sphere. As was pointed out in [71], this can be achieved by splitting the graviton tensor harmonics into odd and even parity modes:

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{\ell,m} h^{-}_{\ell m,\mu\nu} + \sum_{\ell,m} h^{+}_{\ell m,\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.13)$$

⁶In principle interaction terms do couple the partial waves, but the coupling between the partial waves can be ignored when transverse momenta are ignored.

where

$$h_{\ell m,\mu\nu}^{-} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -h_x^{-} \csc\theta\partial_{\phi} & h_x^{-} \sin\theta\partial_{\theta} \\ 0 & 0 & -h_y^{-} \csc\theta\partial_{\phi} & h_y^{-} \sin\theta\partial_{\theta} \\ h_{\Omega} \csc\theta & (\partial_{\theta}\partial_{\phi} - \cot\theta\partial_{\phi}) & \frac{1}{2}h_{\Omega} & \left(\csc\theta\partial_{\phi}^2 + \cos\theta\partial_{\theta} - \sin\theta\partial_{\theta}^2\right) \\ & -h_{\Omega} \sin\theta & (\partial_{\theta}\partial_{\phi} - \cot\theta\partial_{\phi}) \end{pmatrix} Y_{\ell}^m \quad (3.14)$$

is the odd parity mode and

$$h_{\ell m,\mu\nu}^{+} = \begin{pmatrix} H_{xx} \ H_{xy} \ h_{x}^{+}\partial_{\theta} & h_{x}^{+}\partial_{\phi} \\ H_{yy} \ h_{y}^{+}\partial_{\theta} & h_{y}^{+}\partial_{\phi} \\ r^{2}(K + G\partial_{\theta}^{2}) & r^{2}G(\partial_{\theta}\partial_{\phi} - \cot\theta\partial_{\phi}) \\ r^{2}(K\sin^{2}\theta + G(\partial_{\phi}^{2} + \sin\theta\cos\theta\partial_{\theta})) \end{pmatrix} Y_{\ell}^{m}$$
(3.15)

is the even parity mode, with Y_{ℓ}^m being the familiar spherical harmonics of the two-sphere. In these expressions, the missing entries are determined by the symmetry of the matrices. In [71], this decomposition was made for the Schwarzschild black hole, written in Schwarzschild coordinates. While we shall still work with a generic spherically symmetric background at this stage, for comparison to [71], the entries of the graviton modes above are given in terms of those of [71] as:

$$h_x^{\pm}(x,y) = -\frac{R}{x} \left(h_0^{\pm} + \left(1 - \frac{R}{r} \right) h_1^{\pm} \right) , \qquad (3.16)$$

$$h_y^{\pm}(x,y) = -\frac{R}{y} \left(h_0^{\pm} - \left(1 - \frac{R}{r}\right) h_1^{\pm} \right) , \qquad (3.17)$$

$$h_{\Omega}(x,y) = h_2,$$
 (3.18)

$$H_{xx}(x,y) = -\frac{y}{2x} (H_0 + H_2 + 2H_1), \qquad (3.19)$$

$$H_{xy}(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} (H_0 - H_2), \qquad (3.20)$$

$$H_{yy}(x,y) = -\frac{x}{2y} (H_0 + H_2 - 2H_1).$$
(3.21)

To arrive at these transformations, we made extensive use of the identity $\left(1 - \frac{R}{r}\right) = \frac{xyA}{2R^2}$. It is evident that the time translation invariance of the Schwarzschild solution manifests itself as $x \to ax, y \to \frac{1}{a}y$, and we observe that h_x^{\pm}, h_y^{\pm} and H_{xx}, H_{yy} are not time translation invariant.

Further on in this paper, for the sake of convenience, we will work in light-cone coordinates of the Kruskal-Szekeres kind. Nevertheless, as argued in [78], the covariance of the effective two-dimensional theory we shall present and the conformally flatness of the horizon indicate that the resulting amplitude is gauge invariant.

The decomposition above is general and therefore, the graviton still contains redundant gauge degrees of freedom. The r^2 appearing in the graviton modes depends on the light-cone coordinates x, y as was noted earlier. All functions $h_x^{\pm}, h_y^{\pm}, h_{\Omega}, H_{xx}, H_{xy}, H_{yy}, K, G$ are functions of only x, y with no further constraints. All of them naturally carry ℓ, m indices; we have dropped them to avoid clutter of notation. These account for the ten degrees of freedom of the graviton.

The Regge-Wheeler gauge

We now perform a gauge fixing similar to Regge and Wheeler in [71] of the form

$$\xi_a = \zeta_a Y_\ell^m, \tag{3.22}$$

$$\xi_A = -\frac{1}{2}r^2 G \partial_A Y_\ell^m - \frac{1}{2}h_\Omega \epsilon_A^{\ B} \partial_B Y_\ell^m.$$
(3.23)

Here the antisymmetric tensor is defined in Appendix B.1 and

$$\zeta_a = \left(\frac{1}{2}r^2\partial_a G - h_a^+\right). \tag{3.24}$$

As was noted earlier, infinitesimal gauge transformations do not interfere with the choice of background Kruskal-Szekeres system of coordinates because ξ_a, ξ_A are of order h. The above choice of gauge, along with the redefinitions of h_a^- , K, and H_{ab} as

$$h_a^- \rightarrow h_a - \frac{1}{2}r^2\partial_a\left(\frac{1}{r^2}h_\Omega\right),$$
 (3.25)

$$K \rightarrow K - 2g^{ab}\zeta_a\partial_b\log r$$
, (3.26)

$$H_{ab} \rightarrow H_{ab} - \nabla_a \zeta_b - \nabla_b \zeta_a , \qquad (3.27)$$

kills G, h_a^+ , and h_Ω . We have dropped the minus superscript on h_x^- and h_y^- since h_x^+ and g_y^+ are now zero. It can be checked that the gauge transformation above, together with the field redefinitions results in the same general form for the odd and even graviton components, with G, h_a^+ , h_Ω set to be vanishing. The gauge fixing procedure, therefore, makes four of the components redundant leaving six physical off-shell modes behind. After gauge fixing the graviton components are given as

$$h_{\ell m,\mu\nu}^{-} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -h_x \csc \theta \partial_{\phi} & h_x \sin \theta \partial_{\theta} \\ 0 & 0 & -h_y \csc \theta \partial_{\phi} & h_y \sin \theta \partial_{\theta} \\ -h_x \csc \theta \partial_{\phi} & -h_y \csc \theta \partial_{\phi} & 0 & 0 \\ h_x \sin \theta \partial_{\theta} & h_y \sin \theta \partial_{\theta} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} Y_{\ell}^m, \quad (3.28)$$

and

$$h_{\ell m,\mu\nu}^{+} = \begin{pmatrix} H_{xx} \ H_{xy} \ 0 & 0 \\ H_{xy} \ H_{yy} \ 0 & 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ r^{2}K \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ r^{2}K \sin^{2}\theta. \end{pmatrix} Y_{\ell}^{m}.$$
(3.29)

The minus sign in the odd mode $h^-_{\mu\nu}$ naturally arises when written in index notation

$$h_{aA}^{-} = -h_a \epsilon_A^{\ B} \partial_B Y_\ell^m \,. \tag{3.30}$$

Owing to this antisymmetric nature of the odd parity mode, the even and odd modes naturally decouple as we shall see. Furthermore, for any diffeomorphism that acts on the light-cone and angular coordinates separately, we may simply transform $h_a \to h_{a'}$ and $\epsilon_A^{\ B} \partial_B Y_\ell^m \to$

 $\epsilon_{A'}^{B'}\partial_{B'}Y_{\ell}^{m}$ accordingly. In the new coordinates then, $h_{\mu\nu}^{-}$ is still given by (3.30), so that the spherical harmonics decomposition is coordinate independent for all such diffeomorphisms. Similarly, for the even modes, we may write

$$h_{ab}^{+} = H_{ab}Y_{\ell}^{m}$$
 and $h_{AB}^{+} = Kg_{AB}Y_{\ell}^{m}$, (3.31)

so that coordinate invariance for the decomposition is manifest when H_{ab} is transformed accordingly; g_{AB} naturally transforms appropriately. Because the decomposition persists so long as we also transform the fields appropriately, we now define H_{ab} to be a 2-tensor on the light-cone, h_a to be a vector on the light-cone, and K to be a scalar on the light-cone. Therefore, these fields transform under coordinate transformations on the light-cone but not under diffeomorphisms of the angular coordinates. In a similar fashion all quantities with indices along A, B transform under angular diffeomorphisms but not under those on the light-cone. The spherical harmonics decomposition persists under any transformation that keeps the light-cone and two-sphere separate in this sense. Any coordinate transformations that break the decomposition will therefore be forbidden henceforth.

Finally, it is worth noting that the even parity graviton carries four of the six off-shell degrees of freedom in the form of a two-tensor H_{ab} and the scalar K, while the other two are with the odd-parity mode in the form of the two-vector h_a . These degrees of freedom are now defined covariantly and for arbitrary A(r) in the metric.

3.3 Decoupling of the odd and even parity graviton modes

In this section we will investigate the coupling between the odd and even parity modes defined by the graviton decomposition

$$h_{aA}^{-} = -h_{a}\epsilon_{A}^{B}\partial_{B}Y_{\ell}^{m},$$

$$h_{ab}^{+} = H_{ab}Y_{\ell}^{m},$$

$$h_{AB}^{+} = Kg_{AB}Y_{\ell}^{m},$$

(3.32)

with the remaining terms vanishing. We expect this coupling to fall away due to spherical symmetry and will now prove this. First we see from. (3.8) that the part of the Lagrangian that couples the different parity modes is of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{parity-coupling} = -\frac{1}{4}h_{+}^{\mu\nu}G_{\mu\nu}^{(1),-} - \frac{1}{4}h_{-}^{\mu\nu}G_{\mu\nu}^{(1),+}$$
(3.33)

where

$$G^{(1),\pm}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\rho\sigma} \left(\nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\mu} h^{\pm}_{\nu\sigma} + \nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\nu} h^{\pm}_{\mu\sigma} - \nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\sigma} h^{\pm}_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} h^{\pm}_{\rho\sigma} \right) - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \left(\nabla^{\rho} \nabla^{\sigma} h^{\pm}_{\rho\sigma} - \Box h^{\pm} \right).$$
(3.34)

Evidently, the \pm symbols denote the variation of the Einstein tensor corresponding to h^{\pm} respectively. Exploiting the decomposition structure of (3.32), we find

$$G_{ab}^{(1),-} = 0, (3.35)$$

$$G_{AB}^{(1),-}g^{AB} = 0, (3.36)$$

$$G_{aA}^{(1),+} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\partial^b H_{ab} + \frac{1}{A}\partial_a H_{xy} - \frac{1}{2A}\left(\partial_a \log(Ar^2)\right)H_{xy} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_a K\right)\partial_A Y_\ell^m$$
(3.37)

with all other components being unnecessary owing to either the vanishing of h_{ab}^- , h_{AB}^- and h_{aA}^+ , or the fact that $h_{AB}^+ = Kg_{AB}$. The second equation $G_{AB}^{(1),-}g^{AB} = 0$ results from the fact that g^{AB} is even in A, B, while $G_{AB}^{(1),-}$ contains an ϵ_{AB} which is odd in A, B. We now immediately see that the first term in the coupling Lagrangian (3.33) vanishes. Therefore, we are left with

$$\mathcal{L}_{parity-coupling} = -\frac{1}{2}h_{-}^{aA}G_{aA}^{(1),+}.$$
(3.38)

Thus, to evaluate the coupling of the even and odd parity modes, we only need to evaluate $h_{aA}^{-}G_{(1),+}^{aA}$. At this point, the presence of ℓ, m indices that were omitted require attention and explicit re-insertion

$$h_{aA}^{-} = -\sum_{\ell,m} h_{a}^{\ell m} \epsilon_{A}^{\ B} \partial_{B} Y_{\ell}^{m} , \qquad (3.39)$$

$$G_{aA}^{(1),+} = \sum_{\ell,m} F_a^{\ell m} \partial_A Y_\ell^m \,. \tag{3.40}$$

Here we defined the new quantity

$$F_{a}^{\ell m} := \frac{1}{2} \partial^{b} H_{ab}^{\ell m} + \frac{1}{A} \partial_{a} H_{xy}^{\ell m} - \frac{1}{2A} \left(\partial_{a} \log(Ar^{2}) \right) H_{xy}^{\ell m} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{a} K^{\ell m}.$$
(3.41)

This quantity can be directly read off from (3.37). Inserting the summations in (3.39) and (3.40), the coupling Lagrangian may be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{L}_{parity-coupling} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \sum_{\ell',m'} h_a^{\ell m} F_{\ell'm'}^a \epsilon^{AB} \partial_B Y_\ell^m \partial_A \bar{Y}_{\ell'}^{m'}.$$
(3.42)

We inserted complex conjugation denoted by \overline{Y} because the Lagrangian is required to be real and we take the imaginary representation of the spherical harmonics. The corresponding action is found by integrating 3.42 to give

$$S_{parity-coupling} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \sum_{\ell',m'} \int d^2 x A(r) h_a^{\ell m} F_{\ell'm'}^a \underbrace{\int d\phi d\theta \sqrt{g_{S_2}} \epsilon^{AB} \partial_B Y_\ell^m \partial_A \bar{Y}_{\ell'}^{m'}}_{=: C_{\ell m;\ell'm'}} . \quad (3.43)$$

Here $\sqrt{g_{S_2}}$ is the volume element on S_2 of radius r, i.e. $\sqrt{g_{S_2}} = r^2 \sin \theta$. The first integral is generally non-vanishing, and is the only light-cone dependent piece (the $\sqrt{g_{S_2}}$ cancels as

we shall see). The second integral is only dependent on θ, ϕ and contains only spherical harmonics; functions that we know exactly. This angular integrand contains contractions over A, B and is integrated over the sphere. So, the quantity $C_{\ell m;\ell'm'}$ is independent of the chosen two-sphere coordinates.

The action in (3.43) explicitly splits the light-cone part depending on x^a , and the spherical part depending on x^A in a manner that is covariant under light-cone and angular diffeomorphisms separately, without mixing. We will now explicitly calculate this coordinate independent quantity $C_{\ell m;\ell'm'}$; clearly, it can be determined exactly without the knowledge of the graviton fields. The spherical harmonics are defined by

$$Y_{\ell}^{m} = \mathcal{N}_{\ell m} e^{im\phi} P_{\ell}^{m}(\cos\theta) \tag{3.44}$$

where $\mathcal{N}_{\ell m}$ is a normalization constant and $P_{\ell}^{m}(x)$ the associated Legendre polynomial which are real. The antisymmetric tensor ϵ^{AB} as given in (B.33) has a prefactor $1/(r^2 \sin \theta)$, so that it cancels the $\sqrt{g_{S_2}}$ in (3.43). Inserting this into the definition of $C_{\ell m;\ell'm'}$ gives

$$C_{\ell m;\ell'm'} = -i\mathcal{N}_{\ell m}\mathcal{N}_{\ell'm'}\int_{0}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi e^{i(m-m')\phi} \left[m'P_{\ell'}^{m'}(\cos\theta)\partial_{\theta}P_{\ell}^{m}(\cos\theta) + mP_{\ell}^{m}(\cos\theta)\partial_{\theta}P_{\ell''}^{m'}(\cos\theta)\right].$$
(3.45)

Here, the ϵ^{AB} introduces a minus sign, which is then cancelled by the different signs in $\partial_{\phi} e^{im\phi}$ and $\partial_{\phi} e^{-im'\phi}$. Now using the orthogonality of the complex exponents

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi e^{i(m-m')\phi} = 2\pi\delta_{mm'}$$

we may immediately write down

$$C_{\ell m;\ell'm'} = -2\pi i m \mathcal{N}_{\ell m} \mathcal{N}_{\ell' m} \delta_{mm'} \int_{0}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\theta \Big[P_{\ell'}^{m}(\cos\theta) \partial_{\theta} P_{\ell}^{m}(\cos\theta) + P_{\ell}^{m}(\cos\theta) \partial_{\theta} P_{\ell'}^{m}(\cos\theta) \Big], \qquad (3.46)$$

where we used that $F_m \delta_{mm'} = F_{m'} \delta_{mm'}$ for arbitrary F_m . Finally this can be recognized as the product rule on derivatives of the Associated Legendre polynomials. Thus the integral becomes a total derivative, which is trivially integrated, yielding

$$C_{\ell m;\ell'm'} = -2\pi i m \mathcal{N}_{\ell m} \mathcal{N}_{\ell' m} \delta_{mm'} \left(P_{\ell}^m(1) P_{\ell'}^m(1) - P_{\ell}^m(-1) P_{\ell'}^m(-1) \right).$$
(3.47)

This gives the result for $C_{\ell m;\ell'm'}$ for all ℓ, m, ℓ', m' . Clearly it trivially vanishes for m = 0, so we only need to know the values $P_{\ell}^m(\pm 1)$ for m > 0. The definition [79]

$$P_{\ell}^{m}(x) = \frac{(-1)^{m}}{2^{\ell} \ell!} \left(1 - x^{2}\right)^{m/2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}\right)^{\ell+m} \left(x^{2} - 1\right)^{\ell}.$$
(3.48)

shows that for m > 0 this quantity vanishes at $x = \pm 1$. Therefore, we finally find that

$$C_{\ell m;\ell'm'} = 0 (3.49)$$

in all cases. This completes the proof of the decoupling of the odd and even graviton modes. The antisymmetry arising from ϵ^{AB} is crucial. The minus sign introduced by the antisymmetry of the odd parity mode is canceled by the minus sign of the complex conjugate⁷, allowing for the use of the product rule.

In this decoupling we find that the choice of light-cone coordinates plays no role, i.e. r, t or x, y yield the same result. The same holds for the choice of angular coordinates A, B. Both the light-cone coordinates and the angular coordinates are summed over separately. This proof also holds for any metric where A(x, y), r(x, y) only depend on the light-cone coordinates, i.e. for any spherically symmetric metric of the form (3.9). In particular, of course, it is valid for the Schwarzschild metric.

3.4 The odd parity graviton does not contribute

We have seen that the even and odd parity gravitons decouple in the quadratic action. In what follows, we will see from studying the structure of the three-point vertex that the odd parity graviton does not contribute to the four-point function of interest.

3.4.1 The interaction vertex

The interaction vertex can be inferred from (3.5)

$$S_{vertex} = \frac{\kappa}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} h^{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} \partial_\rho \phi \partial_\sigma \phi \right).$$
(3.50)

As discussed in the introduction, the external momenta of interest for the scalars are in-going to or out-going from the black hole horizon. We are also interested in scattering very close to the horizon. Naively, one may expect the out-going mode to carry transverse momentum after scattering in addition to the longitudinal shifts (caused by gravitational backreaction [56, 41], for instance). However, as one may have inferred from the brick-wall model [80] or the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy formula, there is roughly one degree of freedom per Planck area on the horizon. This has been more recently emphasised in the work of Dvali *et.al.* [81, 18] by studying graviton scattering amplitudes. Therefore, loosely speaking, it is an unlikely event that particles scatter at impact parameters comparable to Planck length. This observation validates the approximation of impact parameters larger than Planck length. It is well known that transverse momentum transfer is a Planckian effect⁸ [41]. Therefore,

⁷However, complex conjugation is not crucial. Had we inserted two Y_{ℓ}^{m} 's without complex conjugation instead, there would be no minus sign in the derivative. Nevertheless, a new minus sign would be introduced in the orthogonality relations. This allows the use of the product rule in the end.

⁸Of course, when collision energies are extremely low for very massive bodies at large impact parameters, classical non-linear effects do not distinguish between longitudinal and transverse effects.

transverse momentum transfer may safely be considered small: $p_A = 0$. Piecing this together with the Regge-Wheeler gauge, we find

$$S_{vertex} = \frac{\kappa}{2} \int d\Omega \int d^2 x A(r) r^2 \left[h^{ab} \left(\partial_a \phi \partial_b \phi - \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} g^{cd} \partial_c \phi \partial_d \phi \right) + h^{AB} T_{AB} \right], \quad (3.51)$$

for the interaction vertex, where A(r) and r are implicitly functions of the two-dimensional coordinates x, y as before: A(r) = A(x, y) and r = r(x, y). We see that the odd parity graviton mode h_{aA} drops out of the vertex. Therefore, all scattering processes are entirely governed by the even parity graviton.

3.5 Action for the even parity graviton

Owing to the complete decoupling of the odd and even parity modes of the graviton, and the subsequent dropping out of the odd mode from all interactions, the Lagrangian arising from the Einstein-Hilbert action reduces to

$$\mathcal{L}_{even} = -\frac{1}{4} h^+_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu}_{(1),+}, \qquad (3.52)$$

where $G_{(1),+}^{\mu\nu}$ is defined in (3.34). This Lagrangian can be brought into a more convenient form, exploiting the spherical symmetry of the background. To do so, we first note that the covariant tensor $h_{AB} = Kg_{AB}$ and therefore depends on the angular variables. Therefore, we will now first use a raised index on the graviton to extract this angular dependence out as $h_a{}^b = H_a{}^b$ and $h_A{}^B = K\delta^B_A$. We will maintain covariance so that the indices can later be lowered or raised. This intermediate step allows us to write down a spherical harmonic expansion for the graviton as:

$$h_{\nu}{}^{\mu} = \sum_{\ell,m} (h_{lm})_{\nu}{}^{\mu}Y_{\ell}^{m}, \qquad (3.53)$$

where h_{lm} are now only dependent on the two-dimensional coordinates x, y. Therefore, we also have

$$h_a^{\ b} = H_a^{\ b} Y_\ell^m \tag{3.54}$$

$$h_A{}^B = K \delta^B_A Y^m_\ell \,. \tag{3.55}$$

The spherical harmonic expansion enables us to write the action (3.52) as

$$\mathcal{L}_{even} = -\frac{1}{8} h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} h_{\sigma}{}^{\rho}, \qquad (3.56)$$

where we defined

$$G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} \coloneqq \delta^{\sigma}_{\mu} \nabla_{\rho} \nabla^{\nu} + \delta^{\nu}_{\rho} \nabla^{\sigma} \nabla_{\mu} - \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} \nabla^{\sigma} \nabla_{\rho} - \delta^{\sigma}_{\rho} \nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} + 2\bar{\delta}^{\nu\sigma}_{\mu\rho} \Box, \qquad (3.57)$$

$$\bar{\delta}^{\nu\sigma}_{\mu\rho} \coloneqq \delta^{\nu}_{[\mu}\delta^{\rho}_{\sigma]}. \tag{3.58}$$

3.6 Decoupling of the partial waves

Given that we are working on a spherically symmetric background, it is expected that the partial waves are decoupled entirely. To see this, we first evaluate the action of the operator (3.57) on the graviton:

$$G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}h_{\sigma}{}^{\rho} = \sum_{\ell,m} G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}(h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} + \sum_{\ell,m} (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}Y^{m}_{\ell}$$
$$+ \sum_{\ell,m} \left(-4\bar{\delta}^{\nu\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho}(\partial_{\kappa}Y^{m}_{\ell})\nabla^{\kappa} + \mathcal{U}^{\sigma\nu}{}_{\mu\rho} + \mathcal{U}^{\nu\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu} - \mathcal{U}^{\nu\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho} - \mathcal{U}^{\sigma\nu}{}_{\rho\mu} \right) (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}, \quad (3.59)$$

where we defined

$$\mathcal{U}^{\nu\sigma}_{\mu\rho} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} \bigg[\left(\partial^{\sigma} Y^{m}_{\ell} \right) \nabla_{\rho} + \left(\partial_{\rho} Y^{m}_{\ell} \right) \nabla^{\sigma} \bigg].$$
(3.60)

The first line of (3.59) is the action of all the operators in (3.57) on either the modes $h_{\ell m}$ or on the spherical harmonics, whereas the second line arises from all the mixed terms. While these terms appear complicated, noting that the spherical harmonics Y_{ℓ}^{m} only dependent on the angles, several indices in the second line of (3.59) do not contribute. Moreover, using the tensor structure in (3.54) and (3.55), together with the derivatives listed in Appendix B.1, we find

$$\left(-4\bar{\delta}^{\nu\sigma}_{\mu\rho}\left(\partial_{\kappa}Y^{m}_{\ell}\right)\nabla^{\kappa}+\mathcal{U}^{\sigma\nu}_{\mu\rho}+\mathcal{U}^{\nu\sigma}_{\rho\mu}-\mathcal{U}^{\nu\sigma}_{\mu\rho}-\mathcal{U}^{\sigma\nu}_{\rho\mu}\right)\left(h_{\ell m}\right)^{\rho}_{\sigma} \sim \partial_{A}\left(h_{\ell m}\right)^{\rho}_{\sigma} = 0.$$
(3.61)

Therefore, the mixed terms in (3.59) vanish, and we are left with

$$G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}h_{\sigma}{}^{\rho} = \sum_{\ell,m} G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}(h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} + \sum_{\ell,m} (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}Y^{m}_{\ell}.$$
(3.62)

The action of the operator (3.57) on the spherical harmonics is given by

$$G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}Y^{m}_{\ell} = \frac{(\Delta_{\Omega}Y^{m}_{\ell})}{2r^{2}} \left(\delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\delta^{\sigma}_{\rho} + \delta^{\nu}_{a}\delta^{a}_{\mu}\delta^{\sigma}_{b}\delta^{b}_{\rho} - 2\delta^{\nu}_{\rho}\delta^{\mu}_{\sigma} \right) = -Y^{m}_{\ell}\frac{\ell\left(\ell+1\right)}{2r^{2}} \left(\delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\delta^{\sigma}_{\rho} + \delta^{\nu}_{a}\delta^{a}_{\mu}\delta^{\sigma}_{b}\delta^{b}_{\rho} - 2\delta^{\nu}_{\rho}\delta^{\mu}_{\sigma} \right), \qquad (3.63)$$

where in the second line, we have used the property that the spherical harmonics are the eigenfunctions of the spherical Laplacian $\Delta_{\Omega} Y_{\ell}^m = \ell (\ell + 1) Y_{\ell}^m$. That there are no further derivatives on the Y_{ℓ}^m helps the decoupling of the partial waves. Equation (3.59) can now be written as

$$G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}h_{\sigma}{}^{\rho} = \sum_{\ell,m} Y^{m}_{\ell} G_{\ell}{}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}, \qquad (3.64)$$

where we defined the modified operator

$$G^{\nu}_{\ell \ \mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} \coloneqq G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \left(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta^{\sigma}_{\rho} + \delta^{\mu}_{a} \delta^{a}_{\nu} \delta^{\sigma}_{b} \delta^{b}_{\rho} - 2\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} \delta^{\sigma}_{\nu} \right). \tag{3.65}$$

As one many have expected, the angular parts contribute to a $1/r^2$ potential in this operation. The second order action now results in

$$S_{even} = -\frac{1}{8} \sum_{\ell,m} \sum_{\ell',m'} \int d\Omega \ \bar{Y}_{\ell'}^{m'} Y_{\ell}^{m} \int d^2x \sqrt{-g} (h_{\ell'm'})^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{G}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} .$$
(3.66)

We now have an infinite tower of decoupled actions, one for each partial wave. The decoupling is a result of spherical symmetry of the background and may be seen as the conservation of angular momentum.

3.7 An effective two-dimensional theory

Noting that the graviton fields $h_{\ell m}$ are only functions of the light-cone coordinates since the angular pieces have been extracted out, and using. the orthogonality relations for the spherical harmonics

$$\int \mathrm{d}\Omega \, \bar{Y}_{\ell'}^{m'} Y_{\ell}^m = \delta_{\ell\ell'} \delta_{mm'} \,, \qquad (3.67)$$

the action (3.66) reduces to

$$S_{even} = -\frac{1}{8} \sum_{\ell,m} \int d^2 x A(r) r^2 (h_{\ell m})^{\mu}{}_{\nu} G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} .$$
(3.68)

While this may appear to be a two-dimensional theory, the indices on the graviton are still Greek and run over all four spacetime dimensions. Moreover, owing to the implicit presence of the angular indices, a separation of light-cone and spherical fields is no longer obvious. To appreciate this problem of separation of variables, it is instructive to evaluate the quantity $\Box h_b^a$. Despite the presence of only the light-cone coordinates, as show in Appendix B.3, we find a term of the form $(\partial^a r) (\partial_b r) K$. This arises from the two-sphere coordinates in the \Box operator. The second, and perhaps more serious, problem is seen when indices are raised and lowered with the metric. Defining, for instance, $h_{\phi\phi}$ is problematic because while h_{ϕ}^{ϕ} is independent of the angular variables, lowering the index would introduce it because $g_{\phi\phi} = r^2 \sin^2 \theta$. Therefore, separation of variables along the light-cone and the two-sphere, and the spherical harmonic expansion appear to be in conflict with each other. While the two-dimensional propagator and equations of motion appear problematic, these nevertheless naturally pose no problem in the complete four-dimensional action. It is therefore evident that the price we pay for covariance on the light-cone is an inherent mixing between the fields H_{ab} and K.

In what follows, we define differential operators with a tilde to represent those on the light-cone. So, $\tilde{\nabla}$ is the covariant derivative on the light-cone, and $\tilde{\Box} = \tilde{\nabla}^a \tilde{\nabla}_a$ is the 'd Alembertian, and the indices are raised and lowered with the light-cone metric g_{ab} . For consistency, we will also write the light-cone metric with a tilde as \tilde{g}_{ab} . In this formulation, clearly $\tilde{\Box}h^a_{\ b}$ will never give rise to the scalar field K as the lowercase Latin indices never sum over the angular coordinates. This allows us to separate variables and maintain covariance

on the light-cone all the same. Notwithstanding which, the tensor H_{ab} and K will remain coupled.

Symbolically we want to find an action of the following form [82]

$$S_{even} = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left(\tilde{H}^{ab} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{abcd} \tilde{H}^{cd} + \tilde{H}^{ab} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{L,ab} \tilde{K} + \tilde{K} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{R,ab} \tilde{H}^{ab} + \tilde{K} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1} \tilde{K} \right).$$
(3.69)

Here we defined all of the new Δ operators listed below. We have also defined the new lightcone fields $\tilde{H}_{ab} = rH_{ab}, \tilde{K} = rK$. These definitions have been made to absorb the residual r^2 of the two-sphere Jacobian in the action in (3.68) into the fields. This gives rise to the light-cone Jacobian $\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}$, and consequently results in the canonical form of the action (3.69). A detailed derivation of these operators is given in Appendix B.4. The result is:

$$\tilde{\Delta}^{-1} = -\tilde{\Box} + F_a^a, \qquad (3.70)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,ab}^{-1} = -g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} - \frac{1}{2} V_c \tilde{\nabla}^c + \frac{1}{4} V_c V^c - F_c^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) + \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b - F_{ab} , \qquad (3.71)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,ab}^{-1} = -g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} + \frac{1}{2} V_c \tilde{\nabla}^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) + \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b - F_{ab} , \qquad (3.72)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{abcd}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} g_{ac} V_{[b} \tilde{\nabla}_{d]} + \frac{1}{2} g_{bd} V_{[a} \tilde{\nabla}_{c]} + \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} \left(V_{(c} \tilde{\nabla}_{d)} + 2F_{cd} \right) \\
+ \frac{1}{2} g_{cd} \left(-V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)} + \frac{1}{2} V_{a} V_{b} \right) + g_{ab} g_{cd} \left(\frac{1}{4} R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right) \\
- g_{ac} g_{bd} \left(\frac{1}{2} R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right),$$
(3.73)

where we defined the following tensors:

$$V_a = 2\partial_a \log r \,, \tag{3.74}$$

$$F_{ab} = \frac{1}{r} \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b r = \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\nabla}_{(a} V_{b)} + \frac{1}{4} V_a V_b , \qquad (3.75)$$

$$R_{2d} = -\frac{1}{A} \tilde{\Box} \log A \,. \tag{3.76}$$

Here V_a is a residual curvature potential arising from the two-sphere, F_{ab} its corresponding field strength, and R_{2d} is the Ricci scalar of the two-dimensional background metric \tilde{g}_{ab} . We note that all operators are in fact symmetric in the fields; in particular, $\tilde{\Delta}_{R,ab}^{-1}$ equals $\tilde{\Delta}_{L,ab}^{-1}$ up to total derivatives. We now have a covariant description of the graviton modes on the lightcone, where the degrees of freedom \tilde{H}_{ab} and \tilde{K} are explicitly separated, albeit coupled. The two-sphere is now integrated out entirely; it leaves a residual ℓ, m dependence and the curvature potential V_a . The lightcone metric is at this stage still general $\tilde{g}_{ab} = A(r)\eta_{ab}$ parametrised by an arbitrary function.

3.7.1 Weyl rescaling

Before attempting to insert the Schwarzschild metric to find the propagators, we first observe that the effective two-dimensional metric is conformally flat:

$$\tilde{g}_{ab} = A(r) \eta_{ab}, \qquad (3.77)$$

with η_{ab} being the two-dimensional Minkowski metric:

$$\eta_{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.78}$$

This allows us to perform a Weyl transformation to reduce our theory to a two-dimensional flat theory, with modified potentials. This will allow us to trade the subtleties of curved space, and quantum field theory on the said curved space to a flat theory for additional potential terms. An important consequence is that despite being in the region within the gravitational potential, where flat space kinematics is invalid, the Weyl transformation will allow us to define centre of mass energies.

In order to migrate to a flat two-dimensional background we first make a transformation that explicitly removes the function A(r) from the metric. The transformations are given by

$$\tilde{g}_{ab} \rightarrow A(r) \eta_{ab},$$
(3.79)

$$\dot{H}_{ab} \rightarrow A(r) \mathfrak{h}_{ab},$$
(3.80)

$$\vec{K} \to \mathcal{K},$$
(3.81)

where \mathfrak{h}^{ab} is raised and lowered with the new flat Minkowski metric. Conveniently enough, partial derivatives are now covariant derivatives, so covariance of the physical quantities is trivially achieved.

The Weyl transformation brings about a few noteworthy points: \tilde{K} does not transform (and yet we give it a new name \mathcal{R}) and neither does $V_b = 2\partial_b \log r$ (however, $V^b = \tilde{g}^{ab}V_b = \frac{1}{A}\eta^{ab}V_b$ does transform). Moreover, F_{ab} also does not transform.

Inserting the Weyl rescaling, we may rewrite the action quadratic in \mathcal{K} , for instance, as

$$\frac{1}{4}\int \mathrm{d}^2 x A(r)\,\mathcal{K}\left(\left(-\Box+F_a^a\right)\mathcal{K}\right) = \frac{1}{4}\int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathcal{K}\left(-\partial^2+\eta^{ab}F_{ab}\right)\mathcal{K},\qquad(3.82)$$

where we included the A(r) that comes from the $\sqrt{-g}$ and defined $\partial^2 = \eta^{ab} \partial_a \partial_b$. For consistency we redefine

$$F_{ab} = \frac{1}{r} \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b r =: \frac{1}{r} \partial_a \partial_b r - \frac{1}{2} U_{(a} V_{b)} + \frac{1}{4} \eta_{ab} U^c V_c , \qquad (3.83)$$

where all index manipulations are now done with the flat metric, i.e. $U^c V_c = \eta^{ac} U_a V_c$ and $U^a = \eta^{ab} U_b$. This redefinition is in principle necessary, since the previous lightcone covariant derivative does not hold after the Weyl transformation. Here we defined a new potential that will embed the curvature remnants of A(r):

$$U_a = \partial_a \log A(r) . \tag{3.84}$$

Then the action quadratic in $\mathcal R$ becomes

$$\frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathcal{K} \left(-\partial^2 + F_a^a \right) \mathcal{K} \,, \tag{3.85}$$

where $F_a^a = \eta^{ab} F_{ab}$. The Weyl transformation essentially allows us a change in viewpoint but no change in physics; we may either study free fields in a curved spacetime, or Weyl rescaled fields bounded by potentials in flat spacetime. Both descriptions are equivalent for conformally flat spacetimes. The fact that the spacetime is conformally flat is important because all curvature effects are then isotropic, allowing for an embedding into a scalar function A(r). For anisotropic curvatures we naturally need a tensor potential, losing the simplicity of a Weyl transformation.

We now proceed to a Weyl rescaling of all fields and operators, with due regard for which fields transform, and which fields do not. For the following, all Christoffel symbols need to be worked out in order to safely pull the $\frac{1}{A}$ in \tilde{H}^{cd} through. Essentially, we need to calculate:

$$\Delta_{R,ab}^{-1} := A(r) \tilde{\Delta}_{R,ab}^{-1} \frac{1}{A(r)}, \qquad (3.86)$$

$$\Delta_{L,ab}^{-1} \coloneqq \tilde{\Delta}_{L,ab}^{-1}, \qquad (3.87)$$

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \coloneqq \tilde{\Delta}_{abcd}^{-1} \frac{1}{A(r)}.$$
(3.88)

The action is now given by

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \left(\mathfrak{h}^{ab} \Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \mathfrak{h}^{cd} + \mathfrak{h}^{ab} \Delta_{L,ab}^{-1} \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{K} \Delta_{R,ab}^{-1} \mathfrak{h}^{ab} + \mathcal{K} \Delta^{-1} \mathcal{K} \right).$$
(3.89)

An explicit calculation of all Δ operators shows that

$$\Delta^{-1} = -\partial^{2} + F_{a}^{a}, \qquad (3.90a)$$

$$\Delta_{R,ab}^{-1} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left(U^{c} - V^{c} \right) \partial_{c} + \frac{1}{2} \eta^{cd} \left(\mathcal{W}_{cd}^{A} - \mathcal{W}_{cd}^{r} \right) - A \left(r \right) \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right) + \partial_{a} \partial_{b} + U_{(a} \partial_{b)} + \mathcal{W}_{ab}^{A} - F_{ab}, \qquad (3.90b)$$

$$\Delta_{L,ab}^{-1} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left(U^c - V^c \right) \partial_c - A(r) \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) + \partial_a \partial_b - U_{(a} \partial_{b)} - F_{ab}, \quad (3.90c)$$

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ac} V_{[b} \partial_{d]} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{bd} V_{[a} \partial_{c]} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \left(V_{(c} \partial_{d)} + \mathcal{W}_{cd}^{r} + \frac{1}{2} V_{c} V_{d} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{cd} \left(-V_{(a} \partial_{b)} + \frac{1}{2} V_{a} V_{b} \right) + \eta_{ab} \eta_{cd} \left(\frac{1}{4} A\left(r\right) R_{2d} - \frac{1}{4} V^{e} U_{e} + A\left(r\right) \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right) - \eta_{ac} \eta_{bd} \left(\frac{1}{2} A\left(r\right) R_{2d} - \frac{1}{2} V^{e} U_{e} + A\left(r\right) \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right),$$
(3.90d)

where repeated application of the product rule on any relevant $\frac{1}{A}$ was necessary. We defined two new field tensors

$$\mathcal{W}^r_{ab} \coloneqq \partial_{(a}V_{b)} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{W}^A_{ab} \coloneqq \partial_{(a}U_{b)}.$$
(3.91)

While the Δ operators now appear more complicated, the background is flat, making all covariant derivatives trivial. Moreover, while coordinate transformations need care, any co-ordinate system may be chosen by an appropriate choice of the function A(r).

This completes the calculation of the even action. The four-dimensional spherically symmetric spacetime is now reduced to a flat two dimensional Minkowski spacetime. This is largely owed to the spherical harmonics expansion and a careful exploitation of the background spherical symmetry. Curvature is embedded in two potentials V_a , U_a and their respective field strengths. While we have focused our attention on vacuum solutions to Einstein's equations, extension to more general spacetimes should be straightforward. The first order term in (A.2) will be nontrivial but can be accommodated for, in this formalism.

To complete the effective action, we also need to reduce the scalar action in (3.5) and the interaction vertex (3.51) on to two-dimensional flat spacetime. We will incorporate these in the following section as we move near the horizon. Once equipped with the complete effective action, we will then proceed to determine the graviton and scalar propagators and the interaction vertex, on the Schwarzschild horizon, as advertised.

4 Feynman rules on the horizon

While the soft limit of the path integral about spherically symmetric backgrounds conveniently split into effective two-dimensional theories, it is still difficult to invert the quadratic operators (3.90) to find the graviton propagator for general backgrounds. In what follows, we will evaluate the action (3.89) on the Schwarzschild background specified by

$$A(r) = \frac{R}{r}e^{1-r/R}$$
 and $xy = 2R^2\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)e^{r/R-1}$. (4.1)

Therefore, the potentials defining the operators (3.90) can now be written in the x, y coordinates:

$$V_a = \frac{A}{rR} x_a , \qquad (4.2a)$$

$$U_a = -\frac{A}{2rR} \left(1 + \frac{r}{R}\right) x_a , \qquad (4.2b)$$

$$\mathcal{W}_{ab}^{r} = \frac{A}{rR} \eta_{ab} - \frac{A^{2}}{2R^{2}r^{2}} \left(2 + \frac{r}{R}\right) x_{a} x_{b}, \qquad (4.2c)$$

$$\mathcal{W}_{ab}^{A} = -\frac{A}{2rR} \left(1 + \frac{r}{R}\right) \eta_{ab} + \frac{A^2}{4R^2r^2} \left(2 + 2\frac{r}{R} + \frac{r^2}{R^2}\right) x_a x_b, \qquad (4.2d)$$

$$F_{ab} = \frac{AR}{2r^3}\eta_{ab}, \qquad (4.2e)$$

$$R_{2d} = \frac{2R}{r^3}.$$
 (4.2f)

The choice of background (4.1) is evidently that of an eternal Schwarzschild solution in Kruskal-Szekeres coordinates. This retains time-translational invariance in the effective twodimensional theory: $x \to ax, y \to a^{-1}y$. In what is to follow, however, we will make a near-horizon approximation. As it turns out, the physically relevant information for the derivation of the graviton propagator is the conformal flatness of the bifurcation sphere. In a collapsing scenario, the nature of the apparent horizon may be rather different. However, in the soft limit, we will argue towards the end of the paper that the general lessons drawn may well hold. There are of course more detailed questions further away from the horizon where the near horizon propagator needs to be modified.

As an aside, the relation between the trace of the residual curvature field strength of the two-sphere F_{ab} and the scalar curvature of the two-dimensional spacetime is striking: $A(r)R_{2d} = 2F_a^a$. They may be seen to conspire to make up the vacuum Schwarzschild solution in four dimensions.

We may now insert all curvature potentials into the Δ operators. Our interest is however, in studying scattering near the horizon. Therefore, we will first define the near-horizon approximation before writing down the simplified potentials.

4.1 The near horizon approximation

The naive near-horizon approximation of the Scwharzschild solution yields Rindler spacetime. However, we would like to keep the spherical nature of the horizon intact. Moreover, as mentioned earlier, all wave fronts received on future null infinity appear to emanate from the central causal diamond in a collapsing scenario. Therefore, the natural approximation of interest is such that the two-dimensional light-cone coordinates $x, y \ll R$; the reference scale for the coordinates is the Schwarzschild radius R instead of the Planck length and the near-horizon region effectively measures 1 - r/R. In terms of the light-cone coordinates, the horizon is of course defined by xy = 0. So, we have that

$$r = R + R\Theta\left(\frac{xy}{R^2}\right), \qquad (4.3)$$

in this approximation. Therefore, to linear order, we simply find r = R and A(r) = 1. There are of course other linear contributions in the form of the couplings $x_a \partial_b$, while all potentials have now simply become mass terms. The Δ operators (3.90) now simplify to

$$\Delta^{-1} = -\partial^2 + \mu^2, \qquad (4.4a)$$

$$\Delta_{R,ab}^{-1} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^2 - \mu^2 x^c \partial_c - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \lambda \right) + \partial_a \partial_b - \mu^2 x_{(a} \partial_{b)} , \qquad (4.4b)$$

$$\Delta_{L,ab}^{-1} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^2 + \mu^2 x^c \partial_c - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \left(\lambda - 2\right) \right) + \partial_a \partial_b + \mu^2 x_{(a} \partial_{b)}, \qquad (4.4c)$$

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \left(\eta_{ac} x_{[b} \partial_{d]} + \eta_{bd} x_{[a} \partial_{c]} + \eta_{ab} x_{(c} \partial_{d)} - \eta_{cd} x_{(a} \partial_{b)} \right) + \frac{\mu^2 \left(\lambda + 1\right)}{2} \left(\eta_{ab} \eta_{cd} - \eta_{ac} \eta_{bd} \right), \qquad (4.4d)$$

where we defined

$$\lambda \coloneqq \ell^2 + \ell + 1, \tag{4.5}$$

and used the inverse Schwarzschild radius $\mu = 1/R$ again, which can now be understood as effective mass due to the positive curvature of the two-sphere.

It is now evident that this approximation is identical to expanding around $\mu \to 0$, which holds for large black holes. Of course the approximation is better defined in terms of the dimensionless quantity μx_a . The equations of motion are also written in terms of the Δ operators as

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1}\mathfrak{h}^{cd} + \Delta_{L,ab}^{-1}\mathcal{K} = 0, \qquad (4.6)$$

$$\Delta_{R,ab}^{-1}\mathfrak{h}^{ab} + \Delta^{-1}\mathcal{K} = 0.$$

$$(4.7)$$

An evident disconcerting feature of the operators (4.4) is the asymmetry in the 'left' and 'right' operators. Removing first order terms naively with $\mu x_a \rightarrow 0$ does not fix the problem either. The first derivative terms contribute to the effective mass. A symmetric representation of these operators can be achieved with a field redefinition as we will now show. We first note the following identities:

$$\partial_a \partial_b e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} = e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \left(\partial_a \partial_b - \mu^2 x_{(a} \partial_{b)} - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \eta_{ab} + \frac{1}{4} \mu^4 x_a x_b \right), \tag{4.8}$$

$$\partial_a \partial_b e^{\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} = e^{\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \left(\partial_a \partial_b + \mu^2 x_{(a} \partial_{b)} + \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \eta_{ab} + \frac{1}{4} \mu^4 x_a x_b \right).$$
(4.9)

In what follows, we will ignore the last terms quadratic in μx_a . This allows us to identify

$$e^{\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \Delta_{L,ab}^{-1} e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} = e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \Delta_{R,ab}^{-1} e^{\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^2 - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 (\lambda - 1) \right) + \partial_a \partial_b \,. \tag{4.10}$$

This gives a symmetric representation. Moreover, conveniently enough, it also removes all first derivatives and first order terms in μx_a . Therefore, the field re-definitions to achieve this symmetric representation are given by the following transformations

$$\mathcal{K} \to e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \mathcal{K}, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\mathfrak{h}_{ab} \to e^{\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{4}} \mathfrak{h}_{ab} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Under this field redefinition, it is worth noting that Δ_{abcd}^{-1} does not transform because of the anti-symmetry of the derivatives. What remains is Δ^{-1} . We first note the part of the action quadratic in \mathcal{K} :

$$S_{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathcal{K} \Delta^{-1} \mathcal{K} = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \ e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{2}} \mathcal{K} \left(-\partial^2 + \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 x^c \partial_c + 2\mu^2 \right) \mathcal{K}.$$
(4.13)

While there was no first derivative term to begin with, the field redefinition has generated one. The first derivatives in the terms coupling \mathcal{K} and \mathfrak{h} have essentially been traded for a first derivative in the pure \mathcal{K} action. The exponent can be removed in the near-horizon approximation

$$e^{-\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{2}} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\mu^2 x y).$$
 (4.14)

The use of the exponential in the field redefinition may appear to be at odds with the recurring use of the approximation $\mu x_a \ll 1$. A remark on this is in order. But before that, we will first massage the said first derivative. The integral with the first derivative can be rewritten as

$$\int d^2 x \mathcal{K} \mu^2 x^c \partial_c \mathcal{K} = \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \int d^2 x x^c \partial_c \left(\mathcal{K}^2 \right) \,. \tag{4.15}$$

Integration by parts with vanishing boundary conditions yields

$$\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x x^c \partial_c \left(\mathcal{H}^2\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathcal{H}^2 \partial_c x^c = -\mu^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathcal{H}^2.$$
(4.16)

The first derivative is therefore traded for another mass term. The complete even parity graviton action near the horizon is now given by

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2 x \left(\mathfrak{h}^{ab} \Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \mathfrak{h}^{cd} + \mathfrak{h}^{ab} \Delta_{ab}^{-1} \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{K} \Delta_{ab}^{-1} \mathfrak{h}^{ab} + \mathcal{K} \Delta^{-1} \mathcal{K} \right), \qquad (4.17)$$

with

$$\Delta^{-1} = -\partial^2 + \mu^2, \qquad (4.18a)$$

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1} = -\eta_{ab} \left(\partial^2 - \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \left(\lambda - 1 \right) \right) + \partial_a \partial_b , \qquad (4.18b)$$

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \left(\eta_{ac} x_{[b} \partial_{d]} + \eta_{bd} x_{[a} \partial_{c]} + \eta_{ab} x_{(c} \partial_{d)} - \eta_{cd} x_{(a} \partial_{b)} \right) + \frac{\mu^2 (\lambda + 1)}{2} \left(\eta_{ab} \eta_{cd} - \eta_{ac} \eta_{bd} \right).$$
(4.18c)

What we see is that Δ^{-1} and Δ_{abcd}^{-1} remain unchanged. It was important that we were able to remove the exponential $\exp\left(\pm\frac{\mu^2 x^2}{2}\right)$ to linear order in μx_a . A word about the consistency of the approximation is now in order. In the small μx_a limit, the fields themselves do not transform as can be seen from (4.11) and (4.12). The transformations are only nontrivial at higher orders in μx^a . So we began with an infinitesimally small transformation, and nevertheless transformed the operators. Therefore, the difference between the first derivatives in $\Delta_{L,ab}^{-1}$ and $\Delta_{R,ab}^{-1}$ and the effective mass in Δ_{ab}^{-1} is vanishing to linear order in μx^a . The transformation we chose is merely one consistent choice, but the underlying structure that $\Delta_{L,ab}^{-1}, \Delta_{R,ab}^{-1}$ equal Δ_{ab}^{-1} up to infinitesimal differences holds regardless of the transformation chosen.

This quadratic action is now in a convenient enough form to allow for inversion of the above operators to find the graviton propagator. All terms linear in μx_a have dropped out, except in Δ_{abcd}^{-1} . We shall see that in the following subsection that they do not contribute either.

4.2 The graviton propagator

In this subsection we derive the complete graviton propagator for the even action on the Schwarzschild horizon near the horizon. The propagator is found from the Green's function of the equation of motion. The equations of motion of the graviton are now

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1}\mathfrak{h}^{cd} + \Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathcal{K} = 0, \qquad (4.19a)$$

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathfrak{h}^{ab} + \Delta^{-1}\mathcal{K} = 0, \qquad (4.19b)$$

with the operators defined in (4.18). These can be written in the following matrix form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \ \Delta_{ab}^{-1} \\ \Delta_{cd}^{-1} \ \Delta^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{h}^{cd} \\ \mathcal{K} \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(4.20)

Then the Green's function of this matrix differential equation is defined by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \ \Delta_{ab}^{-1} \\ \Delta_{cd}^{-1} \ \Delta^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{P}^{cdef} \ \mathscr{P}^{cd} \\ \mathscr{P}^{ef} \ \mathscr{P} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \delta_{ab}^{ef} \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) .$$
(4.21)

The Green's function matrix is symmetric owing to the symmetrised operators (4.18). There are three propagators. The first is \mathscr{P}^{cdef} , which is the propagator of $\mathfrak{h}_{cd} \to \mathfrak{h}_{ef}$. The function \mathscr{P}_{ab} corresponds to $\mathfrak{h}^{ab} \to \mathscr{K}$ whereas \mathscr{P} corresponds to $\mathscr{K} \to \mathscr{K}$. From equation (4.21) we find that all individual propagators are defined by

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{cdef} + \Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{ef} = \delta_{ab}^{ef}\delta^{(2)}\left(x - x'\right), \qquad (4.22a)$$

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{abcd} + \Delta^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{cd} = 0, \qquad (4.22b)$$

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{cd} + \Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathcal{P} = 0, \qquad (4.22c)$$

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1}\mathcal{P}^{ab} + \Delta^{-1}\mathcal{P} = \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) . \tag{4.22d}$$

The coupling between the propagators is naturally owed to the coupling between the tensorial and scalar fields in the quadratic action (4.17). To find the propagators, we first need to find the inverses of Δ^{-1} , Δ_{ab}^{-1} , and Δ_{abcd}^{-1} . These inverses are defined as usual:

$$\Delta_{abcd}^{-1} \Delta^{cdef} = \delta_{ab}^{ef} \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) , \qquad (4.23)$$

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1} \Delta^{bc} = \delta_a^c \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) , \qquad (4.24)$$

$$\Delta^{-1}\Delta = \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) \,. \tag{4.25}$$

The inverse of Δ^{-1} This is the easiest of the lot, and requires us to solve

$$(-\partial^2 + \mu^2)\Delta(x; x') = \delta^{(2)}(x - x').$$
(4.26)

Using the Fourier transforms

$$\Delta(x;x') = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int d^2k \ e^{ik_a(x-x')^a} \Delta(k) , \qquad (4.27)$$

$$\delta^{(2)}(x-x') = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int d^2 p \ e^{ik_a(x-x')^a}, \qquad (4.28)$$

the solution for the inverse is

$$\Delta(k) = \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2} \tag{4.29}$$

where $k^2 = \eta^{ab} k_a k_b$. This is the Klein-Gordon propagator with an effective mass μ^2 arising from the two-sphere reduction of the Schwarzschild metric. In contrast to the flat space eikonal approximation, we see that the effective reduction to two dimensions near the horizon provides a natural infrared regulator given by the Schwarzschild radius. In the soft limit, this cures infrared divergences. However, the four dimensional graviton of course remains massless.

The inverse of Δ_{abcd}^{-1} The operator is given in (4.18c). In order to find the inverse we start with the following ansatz

$$\Delta^{abcd} = T (x - x') \eta^{ab} \eta^{cd} + Q (x - x') \eta^{a(c)} \eta^{d(c)} \eta^{d(d)} .$$
(4.30)

This is the most general form that respects the symmetries of the graviton $\mathfrak{h}_{ab} = \mathfrak{h}_{ba}$, and time translation symmetry $x \to ax, y \to y/a$ up to linear order in μx_a . Here we used time translation symmetry to require that Δ^{abcd} transforms at most as a tensor under time translations, so that the only allowed tensor structures are $\eta_{ab}\eta_{cd}, \mu^2\eta_{ab}x_cx_d$ and $\mu^4x_ax_bx_cx_d$ with any index permutation. We included the μ^2 to have dimensionless tensor structures. Now the latter two can be removed up to linear order in μx_a , so that only $\eta_{ab}\eta_{cd}$ remains. Then (4.30) gives the most general form that respects symmetries of the problem. There is another allowed dimensionless tensor as well: $\frac{x_a x_b}{x^2}$. This tensor is however not regular over the entire manifold. The irregularities of usual momentum space poles determine the mass-shell, whereas this tensor contains a pole that would be a coordinate singularity. In Kruskal-Szekers coordinates there is no singularity at $x^2 = 0$. This are not the usual 1/rsingularity of spherical coordinates either, as that would correspond to $1/(x^2 + 2R^2)$ instead. Therefore, we forbid this tensor, leaving behind (4.30) as the most general form.

Inserting (4.30) in the definition of the inverse (4.23) results in

$$\frac{2}{\mu^{2}(\lambda+1)}\delta_{ab}^{ef}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') = -Q\delta_{ef}^{ab} + \eta_{ab}\eta^{ef} \left(x^{c}\partial_{c}T - (\lambda+1)(T+Q)\right) -\eta^{ef}x_{(a}\partial_{b)}(2T+Q) + \eta_{ab}x^{(e}\partial^{f)}Q + \frac{1}{2}\left(\delta_{a}^{e}x_{[b}\partial^{f]} + \delta_{a}^{f}x_{[b}\partial^{e]} + \delta_{b}^{f}x_{[a}\partial^{e]} + \delta_{b}^{e}x_{[a}\partial^{f]}\right)Q.$$
(4.31)

Neither the anti-symmetric terms nor the terms containing the metric tensor can reduce to the delta function as required by the left hand side of this equation. Therefore, we find

$$Q = -\frac{2}{\mu^2(\lambda+1)}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') . \qquad (4.32)$$

This is a peculiar result; the inverse of the operator is instantaneous. Nevertheless it is allowed. The two-dimensional operator on the light-cone (4.18c) does not contain any second

derivatives ∂^2 . So it is not expected to have a momentum dependence. Instantaneous operators are not familiar in other gauge choices. Presumably this is a peculiarity of the choice of gauge. This operator is not the physical propagator; we denoted that by \mathcal{P}^{abcd} . That full propagator will of course have momentum dependence. Notice that the inclusion of the irregular $\frac{x_a x_b}{x^2}$ tensor would not have lead to a δ^{ab}_{ef} either and the inverse would still have been instantaneous. To proceed further, we make a guess that T = -Q in (4.30). Inserting this into the definition of the inverse shows that (4.30) is only a valid inverse if the following equation is satisfied:

$$0 \stackrel{?}{=} \left(\eta_{ab} \eta^{ef} x^c \partial_c - \eta^{ef} x_{(a} \partial_{b)} - \eta_{ab} x^{(e} \partial^{f)} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta^e_a x_{[b} \partial^{f]} + \delta^f_a x_{[b} \partial^{e]} + \delta^f_b x_{[a} \partial^{e]} + \delta^e_b x_{[a} \partial^{f]} \right) \right) \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) .$$

$$(4.33)$$

At first glance this does not seem to vanish. However should we interpret the Dirac delta function as a distribution obeying

$$x_a \partial_b \delta^{(2)} (x - x') = -\eta_{ab} \delta^{(2)} (x - x') , \qquad (4.34)$$

and recognise that the right hand side of (4.33) appears inside a two-dimensional integral, we find

$$\eta_{ab}\eta^{ef}x^{c}\partial_{c}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') - \eta^{ef}x_{(a}\partial_{b)}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') - \eta_{ab}x^{(e}\partial^{f)}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') = = -2\eta_{ab}\eta^{ef}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') + \eta_{ab}\eta^{ef}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') + \eta_{ab}\eta^{ef}\delta^{(2)}(x-x') = 0.$$

A similar analysis for $x_{[b}\partial^{f]}$ results in

$$\begin{aligned} x_{[b}\partial^{f]}\delta^{(2)}\left(x-x'\right) &= \frac{1}{2}\left(x_b\partial^f - x^f\partial_b\right)\delta^{(2)}\left(x-x'\right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\left(\delta^f_b - \delta^f_b\right)\delta^{(2)}\left(x-x'\right) \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Of course, all these manipulations are legitimate only under the integration over all x, y. Therefore, we now find that the inverse is given by

$$\Delta_{abcd} = \frac{1}{\mu^2 (\lambda + 1)} \left(2\eta_{ab} \eta_{cd} - \eta_{ac} \eta_{bd} - \eta_{ad} \eta_{bc} \right) \delta^{(2)} \left(x - x' \right) . \tag{4.35}$$

In momentum space the $\delta^{(2)}(x-x')$ can simply be replaced by unity, giving the final tensor

$$\Delta_{abcd} = \frac{1}{\mu^2 \left(\lambda + 1\right)} \left(2\eta_{ab}\eta_{cd} - \eta_{ac}\eta_{bd} - \eta_{ad}\eta_{bc}\right) \,. \tag{4.36}$$

With the inverses of Δ^{-1} and Δ^{-1}_{abcd} , the propagators can be determined from (4.22).

4.2.1 The \mathcal{K} propagator

We first address to find the easiest propagator: the scalar \mathcal{K} propagator. From (4.22c) and (4.22d) we can find that in momentum space the propagator is given by

$$\mathscr{P}_K = \frac{1}{\Delta^{-1} - \Delta_{ab}^{-1} \Delta^{abcd} \Delta_{cd}^{-1}} \,. \tag{4.37}$$

The second term in the denominator can be expanded as

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1} \Delta^{abcd} \Delta_{cd}^{-1} = \frac{\lambda - 1}{\lambda + 1} \left(\mu^2 \left(\lambda - 1 \right) + 2k^2 \right) \,. \tag{4.38}$$

Together with $\Delta^{-1} = k^2 + \mu^2$, we have for the \mathcal{K} propagator that

$$\mathcal{P}_K = -\frac{\lambda+1}{\lambda-3}\frac{1}{k^2+\mu^2\lambda}.$$
(4.39)

This obviously resembles the Klein-Gordon propagator with an effective mass $\mu\sqrt{\lambda}$. We will have more to say about the effective graviton mass at the end of this section. The prefactor, however, deserves attention. It is not well defined for $\lambda = \ell^2 + \ell + 1 = 3$ which corresponds to $\ell = 1$. Moreover, there is a flip in sign for $\ell = 0$, hinting at negative norm states. That the $\ell = 0$ and $\ell = 1$ cases are special is familiar [72, 83]. The equations of motion are not invertible for $\ell = 1$, so a gauge redundancy is to be expected. The $\ell = 0$ corresponds to a change in black hole mass since it is spherically symmetric and Birkhoff's theorem states that the $\ell = 0$ perturbation is also of a Schwarzschild form [72]. Therefore this also suggests leftover gauge redundancies since at $\ell = 0$ we have many more degrees of freedom than just the mass perturbation. Similarly $\ell = 1$ has has more degrees of freedom than can be reduced to a form with only the odd-parity graviton components h_{aA} [72]. So the $\ell = 1$ mode may be thought of as describing a rotating gravitational field. It has to be said, however, that this intuition of [72] is based on a classical analysis. Nevertheless, that these modes require additional care and indicate gauge redundancies is clear. For the four-point function of interest in this paper, fortunately, this propagator will not contribute as we will see in further sections. Therefore, we leave further analysis of the \mathcal{K} propagator for future work.

4.2.2 The \mathfrak{h}_{ab} propagator

For the purposes of the scalar four-point function of interest, the propagator of \mathfrak{h}_{ab} will turn out to be the most important one. To find \mathscr{P}^{abcd} , we begin by using (4.22a) and (4.22b) to write

$$\mathcal{P}^{abcd} = \left(\mathcal{L}^{ab}{}_{ef}\right)^{-1} \Delta^{efcd}, \qquad (4.40)$$

where we defined

$$\mathcal{L}^{ab}_{ef} := \delta^{ab}_{ef} - \Delta^{abcd} \Delta^{-1}_{cd} \Delta \Delta^{-1}_{ef} \,. \tag{4.41}$$

We now write down Δ_{ab}^{-1} in momentum space:

$$\Delta_{ab}^{-1} = \eta_{ab} \left(k^2 + \frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \left(\lambda - 1 \right) \right) - k_a k_b \,. \tag{4.42}$$

Using this, $\mathcal{L}^{ab}{}_{ef}$ is given by its definition in (4.41). Expanding the tensor structure results in

$$\mathcal{L}^{ab}{}_{ef} = \delta^{ab}_{ef} - \frac{\Delta\left(k\right)\left(k^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}\left(\lambda - 1\right)\right)\left(\lambda - 1\right)}{\lambda + 1}\eta^{ab}\eta_{ef} - \frac{2\Delta\left(k\right)\left(k^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}\left(\lambda - 1\right)\right)}{\mu^{2}\left(\lambda + 1\right)}k^{a}k^{b}\eta_{ef} + \frac{\Delta\left(k\right)\left(\lambda - 1\right)}{\left(\lambda + 1\right)}\eta^{ab}k_{e}k_{f} + \frac{2\Delta\left(k\right)}{\mu^{2}\left(\lambda + 1\right)}k^{a}k^{b}k_{e}k_{f} = : \delta^{ab}_{ef} - L_{1}\eta^{ab}\eta_{ef} - L_{2}k^{a}k^{b}\eta_{ef} + L_{3}\eta^{ab}k_{e}k_{f} + L_{4}k^{a}k^{b}k_{e}k_{f}.$$

$$(4.43)$$

where we defined four functions L_i that can be seen by comparing the two equalities above. To invert (4.43) we make the ansatz

$$(\mathcal{L}^{ab}{}_{ef})^{-1} = \delta^{ab}_{ef} - Q_1 \eta^{ab} \eta_{ef} - Q_2 k^a k^b \eta_{ef} + Q_3 \eta^{ab} k_e k_f + Q_4 k^a k^b k_e k_f , \qquad (4.44)$$

such that

$$\mathcal{L}^{ab}_{\ ef} (\mathcal{L}^{ef}_{\ cd})^{-1} = \delta^{ab}_{cd} \,. \tag{4.45}$$

Using the definition of \mathcal{L} in this equation yields a neat relation between all L_i and Q_i . This relation can be written in matrix form as follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} m & 0 \\ 0 & m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 \\ Q_2 \\ Q_3 \\ Q_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} L_1 \\ L_2 \\ L_3 \\ L_4 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.46)$$

where

The matrix relation (4.46) is block diagonal and therefore, an inverse of the the 2×2 matrix \mathcal{M} suffices to invert the matrix relation. An explicit calculation shows that the matrix determinant is given by

$$|\mathcal{M}| = -\frac{\lambda - 3}{\lambda + 1} \left(k^2 + \mu^2 \lambda\right) \Delta(k)$$

= $\frac{\Delta(k)}{\mathcal{P}_K}$. (4.48)
This determinant vanishes for $\lambda = 3$; a problem similar to what was evident in the inverse propagator of \mathcal{K} . This shows that the equations of motion are indeed not orthogonal at $\lambda = 3$ and that there is residual gauge freedom. Furthermore, the observations of the zeros and poles of the prefactor of \mathcal{P} are again relevant. We can now easily write down the inverse matrix to be

$$\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \frac{\mathscr{P}_K}{\lambda+1} \begin{pmatrix} -2k^2 - \mu^2 (\lambda+1) & -\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 k^2 (\lambda-1)^2 \\ -\frac{2}{\mu^2} \left(k^2 + \mu^2 (\lambda-1)\right) & -2k^2 + \mu^2 \lambda (\lambda-3) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.49)

We now recognize that $2L_1 = \mu^2 (\lambda - 1) L_2$, and that $2L_3 = \mu^2 (\lambda - 1) L_4$. Thus we only need to calculate

$$m^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^2 (\lambda - 1) \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} = -\frac{\mathscr{P}_K}{\Delta} \begin{pmatrix} \mu^2 (\lambda - 1) \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.50)

What we see is in fact an eigenvalue equation, so that the 2×2 matrix \mathcal{M} is simply reduced to only a scalar in this particular case. The corresponding eigenvalue is exactly given by the negative of the reciprocal of the determinant. This allows us to easily identify the solution to the inverse

$$Q_i = -\frac{\mathscr{P}_K}{\Delta} L_i. \tag{4.51}$$

Inserting Q_i into (4.44) results in

$$(\mathcal{L}^{ab}{}_{ef})^{-1} = \delta^{ab}_{ef} + \frac{\mathscr{P}_{K} \left(k^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} \left(\lambda - 1\right)\right) \left(\lambda - 1\right)}{\lambda + 1} \eta^{ab} \eta_{ef} + \frac{2\mathscr{P}_{K} \left(k^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} \left(\lambda - 1\right)\right)}{\mu^{2} \left(\lambda + 1\right)} k^{a} k^{b} \eta_{ef} - \frac{\mathscr{P}_{K} \left(\lambda - 1\right)}{\left(\lambda + 1\right)} \eta^{ab} k_{e} k_{f} - \frac{2\mathscr{P}_{K}}{\mu^{2} \left(\lambda + 1\right)} k^{a} k^{b} k_{e} k_{f} .$$

$$(4.52)$$

We can now insert the above solution for $(\mathcal{L}^{ab}_{ef})^{-1}$ into (4.40) to find the propagator. It is worth noting that the detailed mathematical calculations result in what one may have expected on physical grounds based on symmetry. The underlying structure merely consists of eigentensors, elegantly displaying the symmetry structure of the graviton.

Finally, inserting (4.52) into (4.40) results in

$$\mathcal{P}^{abcd} = \Delta^{abcd} + \mathcal{P}_K \mathbf{p}^{ab} \mathbf{p}^{cd} \,, \tag{4.53}$$

with

$$\mathbf{p}^{ab} \coloneqq \frac{\lambda - 1}{\lambda + 1} \eta^{ab} + \frac{2k^a k^b}{\mu^2 \left(\lambda + 1\right)} \,. \tag{4.54}$$

Here Δ^{abcd} is the same quantity defined in (4.36). The p^{ab} operators are the projection operators for the massive graviton. In fact, observing the scalar part \mathcal{P}_k , there is clearly a pole at $-\mu^2 \lambda$. Therefore, the tensor field \mathfrak{h}_{ab} has also become massive. Note that the fourdimensional graviton is still massless, it is only the two-dimensional reduction that gains an effective mass. This is an important result, one that provides for a natural infrared regulator. This is in contrast to the flat space eikonal limit where a regulator was necessarily inserted by hand (2.17).

A projection operator similar to p^{ab} was observed for the massive graviton in [84], where unlike in the present case the mass was owed to a direct insertion of mass terms in the action. While the resemblance between the propagator in [84] and (4.53) is notable, the most significant difference is the Δ^{abcd} term; this quantity still has no momentum dependence in the present case. It represents the effect of the mass of the spin-2 particle in two dimensions. This mass generates a curvature and Δ^{abcd} embeds this curvature into the propagator. This is also the reason that it has no momentum dependence: the curvature contribution of the tensor modes is constant in the Lagrangian, there is no k^2 contributing to the two-dimensional lightcone action in (4.17). The second term involving the \mathcal{K} mode carries momentum dependence, and implicitly also gives it to the tensor modes.

4.2.3 Propagator for $\mathfrak{h}_{ab} \to \mathcal{K}$

The propagator that couples the tensorial mode in the graviton to the scalar one can be found from (4.22b) to be given by

$$\mathcal{P}^{ab} = -\Delta \Delta_{cd}^{-1} \mathcal{P}^{cdab}$$

= $-\mathcal{P}_{K} p^{ab}$. (4.55)

The operator p^{ab} is still the same projection operator as before, defined in (4.54). This propagator resembles that of a massive spin-1 field; given that this it couples a spin-2 field with a scalar field, this may not be a surprise. For the purposes of this article, this plays no role as we will see in the upcoming sections.

4.3 The scalar propagator

The propagator for the scalar field is relatively straight forward to find, but first requires a reduction of the matter action on the two sphere. We begin with the kinetic term in (3.5):

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g} \,\phi \,\Box \,\phi \,. \tag{4.56}$$

For the box operator, we write

$$\Box = \tilde{\Box} + V^a \tilde{\nabla}_a + \frac{1}{r^2} \Delta_\Omega , \qquad (4.57)$$

where, as before, the tilde operators correspond to the light-cone. Furthermore, we used the residual curvature tensor V_a , which is defined to be $V_a = 2\partial_a \log r$. We now expand the scalar field in spherical harmonics:

$$\phi = \sum_{\ell,m} \phi_{\ell m} Y_{\ell}^{m} .$$
(4.58)

We again make use of $\Delta_{\Omega} Y_{\ell}^m = -\ell(\ell+1)Y_{\ell}^m$ and the orthogonality relation (3.67) to write the action as

$$S_m = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \int d^2 x A(r) r^2 \phi_{\ell m} \left(-\tilde{\Box} - V^a \tilde{\nabla}_a + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^2} \right) \phi_{\ell,m} \,.$$
(4.59)

We now perform the Weyl transformation as was done in Section 3.7.1, along with a field redefinition for the scalar as $\phi \to r\tilde{\phi}$. This removes the Jacobian, and yields

$$S_m = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \int d^2 x \, \phi_{\ell m} \left(-\partial^2 + \frac{1}{r} \left(\partial^2 r \right) + \frac{A(r) \,\ell \left(\ell + 1\right)}{r^2} \right) \phi_{\ell,m} \,. \tag{4.60}$$

The field redefinition also removes the first derivatives, and replaces them with a potential $\sim (\partial^2 r)$. Finally, we insert that on the horizon $r \sim R$ and $\partial^2 r \sim -\frac{1}{2R}$, as derived in Appendix B.1 in the approximation $x, y \ll R$, to find the following:

$$S_m = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \, \phi_{\ell m} \big(-\partial^2 + \mu^2 \lambda \big) \phi_{\ell m} \,, \qquad (4.61)$$

where we defined $\lambda = \ell^2 + \ell + 1$ and $\mu = 1/R$ as before. The propagator is easily found by the Fourier transformation

$$\phi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int d^2 p \, e^{i p_a x^a} \phi(p) \,, \qquad (4.62)$$

$$\phi(p) = \int d^2 x \, e^{-ip_a x^a} \phi(x) \,. \tag{4.63}$$

The inverse propagator can be read off from (4.61) as $\partial^2 - \mu^2 \lambda$. Under the chosen conventions for the Fourier transform, the propagator is directly found by substituting $\partial_a = ip_a$. This results in

$$\mathcal{P}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{p^2 + \mu^2 \lambda - i\epsilon} \,. \tag{4.64}$$

This is the propagator for a fixed (ℓ, m) wave and spherical symmetry of the background ensures that different partial waves do not interact below Planck scale.

In what is to follow, we will assume $\partial_A \to 0$ since the external particles have insignificant transverse momenta when the black hole is larger than Planck size. We will first analyse the consequence of this for the vertex, before proceeding to compute the amplitudes of interest.

4.4 The interaction vertex

The scattering processes of interest in this article are mediated by three point vertices as we noted before. This vertex written in the Regge Wheeler gauge was given in (3.51). Inserting the light-cone fields taking the Weyl-rescaling into account,

$$h_{ab} = \frac{1}{A(r)r}\mathfrak{h}_{ab}, \qquad \phi = \frac{1}{r}\phi, \qquad K = \frac{1}{r}\mathcal{K}, \qquad (4.65)$$

this vertex action becomes

$$S_{\text{vertex}} = \frac{\kappa}{2R} \int d\Omega \int d^2x \left[\mathfrak{h}^{ab} \left(\partial_a \phi \partial_b \phi - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} \eta^{cd} \partial_c \phi \partial_d \phi \right) + \mathcal{K} \eta^{AB} T_{AB} \right].$$
(4.66)

in the $x^a \ll R$ approximation. As can be seen from the second term in (3.50), the definition of the stress tensor shows that the second term of (4.66) does not vanish with a mere assumption of vanishing transverse momenta $p_A = 0$. In fact, we see that

$$\mathcal{K}\eta^{AB}T_{AB} \sim \mathcal{K}\eta^{ab}\partial_a\phi\partial_b\phi.$$
(4.67)

Now, the scattering amplitude of interest has one particle, say p_1 , with a momentum exclusively going into the black hole while the other particle, say p_2 , is exclusively exiting the horizon. Therefore, we have that $p_1 = (p_{1,x}, p_{1,y}) = (p_{1,x}, 0)$ and $p_2 = (p_{2,x}, p_{2,y}) = (0, p_{2,y})$. We now define the two-dimensional Mandelstam variable

$$s = -\frac{1}{2}(p_1 + p_2)^2 = -p_1 \cdot p_2 = p_{1,x}p_{2,y}.$$
 (4.68)

The amplitudes arise from the interaction terms in (4.66). Let us first consider the tree level diagram arising from (4.67) mediated by propagators involving \mathcal{K} :



Figure 4. The diagram on the left gives rise to an amplitude, say $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{H}}$, and is mediated by the propagator $\mathscr{P}_{\mathcal{H}}$ given in (4.39). The diagram on the right yields an amplitude, say $\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{h}_{ab}\to\mathcal{H}}$, mediated by the propagator \mathscr{P}^{ab} given in (4.55).

The amplitudes in Fig. 4 can easily be calculated. The diagram on the left mediated by $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{R}}$ gives

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}} \sim \frac{s^2}{2s + \mu^2 \lambda}, \qquad (4.69)$$

and the diagram on the right, mediated by \mathcal{P}^{ab} , gives

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{h}_{ab} \to \mathcal{K}} \sim (p_1 \cdot p_2) \mathcal{P}^{ab} \left(p_{1,a} p_{2,b} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} (p_1 \cdot p_2) \right)$$

$$= (p_1 \cdot p_2) \mathcal{P}^{xy} (p_{1,x} p_{2,y} - p_{1,x} p_{2,y})$$

$$= 0,$$

$$(4.70)$$

where we used that the light-cone metric is given by $\eta_{xy} = -1$, and that $p_1 = (p_{1,x}, 0)$ and $p_2 = (0, p_{2,y})$. The remaining tree-level diagrams involve \mathfrak{h}_{ab} exclusively, as shown in Fig. 5.



Figure 5. The diagram on the left, say \mathcal{M}_{soft} , is the soft one mediated by the propagator \mathscr{P}^{abcd} given in (4.53), with no momentum exchanged. The diagram on the right yields an amplitude, say \mathcal{M}_{hard} , mediated by the same propagator \mathscr{P}^{abcd} .

Owing to the symmetry of the propagator \mathscr{P}^{abcd} under $a \leftrightarrow b$, and under $c \leftrightarrow d$, the amplitude \mathcal{M}_{hard} vanishes due to an argument similar to (4.70). The soft amplitude on the other hand is again easily calculated to be

$$\mathcal{M}_{soft} \sim (p_{1,x}p_{2,y})^2 \mathcal{P}^{xxyy}(0) \sim \frac{s^2}{\mu^2}.$$
 (4.71)

4.5 The black hole eikonal limit: $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$

Using the parameters $\mu = 1/R_S$ and $\kappa = \sqrt{8\pi G_N}$, we define

$$\gamma \coloneqq \mu \kappa \sim \frac{M_{Pl}}{M_{BH}}.$$
(4.72)

With this definition, we observe that

$$\mu^2 \sim \frac{M_{Pl}^4}{M_{BH}^2} \sim \gamma^2 M_{Pl}^2.$$
(4.73)

The only non-vanishing tree-level amplitudes were (4.69) and (4.71). When written in terms of γ , in the limit $s \gg \gamma^2 M_{Pl}^2$ for every fixed ℓ , these read

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}} \sim s \text{ and } \mathcal{M}_{soft} \sim \frac{s^2}{\gamma^2 M_{Pl}^2}.$$
 (4.74)

Clearly $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{R}}$ is sub-leading for black holes that are bigger than Planck size. In the eikonal approximation in flat space, reviewed in Section 2, we saw that the analogous approximation necessitated ultra-high energy scattering. A black hole background provides for a new scale that tempers this requirement dramatically. The requirement for the energy of collision is merely

$$\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl} \,. \tag{4.75}$$

The factor γ is of the order of 10^{-32} for a black hole with a Schwarzschild radius of 1 cm (this would be a black hole with the mass of the earth). Therefore, the requirement $\sqrt{s} \gg 10^{-32} M_{Pl}$ is very easily satisfied for all known particles in the Standard Model for any black hole that is much heavier than Planck mass. In this approximation, we see that we can ignore the amplitude for \mathcal{K} in (4.74) and we are left with \mathcal{M}_{soft} to leading order. Therefore, this approximation simplifies the vertex (4.66) because the field \mathcal{K} drops out and we are left with

$$\mathfrak{h}^{ab}\left(\partial_a\phi\partial_b\phi - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{ab}\eta^{cd}\partial_c\phi\partial_d\phi\right) = \mathfrak{h}^{xx}\partial_x\phi\partial_x\phi + \mathfrak{h}^{yy}\partial_y\phi\partial_y\phi.$$
(4.76)

That only \mathfrak{h}_{xx} and \mathfrak{h}_{yy} remain was argued to be a feature of the eikonal approximation in flat space based on boundary conditions. Near the horizon of the Schwarzschild solution in the $s \gg \gamma^2 M_{Pl}^2$ approximation, we see that the same result can be explicitly derived. Therefore, with the implicit understanding that the off-diagonal components \mathfrak{h}_{xy} do not contribute

$$\mathfrak{h}^{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{h}^{xx} & 0\\ 0 & \mathfrak{h}^{yy} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.77)$$

the vertex action (4.66) can be written as

$$S_{\text{vertex}} = \frac{\gamma}{2} \sum_{\ell,m} \sum_{\ell_1,m_1} \sum_{\ell_2,m_2} \int d\Omega \ Y_{\ell}^m Y_{\ell_1}^{m_1} Y_{\ell_2}^{m_2} \int d^2 x \ \mathfrak{h}_{\ell m}^{ab} \partial_a \phi_{\ell_1 m_1} \partial_b \phi_{\ell_2 m_2} , \qquad (4.78)$$

where we inserted the spherical harmonic expansions

$$\mathfrak{h}^{ab} = \sum_{\ell,m} \mathfrak{h}^{ab}_{\ell m} Y^m_{\ell} \quad \text{and} \quad \phi = \sum_{\ell,m} \phi_{\ell m} Y^m_{\ell}.$$
(4.79)

Integrating over the sphere will result in a coupling between the various partial waves. We saw in Section 3.6 that the various partial waves decouple at quadratic order, owing to the spherical symmetry of the background. The different partial waves are then expected to only be coupled by large transverse momentum transfers [23]. This is subdominant for scattering

processes on the horizon when the black hole is greater than Planck size. Therefore, we do not expect that angular momentum is distributed among external legs. This implies that one of the external scalar legs is kept with some fixed partial wave, say ϕ_0 . The vertex action therefore becomes

$$S_{\text{vertex}} = \gamma \sum_{\ell,m} \int d^2 x \, \mathfrak{h}_{\ell m}^{ab} \partial_a \phi_0 \partial_b \phi_{\ell m} \,, \qquad (4.80)$$

where the additional factor of two is owed to the different possible attachments of the fixed partial wave ϕ_0 .

Since the off-diagonal components of \mathfrak{h}^{ab} play no role in scattering with a massless scalar field, the graviton propagator (4.53) simplifies significantly

$$\mathcal{P}^{abcd}(k) = \frac{1}{4} f_{\ell} \bigg[\eta_{ac} \eta_{bd} + \eta_{ad} \eta_{bc} - \eta_{ab} \eta_{cd} \\ + \frac{4}{\mu^2 (\lambda - 3)} \frac{1}{k^2 + \mu^2 \lambda} \left(k^a k^b - \frac{1}{2} k^2 \eta^{ab} \right) \left(k^c k^d - \frac{1}{2} k^2 \eta^{cd} \right) \bigg].$$
(4.81)

The choice of 1/4 is arbitrary. From (4.53), the soft form factor f_{ℓ} can be found to be given by

$$f_{\ell} = -\frac{4}{\mu^2(\lambda+1)}.$$
(4.82)

For the scattering processes to be considered, we will see in the Section 5 that the soft limit $k \to 0$ is imposed on us. Observing (4.81), we see familiar problems in the ultraviolet. In the high energy limit, we have that $\mathcal{P}^{abcd} \sim k^4 / (\mu^2 k^2 + \mu^4)$ which diverges. This is a feature familiar from massive gravity [84]. It is a result of the mass in the projection operator p^{ab} . For a massive spin-1 field, there is a similar feature in the UV-limit, which renders the theory non-renormalizable by the power counting theorem [85]. Massive Quantum Electrodynamics is renormalizable due to the introduction of additional scalar fields [86]. A similar trick can be applied to the spin-2 case, introducing vector fields to restore the power counting theorem for the graviton. This was also done in [84], however renormalization remains a problem, as it was already a problem for the massless graviton.

Fortunately enough, owing to the soft limit that is to be enforced upon us, we may simply work with the propagator in (4.81). We shall see that the divergent momentum-dependent tail is projected out in the ladder diagrams of interest. And it will be far more important that \mathscr{P}^{abcd} is well defined when k = 0. Unlike in the flat space eikonal calculation reviewed in Section 2, the emergent scale of the Schwarzschild radius provides for a natural regulator, with no necessity for a regulator to be put in by hand.

As a final comment, if instead of writing down the honest propagator as we have done above, had we postulated an ansatz of the form [78]

$$\mathcal{P}^{abcd}\left(k\right) = \frac{1}{4} f_{\ell}\left(k^{2}\right) \left(\eta^{ac} \eta^{bd} + \eta^{ad} \eta^{bc} - \eta^{ab} \eta^{cd}\right), \qquad (4.83)$$

we find that using (4.53), the solution is given by

$$f_{\ell}(k^{2}) = -\frac{4}{\mu^{2}(\lambda+1)} - \frac{4}{\mu^{4}(\lambda+1)(\lambda-3)} \frac{k^{4}}{k^{2}+\mu^{2}\lambda}.$$
(4.84)

In the soft limit, which we will be projected on to in Section 5, either choice results in the same answer since $f_{\ell}(0) = f_{\ell}$.

4.6 The Feynman rules

Gathering all the results we have obtained so far in (4.61), (4.80), and (4.81), we find that the action near the horizon reduces to

$$S_{\text{hor}} = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2 k \, \mathfrak{h}^{ab} \, \mathcal{P}_{abcd}^{-1}(k) \, \mathfrak{h}^{cd} - \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 p \, \phi \left(p^2 + \mu^2 \lambda \right) \phi + \gamma \int d^2 k \, d^2 p_1 \, d^2 p_2 \, \delta^{(2)} \left(k + p_1 + p_2 \right) \mathfrak{h}_{ab}(k) \, p_1^a p_2^b \phi_0(p_1) \, \phi(p_2)$$
(4.85)

for each partial wave, in momentum space. This allows us to read off the Feynman rules. For the propagators we find

and the vertex is given by



with a symmetry factor of 8 for the graviton propagator accounting for the $a \leftrightarrow b$ and $c \leftrightarrow d$ symmetry and a factor of two for the external scalar legs that may be exchanged. Furthermore, we will employ the usual $i\epsilon$ prescription for the graviton propagator

$$\mathcal{P}^{abcd}\left(k\right) = \frac{1}{4} f_{\ell} \left(\eta^{ac} \eta^{bd} + \eta^{ad} \eta^{bc} - f_{\ell} \left(\frac{\lambda+1}{\lambda+3}\right) \frac{k^{a} k^{b} k^{c} k^{d}}{4\left(k^{2} + \mu^{2} \lambda - i\epsilon\right)}\right), \qquad (4.86)$$

and use the fact that the external scalar momenta dominate the momentum transferred by internal gravitons

$$\frac{-i}{(p+k)^2 + \mu^2 \lambda - i\epsilon} \approx \frac{-i}{2p \cdot k - i\epsilon}.$$
(4.87)

5 Scattering amplitudes on the horizon

We are now in a position to calculate all the scattering diagrams of interest. Our interest is in the four point correlator with external scalar legs: $\langle \phi_{\ell,m}\phi_0\phi_{\ell,m}\phi_0\rangle$. The tree level scattering diagrams are given in Fig. 6.



Figure 6. We call this diagram the *transfer* channel as the angular momentum indices (represented by the solid lines) are transferred across the virtual graviton. Combining two such diagrams, a *conserved* channel where the angular momentum stays put is generated; see Fig. 7. We will discuss both these channels in this section.

This transfer channel tree amplitude can be calculated using the Feynman rules from the previous section:

$$i\mathcal{M}_{transfer,1} = (i\gamma p_{a}^{1} p_{b}^{1}) (2i\mathcal{P}^{abcd}(k)) (i\gamma p_{c}^{2} p_{d}^{2}) = \gamma^{2} (p_{a}^{1} p_{b}^{1}) (\frac{2i}{\mu^{2} (\lambda + 1)} (\eta^{ac} \eta^{bd} + \eta^{ad} \eta^{bc})) (p_{c}^{2} p_{d}^{2}) = \frac{4i\gamma^{2} s^{2}}{\mu^{2} (\lambda + 1)} = \frac{4i\kappa^{2} s^{2}}{\ell^{2} + \ell + 2},$$
(5.1)

where in the first step, we used momentum conservation at each vertex and in the last step, we used the definition of γ from (4.72) and that $\lambda = \ell^2 + \ell + 1$. This formula is the analog of the corresponding expression for the eikonal phase in flat space (2.5). In that result, all the transverse effects were embedded in the Mandelstam variable $t = -(p_1 - p_3)^2 \approx -(p_1^{\perp} - p_3^{\perp})^2$. Whereas here, since we have integrated the sphere out, they are now captured by the partial wave ℓ . In contrast to the eikonal phase in flat space, where scattering is dominated by large ℓ modes [23]⁹, we see that it is instead dominated by the low ℓ ones near the horizon.

5.1 Loop diagrams and the resummation

At one loop, much like in flat space, we have the following diagrams Fig. 7.



Figure 7. All leading one-loop ladder diagrams on the horizon, in the $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$ limit. We see that the angular momentum indices (represented by the solid line) stay on top and do not get transferred to the bottom. We call this the *conserved* channel. It is clear that all odd loops fall in the *conserved* channel, while all even loops in the *transfer* channel.

As we see from Fig. 7, the one loop diagrams only contain the *conserved* channel diagrams. In fact, this is a feature of all odd loop diagrams as can be observed from the diagrams. In similar vein, all even loop diagrams transfer the angular momentum indices across the virtual gravitons to the bottom of the diagrams. For instance, all two loop diagrams in the *transfer* channel, to leading order in the black hole eikonal limit are shown in Fig. 8.

In comparison to [67], these general loop diagrams are largely similar, except for different external legs and the fact that we are now effectively in two-dimensions. Adapting that

 $^{{}^{9}}$ See eqs. (6.9) and (6.10) of that reference, for instance.



Figure 8. All leading two-loop ladder diagrams on the horizon, in the black hole eikonal limit. None of the gravitons self-interact here.

calculation to the present case, the general loop amplitude can be written as¹⁰

$$i\mathcal{M}_{n} = (i\gamma)^{2n} \int \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}k_{j}}{(2\pi)^{2}} \left(2i p_{a}^{1} p_{b}^{1} p_{c}^{2} p_{d}^{2} \mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{abcd} (k_{j}) \right) \right] \times I \times (2\pi)^{2} \,\delta^{(2)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{j} \right) \\ = (i\gamma s)^{2n} \int \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left[\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}k_{j}}{(2\pi)^{2}} \left(2i \,\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy} (k_{j}) \right) \right] \times I \times (2\pi)^{2} \,\delta^{(2)} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{j} \right).$$
(5.2)

Here, we have taken the vertices to come with a factor of $i\gamma s$ each, with all corrections arising from internal momenta k being sub-leading. The quantity I contains all possible matter propagators leading to diagrams of the kind shown in Fig. 8 but at a general loop order. We also integrate over all internal graviton propagators, and insert delta functions to ensure conservation of internal momentum. The quantity I represents all the matter propagators to be inserted. The matter propagators can also be derived analogously to [67]. The principle is to add all possible permutations of k_j in the matter propagators, with the knowledge that all f_{ℓ} are the same function. These permutations are independent of the dimension of k_j and

¹⁰Note that n = 1 is the tree level diagram, n = 2 is the one-loop contribution, and so on. So, n counts the number of virtual gravitons exchanged. This equation is the analog of eq (3.1) of [67], with gravitational vertices replacing the meson ones, and adapted to two dimensions, with $q = p_1 - p_3 = 0$.

therefore, the result is very similar:

$$i\mathcal{M}_{n} = -\frac{\gamma^{2}s^{2}}{n!} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}k}{(2\pi^{2})} 2\,i\,\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}\left(k\right) \int \mathrm{d}^{2}x \,e^{-ik\cdot x}(i\chi)^{n-1},$$

$$\chi \coloneqq -i\gamma^{2}s^{2} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}k}{(2\pi)^{2}} \left(2i\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}\left(k\right)\right) e^{-ik\cdot x} \left[\frac{1}{-2p_{1}\cdot k - i\epsilon}\frac{1}{2p_{2}\cdot k - i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{-2p_{1}\cdot k - i\epsilon}\frac{1}{-2p_{2}\cdot k - i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2p_{1}\cdot k - i\epsilon}\frac{1}{2p_{2}\cdot k - i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2p_{1}\cdot k - i\epsilon}\frac{1}{2p_{2}\cdot k - i\epsilon}\right].$$
(5.3)

The expression of χ can be mass aged to find

$$\chi = -i\gamma^2 s^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 k}{(2\pi)^2} \left(2i\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}(k) \right) e^{-ik \cdot x} \left[\frac{1}{2p_1 \cdot k + i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2p_1 \cdot k - i\epsilon} \right] \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{2p_2 \cdot k + i\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2p_2 \cdot k - i\epsilon} \right].$$
(5.4)

Using the identity (2.11), we now find

$$\chi = -\gamma^2 s^2 \int d^2k \left(2\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}(k) \right) e^{-ik \cdot x} \delta \left(2p_1 \cdot k \right) \delta \left(2p_2 \cdot k \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \gamma^2 s \, \mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}(0)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4} \gamma^2 s \, f_{\ell}.$$
(5.5)

Owing to the lack of any transverse directions (they have been integrated out), we see that the soft limit is indeed forced upon us. Consequently, the ultraviolet tail in the graviton propagator is rendered inconsequential. Now, since χ is independent of space-time coordinates in this case, the amplitude can be written as

$$i\mathcal{M}_{n} = -\frac{\gamma^{2}s^{2}(i\chi)^{n-1}}{n!} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}k}{(2\pi^{2})} \left(2i\mathcal{P}_{\ell}^{xxyy}(k)\right) \int \mathrm{d}^{2}x e^{-ik\cdot x} \,.$$
(5.6)

Using that

$$\int d^2 x e^{-ik \cdot x} = (2\pi)^2 \,\delta^{(2)}(k) , \qquad (5.7)$$

we find for the general loop amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M}_{n} = -i\frac{\gamma^{2}s^{2}(i\chi)^{n-1}}{n!}f_{\ell} = 4s\frac{(i\chi)^{n}}{n!}.$$
(5.8)

Therefore, the complete resummed non-perturbative amplitude can be written as two independent sums; one each for the *transfer* and *conserved* channels:

$$i\mathcal{M} = i\mathcal{M}_{transfer} + i\mathcal{M}_{conserved}$$

= $4s \left(\sum_{n \text{ odd}}^{\infty} \frac{(i\chi)^n}{n!} + \sum_{n \text{ even}}^{\infty} \frac{(i\chi)^n}{n!} \right)$
= $4s \left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(i\chi)^{2m+1}}{(2m+1)!} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m \chi^{2m}}{(2m)!} \right)$
= $4s (\exp(i\chi) - 1)$. (5.9)

Restoring factors of \hbar which we have so far been negligent about, and substituting for χ , we find¹¹

$$i\mathcal{M} = 4p_{in}p_{out} \left[\exp\left(i\frac{\gamma^2 R_S^2}{\hbar \left(\ell^2 + \ell + 2\right)}p_{in}p_{out}\right) - 1\right] \\ = 4p_{in}p_{out} \left[\exp\left(i\frac{8\pi G_N}{\hbar \left(\ell^2 + \ell + 2\right)}p_{in}p_{out}\right) - 1\right], \qquad (5.10)$$

where we have used the definition of γ , given in (4.72) and that $\lambda = \ell^2 + \ell + 1$, and relabelled the momenta from p_1 and p_2 to p_{in} and p_{out} . This amplitude is non-perturbative in $\gamma \sim M_{Pl}/M_{BH}$ and \hbar . Of course, it ignores effects that arise strictly from the Planck scale. Moreover, we have worked to leading order in $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$. Unlike in flat space, this condition is easy to satisfy. In fact, it is actually difficult to violate with Standard Model particles, for large semi-classical black holes.

It is now straight forward to notice, upon Fourier transforming the right hand side, that this amplitude is only non-vanishing when

$$y_{out} = \frac{8\pi G_N}{\ell^2 + \ell + 2} p_{in} \,. \tag{5.11}$$

Similar to what was expected from a first quantised formalism [42, 43, 44], this calculation suggests that near a black hole, creation and annihilation operators for in and out states, are also related by Fourier transforms in this second quantised description. However, there is a mysterious discrepancy in the denominator in comparison to the first quantised results. It is to this discrepancy that we now turn to.

5.2 An apparent discrepancy demystified

Analysis from first quantisation, where wavefunctions on a fixed non-linearly backreacted Dray-'t Hooft metric formed the starting point, suggested the relation

$$y_{out} = \frac{8\pi G_N}{\ell^2 + \ell + 1} p_{in} \tag{5.12}$$

¹¹Analytically continuing n to zero neutralises the extra factor of 1. This would correspond to situation where no gravitons are exchanged, and the particles move without interactions. This also accounts for the normalisation, which arises from the disconnected product of two-point functions.

instead of the expression we found in (5.11). The Dray-'t Hooft metric can be readily checked to satisfy equations of motion only with (5.12). So, the first temptation is to fear the correctness of (5.11). Tracing back the origins of the factor $\ell^2 + \ell + 2 = \lambda + 1$, we see that it arises from the tensorial operator (4.4d). The only components that were relevant for the scattering in the black hole eikonal limit are:

$$\Delta_{xxyy}^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \left(\lambda + 1 + x\partial_x - y\partial_y\right)$$

$$\Delta_{yyxx}^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \left(\lambda + 1 + y\partial_y - x\partial_x\right).$$
 (5.13)

The on-shell metric perturbation that led to the Shapiro delay was given by (see Appendix C):

$$h_{xx} = 2A(x,y) \delta(x) F_{\ell m}, \qquad (5.14)$$

where we replaced the angular function $F(\Omega)$ by its partial wave counterpart. In particular, recall that h_{yy} is vanishing. From the effective two-dimensional action (4.17), we identify the first order variation of the Einstein tensor to be $G_{xx} = \Delta_{xxyy}^{-1} h_{xx}$. Writing it out, we find

$$G_{xx} = -\mu^2 A(x, y) F_{\ell m} \delta(x) \left(\lambda + 1\right) - \mu^2 A(x, y) F_{\ell m} x \partial_x \delta(x) - \mu^2 F_{\ell m} \delta(x) \left(x \partial_x - y \partial_y\right) A(x, y) .$$
(5.15)

It can now be checked that $(x\partial_x - y\partial_y) A(x, y) = 0$, using the derivatives from Appendix B.1. We are therefore left with

$$G_{xx} = -\mu^2 F_{\ell m} \lambda, \qquad (5.16)$$

which is consistent with the on-shell Dray-'t Hooft result. This confirms that the tensorial operator Δ_{abcd}^{-1} is indeed correct, the near horizon approximation in Section 4.1 notwithstanding.

An important conclusion from this analysis is therefore that the discrepancy lies in the delta functions. For the Shapiro delay, we have that

$$(x\partial_x - y\partial_y)\,\delta(x) = -\delta(x) . \tag{5.17}$$

This was indeed the fact that resulted in the appropriate on-shell solution as we just saw. On the contrary, in inverting the propagator in Section 4.2, we used a double Dirac delta function, $\delta^{(2)}(x - x') = \delta(x - x') \delta(y - y')$. Therefore, we will now have that

$$\left(x\partial_x - y\partial_y\right)\delta^{(2)}\left(x - x'\right) = 0.$$
(5.18)

The term arising from the y piece cancels the one arising from the x piece. One may now wonder if introducing a metric perturbation h_{yy} in addition to h_{xx} would resolve the issue. For instance, consider splitting the metric perturbations on the future and past horizons as

$$\mathfrak{h}_{ab}(x,y) = \mathfrak{h}_{ab}^{+}(x)\,\delta(y) + \mathfrak{h}_{ab}^{-}(y)\,\delta(x) , \qquad (5.19)$$

where \mathfrak{h}_{ab}^{-} is defined on the past horizon while \mathfrak{h}_{ab}^{+} on the future horizon. This does not solve the problem, as can be checked; in addition to terms proportional to λ , additional $\lambda + 2$ terms arise. One may be tempted to further restrict the perturbations as (see Section 2.3 of [14]):

$$\mathfrak{h}_{xx}(x,y) = \mathfrak{h}_{xx}^{-}(y)\,\delta(x) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{h}_{yy}(x,y) = \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^{+}(x)\,\delta(y) \,. \tag{5.20}$$

But with this, we recover the on-shell Shapiro delay again. Therefore, if we are to restrict the possible metric perturbations, the only resulting possibility is the on-shell Dray-'t Hooft solution, leaving the different factor in (5.11) still mysterious.

In the black hole eikonal limit, we saw that the transverse mode \mathcal{K} does not contribute. So, it suffices to focus on the relevant part of the action (4.17):

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2 x \left(\mathfrak{h}^{xx} \Delta_{xxyy}^{-1} \mathfrak{h}^{yy} + (x \leftrightarrow y) \right) \,. \tag{5.21}$$

Focusing on the Δ_{xxyy}^{-1} term, and plugging in the Shapiro delay perturbations (5.20) into the above action, we find

$$S = -\frac{1}{8}\mu^2 \int \mathrm{d}^2 x \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) \delta(y) \big(\lambda + 1 + x\partial_x - y\partial_y\big) \mathfrak{h}_{xx}^-(y) \delta(x) \,. \tag{5.22}$$

The factor $x\partial_x \delta(x)$ can be integrated by parts:

$$\int dx \ \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) x \partial_x \delta(x) = -\int dx \ \delta(x) \partial_x \left(x \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) \right)$$
$$= -\int dx \ \delta(x) \left(1 + x \partial_x \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) \right), \qquad (5.23)$$

where the boundary terms cancel exactly because $\delta(\pm \infty) = 0$. Using this relation, the above action can be rewritten as

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2 x \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) \delta(y) \left(-\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \lambda\right) \mathfrak{h}_{xx}^-(y) \delta(x) + \frac{1}{8} \int d^2 x \delta(x) \delta(y) \left(x \partial_x + y \partial_y\right) \mathfrak{h}_{xx}^-(y) \mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(x) .$$
(5.24)

The last term is now easily simplified since the delta functions do not have any derivatives on them anymore. Therefore we may simply remove the integrals and set x = 0 = y. However, in that case $x\partial_x + y\partial_y = 0$ provided $\mathfrak{h}_{xx}^-(0)$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{yy}^+(0)$ are regular. We therefore have

$$S = \frac{1}{4} \int d^2 x \left(\mathfrak{h}^{xx} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \mu^2 \lambda \right) \mathfrak{h}^{yy} + (x \leftrightarrow y) \right) , \qquad (5.25)$$

where we reinserted (5.20). Comparison with (5.21) now shows that we can identify $\Delta_{xxyy}^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\mu^2\lambda$. Inversion is now straightforward:

$$\Delta_{xxyy} = \Delta_{yyxx} = -\frac{2}{\mu^2 \lambda} = -\frac{2}{\mu^2 (\ell^2 + \ell + 1)}.$$
(5.26)

This gives the on-shell Shapiro delay factor to reproduce (5.12). This proves that the discrepancy between (5.12) and (5.11) really arises from a choice of the specific shape of the metric perturbations made in the first quantisation calculations of [42, 43, 44]. Therefore, we conclude that allowing for arbitrary off-shell perturbations generalises this relation, resulting in (5.11). It is remarkable that the result is a mere renormalisation of the prefactor. Considering the $\ell = 0$ mode, which is the most dominant, this results in a factor of two compared to the first quantisation calculations; it is of interest to understand this better.

6 Discussion and conclusions

In this paper, we have argued that the geometric optics approximation of Hawking is invalid when the wavefronts are traced back to the region near the central causal diamond (see Fig. 9); this is owed to the strong gravitational interactions in this region. To repair this problem, we studied $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering mediated by virtual gravitons, near this region; this near horizon region is curved and the familiar eikonal phase around flat space does not capture this physics. We found that there is a remarkable limit in quantum gravity, namely the $\sqrt{s} \gg \gamma M_{Pl}$ regime near the black hole horizon, where an infinite number of graviton exchange diagrams can be resummed exactly in $\gamma \sim M_{Pl}/M_{BH}$. We name this the black hole eikonal phase of quantum gravity. Only upon this resummation does one recover a scattering matrix that is a pure phase, a unitary one. This may be seen as vindication for popular belief that semi-classical gravity or perturbative corrections thereof are insufficient to resolve the information paradox. While in this paper we have only study the elastic $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitudes which are naturally suppressed at high energies, the effective field theory we set up captures exponentially many such general $2 \rightarrow N$ amplitudes, and leave these amplitudes for future work. We expect that these conspire to provide for a resolution to the information paradox. Moreover, our calculation has explicitly ignored any potential Planckian physics (by the choice that impact parameters be larger than Planck length). Therefore, it also confirms the expectation that the information problem is an emergent one arising at scales of the order of the Schwarzschild radius. The calculation also forces us to conclude that the non-renormalisability of quantum gravity is irrelevant to the resolution of the information paradox; ultraviolet completions are hidden in the hard sector, whereas the calculation forced us to consider soft gravitons with vanishing momenta in all the ladder diagrams. Given the universality of the result, the problem of unitarity (in effective field theory) itself does not seem to guide us to a specific ultraviolet completion of quantum gravity. Nevertheless, there is a clear path to include subleading corrections arising from the transverse scalar field \mathcal{K} , the odd-parity graviton mode, and the sub-leading contributions in the black hole eikonal limit. None of these may be analytically re-summable to all orders, but the techniques developed in this article certainly lay the path for order-by-order inclusions of these effects, in perturbation theory. It is not impossible or unreasonable that a theory such as String Theory may emerge in the ultraviolet [87, 88].



Figure 9. In Hawking's calculation of thermal radiation emanating from the black hole [1, 2], wavefronts were naively extended to the past, near the central causal diamond, and further back on to the past horizon. In this article we argued that this is invalid owing to the strong gravitational interactions near the horizon that result in graviton exchange processes between in and out going quanta; the exchanged off-shell gravitons are found to be soft.

Of course, in addition to the shortcomings pointed out in the companion article [78], a natural complaint that may be raised is that the apparent horizon is radically different in nature to a Schwarzschild horizon. This is a complaint that may have been raised against Hawking's computation too. Even for collapsing black holes, provided they are large enough, this is expected to be a reliable approximation.

A perhaps more realistic apparent horizon is shown in Fig. 10, taken from [89]. While trapped surfaces were shown to dynamically form in Christodoulou's monumental work [90], apparent horizons (which are marginally trapped) have also been proved to dynamically form [91]. Moreover, black hole mechanics can be established for apparent horizons should they be smooth and spacelike [92, 93]. In the present article, the most important ingredient that came from the horizon is the conformal flatness of the effective two-dimensional metric that allowed us to derive the effective two dimensional propagator. Given that the soft limit of the graviton propagator was the only necessary component in the end, a more realistic model of the apparent horizon may only change the soft factor, leaving behind the general lessons learnt unchanged.



Figure 10. A depiction of a more realistic apparent horizon than the crude approximation made in this article. Figure taken from [89].

Given the insensitivity of the resolution presented in this article to ultraviolet physics, it is natural to ask how our proposal squares with some of the existing proposals for the resolution of the information paradox. Here, we consider a few proposals and speculate on this matter.

Soft hair Renewed interest in asymptotic symmetries has also provided hope that soft quantum hair could pave the way forward to information recovery from the horizon; it has also been shown that shockwaves inserted on past infinity implant soft hair on the horizon [94, 95, 96, 97, 98]. More generally, the soft sector of the gravitational scattering matrix has also received recent attention [99]. In fact, the Dray-'t Hooft metric can be shown to arise from supertranslations and to contain superrotation charges on the horizon [100, 101]. Given that the backreacted Dray-'t Hooft solution is closely related to what can be derived from the re-summed amplitude (5.10), it is not inconceivable that the scattering matrix can be (at least partially) recast in the language of soft hair on the horizon; it is also worthwhile to note there are no infrared divergences in our calculations. Furthermore, the black hole eikonal

phase may have interesting implications for sub-dominant soft graviton theorems near the horizon.

Islands An increasingly popular suggestion is that information recovery must be seen to arise from additional saddles in the Euclidean path integral, or via replica wormholes in the Lorentzian picture, leading to the so called island formula that is claimed to trace the correct Page curve behaviour to restore unitarity [102, 103, 104]. Morally speaking, islands imply that information behind the horizon is captured by radiation. This is consistent with the present calculation and in fact, our calculation shows a dynamical process that achieves this; namely, via graviton exchange. The general lessons from the island computations may be seen as twofold: i) unitarity in black hole evaporation does not necessarily rely on the ultraviolet details of the theory, and ii) information retrieval is a non-perturbative process. The present calculation is in line with both of these expectations. An interesting caveat in the island computations is the necessity of massive gravitons for black holes in dimensions greater than three [105, 106]. It is very tempting to ask if the effective two-dimensional mass that the graviton has gained in our calculation (whilst the four-dimensional graviton remains massless) is related to this. Finally, given that we present a unitary scattering matrix that describes evolution, the notion of a Page curve is unnatural in the scattering process. Should one insist on the Page curve and generate the information paradox, one may simply set $\gamma \sim \sqrt{G_N}/R_S = 0$; this essentially ignores all the interactions that resolve the problem. However, in our effective field theory, Page time is likely to naturally arise from longer Wigner's time delays from general $2 \rightarrow N$ scattering matrices, whereas scrambling time is naturally encoded in the resummed $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude [44] under consideration in the present paper.

Fuzzballs A traditional black hole has been called by Mathur as an 'information-free' one, and small corrections have been claimed to be insufficient to restore unitarity [107]. Instead, new fuzzy structure is introduced, and an exponentially large number of such structures are claimed to explain the degeneracy of states. Our calculation shows that the Schwarzschild horizon is not information free in that it hosts soft gravitons. Furthermore, again in line with expectation, a perturbative order-by-order analysis is insufficient for unitarity and a complete resummation in $\gamma \sim M_{Pl}/M_{BH}$ is necessary. Although the fuzzball line of thought may question if a classical horizon forms at all [108], it needs to be reconciled with the expectation that apparent horizons do dynamically form [91]. It is clear, in either case, that our calculation and the fuzzball proposal would yield different gravitational wave echoes leaking out of the classical Regge-Wheeler potential. The present calculation has no free parameters and may provide for disambiguation [109]. Finally, it is worthwhile to note that nearly every precise statement made about fuzzballs has been in the context of supersymmetric, extremal, or near extremal black holes inspired from string theory. In the present article, we make no assumptions about a putative ultraviolet completion. Soft but strong corrections Giddings has suggested that the resolution of the information paradox will require 'soft but strong' corrections to the traditional Hawking calculation; see [110] and references therein. Our calculation validates this expectation and specifies what needs to be soft and what needs to be strong. The exchanged virtual gravitons near the horizon are soft. A weak correction in perturbation theory in γ is insufficient and a resummation is warranted.

'Holographic' null infinity Another recent proposal for the resolution of the information paradox is that the information can always be recovered from an infinitesimal neighbourhood of the past boundary of future null infinity [111, 112]. If we interpret this proposal as the statement that 'information is always present outside the horizon', as has been advocated, this is consistent with the calculation in the present article.

Planckian remnants Given that a unitary scattering matrix can be achieved with impact parameters $b \gg L_{Pl}$, the present calculation leads us to expect that one need not rely on the details of Planckian physics for the information problem.

Outlook and future work Several directions for future work are listed in the companion article [78]. Here, we list a few more.

In the present article, we only considered three point interaction vertices that came with one solid line and one dashed line (corresponding to one field with angular momentum and another without). It would be interesting to understand the role that vertices and diagrams of the kind in Fig. 11 may play in the theory. It would also be interesting to extend our



Figure 11. The vertices considered in this article had a solid and a dashed line, whereas diagrams of this kind are possibly also allowed. Given that these would exchange the *s*-wave graviton, they may be crucial in determining the change in mass of the black hole due to the scattering.

calculation to include additional external legs, and massive scalar fields. In the latter case in particular, the \mathfrak{h}_{xy} component of the graviton is now expected to contribute. While the former might allow for an obvious extension of the chaos bound [26] to *n*-point functions. It is of course also interesting to explore the role of additional non-linearities arsing from graviton self-couplings, in the soft limit. For instance, a three point self-interaction would immediately allow for a study of $2 \rightarrow 2$ graviton scattering [113]. This would allow us to ask if there are 'graviballs' near the horizon, much like glueballs in QCD. Studying graviballs in the flat space eikonal regime introduces the familiar infrared divergences and unfixed parameters [114]. These may be naturally addressed near the horizon using the tools developed in this article.

Owing to the Weyl rescaling we were able to perform in Section 3.7.1, we could define flat space kinematics despite being in a gravitationally interacting regime. This means that essentially every improvement done on flat space eikonal physics could potentially be repeated near the horizon using our techniques. Effective two-dimensional theories to study this region have long been sought after [115, 116, 117]. Our two-dimensional effective theory may well provide for a good starting point. Some microscopic proposals for two-dimensional models may be found in [118, 119].

It would also be interesting to explore if an emergent scale can be incorporated into Schwarzian quantum mechanics to capture the sub-leading dynamics (governed by the field \mathcal{K} resulting in the tree-level amplitude (4.69), for instance) of four-dimensional black holes, in an analysis similar to the one carried out in [33].

The flat space eikonal phase has also been extended to Anti de-Sitter spacetimes [120, 121, 122, 123, 124]. The Regge-Wheeler gauge is also well understood in AdS [125, 126]. All results and analyses in the present article can easily be extended to AdS. This should provide a window into studying the information paradox for small black holes in AdS. Moreover, a boundary calculation of the re-summation of the ladder diagrams on the horizon is also of significant interest. An eikonal exponentiation in the context of OTOCs in 2d holographic CFTs and their relevance to extremal BTZ black holes and corresponding microstate geometries was recently discussed in [127, 128].

Another avenue worth exploring is the relevance of the black hole eikonal phase introduced in this article for general constraints on graviton couplings [129, 130, 131].

It is also interesting to explore any observational consequences of the black hole eikonal phase [109], for the distant observer; this requires an accounting of the classical Regge-Wheeler potential further away from the horizon.

To end, it would be a grave injustice to nature to not refer to another important emergent scale in quantum gravity, namely the size of the cosmological horizon. It shares features with the black hole horizon [132] and appears to have a large number of hitherto unexplained microstates. Although the appropriate asymptotic gauge-invariant states are far more tricky to define in quantum cosmology, the possibility of near-horizon asymptotic states giving rise to a *cosmological eikonal phase* of quantum gravity shall certainly not be lost on us.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Tarek Anous, Tom Banks, Panos Betzios, Anne Franzen, Steve Giddings, Umut Gürsoy, Gerard 't Hooft, Olga Papadoulaki, Tomislav Prokopec, Suvrat Raju, and Lenny Susskind for various conversations, questions, comments, and criticism that helped us greatly improve this article. This work is supported by the Delta-Institute for Theoretical Physics (D-ITP) that is funded by the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (OCW).

A Metric fluctuations

A.1 Quadratic action

We start with the Einstein-Hilbert action:

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\bar{g}}\bar{R}.$$
 (A.1)

Metric fluctuations are defined in the background field method about an arbitrary background as $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + \kappa h_{\mu\nu}$. Assuming that the background $g_{\mu\nu}$ is a vacuum solution of the equations of motion implies that the on-shell action and the variation of it to linear order in $h_{\mu\nu}$ vanish. In the soft limit, therefore, the path integral is dominated by quadratic terms in $h_{\mu\nu}$:

$$S_{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \int d^4x' \frac{\delta^2 S_{EH}}{\delta \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}(x) \delta \bar{g}^{\rho\sigma}(x')} \bigg|_{\bar{g}=g} h^{\mu\nu}(x) h^{\rho\sigma}(x') \,. \tag{A.2}$$

We now expand $\sqrt{-g}$ and R then

$$\sqrt{-\bar{g}} = \sqrt{-g} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}\kappa h + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2 h^2) \right), \tag{A.3}$$

$$\bar{R} = R^{(1)} + R^{(2)} + O(h^3)$$
 (A.4)

where we defined $h = g_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}$ and the subscripts on the Ricci scalar stand for the order in the metric fluctuations. We can then write

$$\sqrt{-\bar{g}}\bar{R} = \sqrt{-g} \left[-\left(h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}h\right) R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} + g^{\mu\nu}R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \right], \qquad (A.5)$$

where we have only written the quadratic terms. Therefore, we have

$$S_2 = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[-\left(h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_s^{\mu\nu}h\right) R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} + g^{\mu\nu}R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu} \right].$$
(A.6)

Variation of the Ricci tensor The Palatini identity gives a variation of the Ricci tensor $\delta \bar{R} = R[g + \kappa h] - R[g]$:

$$\delta R_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\rho} \delta \tilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} \delta \tilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\rho\mu} \quad \text{with} \quad \delta \tilde{\Gamma} = \Gamma[g + \kappa h] - \Gamma[g] , \qquad (A.7)$$

where the covariant derivatives are associated to the background metric. Since this identity holds to all orders in perturbation theory, we observe that $R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu}$ is in fact a total derivative. Therefore, the term containing $R^{(2)}_{\mu\nu}$ vanishes identically owing to vanishing boundary conditions. We therefore only need to find $\delta \bar{R}_{\mu\nu}$ up to first order since $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$ for the background vacuum solution. We write the first order variation as

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\rho} \Gamma^{(1),\rho}_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} \Gamma^{(1),\rho}_{\rho\mu}.$$
 (A.8)

The variation of the Christoffel symbol to first order is written as follows:

$$\delta \bar{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} h^{\rho\sigma} \left(\partial_{\mu} g_{\sigma\nu} + \partial_{\nu} g_{\sigma\mu} - \partial_{\sigma} g_{\mu\nu} \right) + \frac{1}{2} g^{\rho\sigma} \left(\partial_{\mu} h_{\sigma\nu} + \partial_{\nu} h_{\sigma\mu} - \partial_{\sigma} h_{\mu\nu} \right)$$

$$= -h^{\rho\alpha} g_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} g^{\rho\sigma} \left(\nabla_{\mu} h_{\sigma\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} h_{\sigma\mu} - \nabla_{\sigma} h_{\mu\nu} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} g^{\rho\sigma} \left(\underline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu\sigma} h_{\alpha\nu} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} h_{\alpha\sigma} + \underline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\nu\sigma} h_{\alpha\mu} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} h_{\alpha\sigma} - \underline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\sigma\mu} h_{\alpha\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \underline{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\sigma\nu} h_{\alpha\nu} \right)^{2}$$

$$= - \frac{h^{\rho\alpha} g^{s}_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\theta,\beta}_{\mu\nu} + g^{\rho\sigma}_{s} \left(\nabla^{s}_{(\mu} h_{\nu)\sigma} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{s}_{\sigma} h_{\mu\nu} \right) + g^{\rho\sigma}_{s} \underline{\Gamma}^{\theta,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} h_{\alpha\sigma}^{3} \qquad (A.9)$$

where the identically numbered terms cancel each other in the last two lines. The Ricci tensor is thus given by

$$R^{(1)}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\rho\sigma} \left(\nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\mu} h_{\nu\sigma} + \nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\nu} h_{\mu\sigma} - \nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\sigma} h_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} h_{\rho\sigma} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(2 \nabla^{\sigma} \nabla_{(\mu} h_{\nu)\sigma} - \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} h \right).$$
(A.10)

In addition to the kinetic term for the matter fields, we also have the interaction term given by

$$S_{\text{int}} = -\int d^4x \frac{\delta S_M}{\delta \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}(x)} \Big|_{\bar{g}=g} h^{\mu\nu}(x) \,. \tag{A.11}$$

B Some definitions and calculations

B.1 Metric and coordinates

We work in Kruskal-Szekeres coordinates that are defined as

$$xy = 2R^2 \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right) e^{\frac{r}{R} - 1},\tag{B.1}$$

$$x/y = e^{2\tau}. (B.2)$$

Here $\tau = \frac{t}{2R}$. We will often write these as a two-vector x^a where $x^x = x, x^y = y$. Here $a = \{x, y\}$ denotes a light-cone index and $A = \{\theta, \phi\}$ a two-sphere index. The quantity R is the Schwarzschild radius

$$R = 2GM, \qquad \mu \equiv \frac{1}{R} \tag{B.3}$$

where we will work with the effective mass μ more often. We work in natural units where $\hbar = c = 1$. The metric in these coordinates is given by

$$ds^{2} = -2A(r)dxdy + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}, \qquad (B.4)$$

$$A(r) = \frac{R}{r}e^{1-\frac{r}{R}} \tag{B.5}$$

where r = r(x, y) is a function of both the light-cone coordinates. Our metric convention is the (-, +, +, +) signature. This metric has the following matrix definitions:

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -A & 0 & 0 \\ -A & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r^2 \sin^2 \theta \end{pmatrix} g^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -A^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ -A^{-1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r^{-2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & r^{-2} \sin^{-2} \theta \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.6)

On r = R we find A = 1 such that the metric is given by

$$ds^2 = -2dxdy + R^2 d\Omega^2, \ (r = R).$$
 (B.7)

Light-cone derivatives: Here we list the derivatives of A and r with respect to the lightcone coordinates. The derivative on r can be found by implicit differentiation on (B.1) to be

$$\partial_a r = \frac{1}{2R} x_a \tag{B.8}$$

where $x_a = g_{ab}x^b$. The derivative of A(r) is then:

$$\partial_a A = \partial_r A \partial_a r = -\frac{A}{2R} \left(\frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{R}\right) x_a.$$
 (B.9)

When evaluated on r = R these functions have the following derivatives on the horizon:

$$\partial_a A = \partial_a r = 0$$
, for any a on $r = R$, (B.10)

$$\partial_x \partial_y r \bigg|_{r=R} = -\frac{1}{2R},\tag{B.11}$$

$$\partial_x \partial_y A \bigg|_{r=R} = \frac{1}{R^2}.$$
 (B.12)

(B.13)

Christoffel symbols: The non-vanishing Christoffel symbols of the Schwarzschild metric in Kruskal-Szekeres coordinates are given by

$$\Gamma^x_{xx} = \partial_x \log A,\tag{B.14}$$

$$\Gamma^{y}_{yy} = \partial_y \log A, \tag{B.15}$$

$$\Gamma^{\theta}_{\theta x} = \Gamma^{\theta}_{x\theta} = \Gamma^{\phi}_{\phi x} = \Gamma^{\phi}_{x\phi} = \partial_x \log r, \qquad (B.16)$$

$$\Gamma^{\theta}_{\theta y} = \Gamma^{\theta}_{y\theta} = \Gamma^{\phi}_{\phi y} = \Gamma^{\phi}_{y\phi} = \partial_y \log r, \tag{B.17}$$

$$\Gamma^{\phi}_{\theta\phi} = \Gamma^{\phi}_{\phi\theta} = -\sin^{-2}\theta\Gamma^{\theta}_{\phi\phi} = \cot\theta, \qquad (B.18)$$

$$\Gamma^x_{\theta\theta} = \sin^{-2}\theta\Gamma^x_{\phi\phi} = \frac{1}{2A}\partial_y r^2, \tag{B.19}$$

$$\Gamma^{y}_{\theta\theta} = \sin^{-2}\theta\Gamma^{y}_{\phi\phi} = \frac{1}{2A}\partial_{x}r^{2}.$$
(B.20)

The Riemann tensor: We define the Riemann tensor as

$$R^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma\nu} = \partial_{\sigma}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\kappa}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\kappa}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\sigma\nu}.$$
(B.21)

The Ricci tensor is then given by

$$R_{\mu\nu} = R^{\rho}_{\ \mu\rho\nu}.\tag{B.22}$$

For the Schwarzschild metric the Ricci tensor and scalar vanish identically. Here we list all non-vanishing components of the Riemann tensor:

$$R_{xyxy} = \partial_x \partial_y \log A \,, \tag{B.23}$$

$$R_{x\theta x\theta} = \frac{r\partial_x A \partial_x r - A \partial_x^2 r}{A}, \qquad (B.24)$$

$$R_{x\phi x\phi} = \sin^2 \theta R_{x\theta x\theta}, \qquad (B.25)$$

$$R_{y\theta y\theta} = \frac{r \partial_y A \partial_y r - A \partial_y^2 r}{A}, \qquad (B.26)$$

$$R_{y\phi y\phi} = \sin^2 \theta R_{y\theta y\theta}, \qquad (B.27)$$

$$R_{x\theta y\theta} = -r\partial_x \partial_y r, \qquad (B.28)$$

$$R_{x\phi y\phi} = \sin^2 \theta R_{x\theta y\theta}, \qquad (B.29)$$

$$R_{\theta\phi\theta\phi} = r^2 \sin^2\theta \left(1 + \frac{2\partial_x r \partial_y r}{A}\right).$$
(B.30)

B.2 The antisymmetric Levi-Civita tensor

Here we define the antisymmetric tensor on S_2 by

$$\epsilon_{AB} = r^2 \sin \theta \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{B.31}$$

i.e. $\epsilon_{\theta\phi} = r^2 \sin \theta = -\epsilon_{\phi\theta}$. Raising and lowering goes with the metric, so for the more common form $\epsilon_A^{\ B}$ we have

$$\epsilon_A{}^B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sin\theta \\ -\csc\theta & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{B.32}$$

Lastly for the twice raised form we have

$$\epsilon^{AB} = \frac{1}{r^2 \sin \theta} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (B.33)

The antisymmetric tensor on the light-cone is defined similarly, although now we work on r = R. It is given by

$$\epsilon^{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \epsilon_{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{B.34}$$

B.3 Quadratic operators reduced to two dimensions

In this appendix we formulate the relevant quantities in the action (3.66) in terms of the twodimensional metric g_{ab} , its corresponding derivatives, and the residual curvature components arising from the two-sphere. In deriving these identities it is crucial that

$$\partial_A K = \partial_A H_b^a = 0, \qquad (B.35)$$

$$g_{aA} = 0, \qquad (B.36)$$

$$\Gamma^A_{ab} = \Gamma^a_{bA} = 0. \tag{B.37}$$

These ensure a clear split between the light-cone and two-sphere contributions. The terms proportional to $\ell(\ell + 1)$ in the definition of G in (3.65) are straightforward. Since $h_b^a = H_b^a$ and $h_B^A = \delta_B^A K$, the only components of interest are $G^A{}_{A\rho}{}^{\sigma}$ and $G^a{}_{b\rho}{}^{\sigma}$. The two-sphere indices are always contracted. As it turns out, checked by explicit calculation, Γ_{BC}^A cancels in the calculation, largely owing to either (B.35) or the fact that the two-sphere indices are contracted. Furthermore, using (B.35) and (B.37) we find that the only curvature remnant of the two-sphere is neatly embedded in the following vector potential

$$V_a := \Gamma_{Aa}^A = -g_{ab}g^{AB}\Gamma_{AB}^b.$$
(B.38)

We now write down all calculated expressions in terms of the light-cone metric and V_a . The first relevant expression is

$$G^{A}{}_{A\rho}{}^{\sigma}h^{\rho}_{\sigma} = 2\nabla^{\rho}\nabla_{A}h^{A}_{\rho} - 2\nabla^{\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}h^{\rho}_{\sigma} - \nabla_{A}\nabla^{A}h + 2\Box h - \Box h^{A}_{A}.$$
(B.39)

Each of these terms can be expressed in terms of the two-dimensional quantities

$$\nabla^{\rho}\nabla_{A}h^{A}_{\rho} = \tilde{\nabla}^{a}\left(V_{b}H^{b}_{a}\right) + \frac{3}{2}V^{a}V_{b}H^{b}_{a} - \left(\tilde{\nabla}^{a}V_{a}\right)K - \frac{3}{2}V^{a}V_{a}K, \qquad (B.40)$$

$$\nabla^{\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}h^{\rho}_{\sigma} = \tilde{\nabla}^{a}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}H^{b}_{a} + V^{a}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}H^{b}_{a} + \tilde{\nabla}^{a}\left(V_{b}H^{b}_{a}\right) + V^{a}V_{b}H^{b}_{a} - \tilde{\nabla}^{a}\left(V_{a}K\right) - V_{a}V^{a}K, \quad (B.41)$$

$$\nabla_{\sigma}\nabla^{A}H_{\sigma} = V\tilde{\nabla}^{a}H^{b}_{\sigma} + 2V\tilde{\nabla}^{a}H^{b}_{\sigma} + (V_{a}V_{a}) + V^{a}V_{b}H^{b}_{a} - \tilde{\nabla}^{a}\left(V_{a}K\right) - V_{a}V^{a}K, \quad (B.41)$$

$$\nabla_A \nabla^A h = V_a \nabla^a H_b^0 + 2V_a \nabla^a K, \qquad (B.42)$$

$$\Box h = \tilde{\Box} H^a + V \tilde{\Sigma}^b H^a + 2\tilde{\Box} K + 2V \tilde{\Sigma}^b K \qquad (B.43)$$

$$\Box h = \Box H_{a}^{a} + V_{b} \nabla^{2} H_{a}^{a} + 2 \Box K + 2 V_{b} \nabla^{2} K , \qquad (B.43)$$

$$\Box h_A^A = V_a V^o H_b^a + 2\Box K + 2V_a \nabla^a K - V_a V^a K.$$
(B.44)

The other relevant expression is given by

$$G^{a}{}_{b\rho}{}^{\sigma}h^{\rho}_{\sigma} = \nabla^{\rho}\nabla_{b}h^{a}_{\rho} + \nabla_{\rho}\nabla^{a}h^{\rho}_{b} - \delta^{a}_{b}\nabla^{\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}h^{\rho}_{\sigma} - \nabla^{a}\nabla_{b}h + \delta^{a}_{b}\Box h - \Box h^{a}_{b}.$$
(B.45)

These terms separately give

$$\nabla^{\rho}\nabla_{b}h^{a}_{\rho} = \tilde{\nabla}^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}H^{a}_{c} - \frac{1}{2}V^{c}V_{b}H^{a}_{c} + V^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}H^{a}_{c} - V^{a}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}K + \frac{1}{2}V^{a}V_{b}K, \qquad (B.46)$$

$$\nabla_{\rho}\nabla^{a}h_{b}^{\rho} = \tilde{\nabla}_{c}\tilde{\nabla}^{a}H_{b}^{c} - \frac{1}{2}V_{c}V^{a}H_{b}^{c} + V_{c}\tilde{\nabla}^{a}H_{b}^{c} - V^{b}\tilde{\nabla}_{a}K + \frac{1}{2}V^{a}V_{b}K, \qquad (B.47)$$

$$\nabla^{\sigma} \nabla_{\rho} h^{\rho}_{\sigma} = \tilde{\nabla}^{a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b} H^{b}_{a} + V^{a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b} H^{b}_{a} + \tilde{\nabla}^{a} \left(V_{b} H^{b}_{a} \right) + V^{a} V_{b} H^{b}_{a} - \tilde{\nabla}^{a} \left(V_{a} K \right) - V_{a} V^{a} K , \quad (B.48)$$

$$\nabla^a \nabla_b h = \tilde{\nabla}^a \tilde{\nabla}_b H^d_d + 2 \tilde{\nabla}^a \tilde{\nabla}_b K, \qquad (B.49)$$

$$\Box h = \tilde{\Box} H_b^b + V_a \tilde{\nabla}^a H_b^b + 2 \tilde{\Box} K + 2 V_a \tilde{\nabla}^a K, \qquad (B.50)$$

$$\Box h_b^a = \tilde{\Box} H_b^a - \frac{1}{2} V_c V^a H_b^c - \frac{1}{2} V^c V_b H_c^a + V^c \tilde{\nabla}_c H_b^a + V^a V_b K.$$
(B.51)

All these expressions are covariant on the light-cone.

B.4 Integrating the two-sphere out

In this section we present the details of the derivation of the action (3.69):

$$S_{even} = \frac{1}{4} \int \mathrm{d}x^2 \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left(\tilde{H}^{ab} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{abcd} \tilde{H}^{cd} + \tilde{H}^{ab} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{L,ab} \tilde{K} + \tilde{K} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{R,ab} \tilde{H}^{ab} + \tilde{K} \tilde{\Delta}^{-1} \tilde{K} \right).$$
(B.52)

Our starting point is

$$S_{even} = -\frac{1}{8} \sum_{\ell,m} \int d^2 x \, A(r) \, r^2 \, (h_{\ell m})^{\mu}_{\nu} \, \mathcal{G}_{\ell}{}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} \, (h_{\ell m})^{\rho}_{\sigma} \,, \qquad (B.53)$$

$$G_{\ell}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} = G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \left(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta^{\sigma}_{\rho} + \delta^{\mu}_{a} \delta^{a}_{\nu} \delta^{\sigma}_{b} \delta^{b}_{\rho} - 2\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} \delta^{\sigma}_{\nu} \right).$$
(B.54)

Thus we need to find the proper field transformations and operator redefinitions such that the above actions are identical. As mentioned earlier, the initial step will be to split spacetime into the light-cone g_{ab} and two-sphere g_{AB} pieces. The choice of field transformations will then appear naturally. For what is to come, identities in Appendix B.3 are crucial.

To find all relevant couplings between H_{ab} and K we now first split the degrees of freedom in $h^{\mu}_{\nu}G^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}{}^{\sigma}h^{\rho}_{\sigma}$. To do so we are only interested in $KG^{A}{}_{A\rho}{}^{\sigma}h^{\rho}_{\sigma}$ and $H^{b}{}_{a}G^{a}{}_{b\rho}{}^{\sigma}h^{\rho}_{\sigma}$. Using the identities listed in Appendix B.3 we find that for all relevant quantities in (3.69)

$$\tilde{G} = 2\tilde{\Box} + 2V_a \tilde{\nabla}^a \,, \tag{B.55}$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{R,ab} = 2g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} + \frac{1}{2}V_c \tilde{\nabla}^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2}\right) - 2\left(\tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b + V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)}\right), \qquad (B.56)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{L,ab} = 2g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} + V_d \tilde{\nabla}^d + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\nabla}^d V_d + \frac{1}{2} V_d V^d - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) - 2 \left(\tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b + V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)} \right), \quad (B.57)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{abcd} = g_{ac}\tilde{\nabla}_{d}\tilde{\nabla}_{b} + g_{ac}V_{d}\tilde{\nabla}_{b} + g_{bd}\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{a} + g_{bd}V_{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{a} - g_{ab}\left(\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{d} + 2V_{(c}\tilde{\nabla}_{d}) + V_{c}V_{d} + \left(\tilde{\nabla}_{(c}V_{d})\right)\right) - g_{cd}\tilde{\nabla}_{a}\tilde{\nabla}_{b} + g_{ab}g_{cd}\left(\tilde{\Box} + V^{e}\tilde{\nabla}_{e} - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}}\right) - g_{ac}g_{bd}\left(\tilde{\Box} + V^{e}\tilde{\nabla}_{e} - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}}\right).$$
(B.58)

Here we have used that all quantities are now finally covariant on the lightcone; this explains the conventional covariant index form. We also defined the residual curvature tensor of the two-sphere

$$V_a = 2\partial_a \log r \,. \tag{B.59}$$

We can now simplify (B.58) since we are in two dimensions; explicit calculation of all double covariant derivative terms for $\tilde{G}_{xxcd}H^{cd}, \tilde{G}_{yycd}H^{cd}, \tilde{G}_{xycd}H^{cd}$ shows that we can identify

$$-\tilde{R}_{acbd}H^{cd} + g_{ac}\tilde{R}_{bd}H^{cd} = g_{ac}\left[\tilde{\nabla}_d, \tilde{\nabla}_b\right]H^{cd}$$
$$= \left(g_{ac}\tilde{\nabla}_d\tilde{\nabla}_b + g_{bd}\tilde{\nabla}_c\tilde{\nabla}_a - g_{ab}\tilde{\nabla}_c\tilde{\nabla}_d - g_{cd}\tilde{\nabla}_a\tilde{\nabla}_b + g_{ab}g_{cd}\tilde{\Box} - g_{ac}g_{bd}\tilde{\Box}\right)H^{cd}.$$
(B.60)

The Riemann and Ricci tensors above are on the lightcone. Since the Riemann tensor has only one unique component in two dimensions (namely \tilde{R}_{xyxy}), we can now write:

$$R_{acbd} = \frac{R_{2d}}{2} \left(g_{ab}g_{cd} - g_{ad}g_{bc} \right), \qquad (B.61)$$

$$R_{bd} = \frac{R_{2d}}{2} g_{bd}, \qquad (B.62)$$

$$R_{2d} = \frac{2}{A} \partial_x \partial_y \log A \,. \tag{B.63}$$

The covariant derivatives above, therefore, only contribute the following:

$$\frac{R_{2d}}{2} (g_{ad}g_{bc} - g_{ab}g_{cd} + g_{ac}g_{bd})H^{cd} = \frac{R_{2d}}{2} (2g_{ac}g_{bd} - g_{ab}g_{cd})H^{cd}.$$
(B.64)

A similar procedure for all the first derivatives shows that

$$\left(g_{ac} V_d \tilde{\nabla}_b + g_{bd} V_c \tilde{\nabla}_a - 2g_{ab} V_{(c} \tilde{\nabla}_d) + g_{ab} g_{cd} V^e \tilde{\nabla}_e - g_{ac} g_{bd} V^e \tilde{\nabla}_e \right) H^{cd} = = \left(g_{ac} V_{[d} \tilde{\nabla}_{b]} + g_{bd} V_{[c} \tilde{\nabla}_{a]} - g_{ab} V_{(c} \tilde{\nabla}_d) + g_{cd} V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)} \right) H^{cd}.$$
(B.65)

Finally, we can define the operator as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{abcd} = g_{ac} V_{[d} \tilde{\nabla}_{b]} + g_{bd} V_{[c} \tilde{\nabla}_{a]} - g_{ab} \left(V_{(c} \tilde{\nabla}_{d)} + V_{c} V_{d} + \left(\tilde{\nabla}_{(c} V_{d)} \right) \right) + g_{cd} V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)} - g_{ab} g_{cd} \left(\frac{R_{2d}}{2} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}} \right) + g_{ac} g_{bd} \left(R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}} \right).$$
(B.66)

In what follows, we will work with this simplified form. The only fact we used to derive all these simplifications is that $g_{xx} = g_{yy} = 0$, i.e. the form of the metric. Using these operators the Lagrangian is written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{even} = -\frac{r^2}{8} H^{ab} \tilde{G}_{abcd} H^{cd} - \frac{r^2}{8} H^{ab} \tilde{G}_{L,ab} K - \frac{r^2}{8} K \tilde{G}_{R,ab} H^{ab} - \frac{r^2}{8} K \tilde{G} K \,. \tag{B.67}$$

Now there is a disconcerting presence of r^2 in this Lagrangian. Since the metric is now g_{ab} , not all covariant derivatives commute with r^2 . This means that the Lagrangian is not properly symmetric between the degrees of freedom. To resolve this, we absorb the residual r^2 into the fields, so we redefine $\tilde{H}_{ab} = rH_{ab}$, $\tilde{K} = rK$.

The light-cone fields

We will now write the Lagrangian in terms of the redefined light-cone fields $\tilde{H} = rH$ and $\tilde{K} = rK$. To do so, we first inspect the quantity $V_a = 2\partial_a \log r$, from which we can define a derivative

$$D_a := \tilde{\nabla}_a + \frac{1}{2} V_a = \frac{1}{r} \tilde{\nabla}_a r \,. \tag{B.68}$$

By replacing every covariant derivative $\tilde{\nabla}_a$ in (B.55)-(B.58) by D_a (using $\tilde{\nabla}_a = D_a - \frac{1}{2}V_a$), we can use (B.68) to remove one r from the r^2 on the left hand side in (B.67) and introduce an r on the right hand side. This automatically gives the symmetric form in r, from where we can redefine the fields appropriately. This gives the final effective two-dimensional theory in (3.68).

The results with the new derivatives (B.68) are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}} = 2D^2 - 2F_a^a, \tag{B.69}$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{R,ab} = 2g_{ab} \left(D^2 - \frac{1}{2} V_c D^c + \frac{1}{4} V_c V^c - F_c^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) - 2 \left(D_a D_b - F_{ab} \right) , \qquad (B.70)$$

$$\tilde{G}_{L,ab} = 2g_{ab} \left(D^2 + \frac{1}{2} D^c V_c + \frac{1}{4} V_c V^c - F_c^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) - 2 \left(D_a D_b - F_{ab} \right) , \qquad (B.71)$$

$$\tilde{G}_{abcd} = g_{ac}V_{[d}D_{b]} + g_{bd}V_{[c}D_{a]} - g_{ab}\left(D_{(c}V_{d)} + \frac{1}{2}V_{c}V_{d}\right) - g_{cd}\left(-V_{(a}D_{b)} + \frac{1}{2}V_{a}V_{b}\right) - g_{ab}g_{cd}\left(\frac{R_{2d}}{2} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}}\right) + g_{ac}g_{bd}\left(R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{r^{2}}\right).$$
(B.72)

Here we defined $D^2 = D_a D^a$ and the new quantity

$$F_{ab} := \frac{1}{2} D_{(a} V_{b)} = \frac{1}{r} \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b r , \qquad (B.73)$$

which is a symmetric tensor (not an operator). Notice that the fact that F_{ab} is symmetric is a natural result from commutativity of covariant derivatives when acting on a scalar. Now, because $D_a = \frac{1}{r}\tilde{\nabla}_a r$, we also have that $D^2 = \frac{1}{r}\tilde{\Box}r$. In this sense we pull a single r from the left side to the right side: for the scalar field, for instance, we have

$$Kr^{2}\tilde{G}K = 2Kr^{2}\left(D^{2} - F_{a}^{a}\right)K \xrightarrow{D \to \frac{1}{r}\tilde{\nabla}r} 2Kr\left(\tilde{\Box} - F_{a}^{a}\right)rK.$$
(B.74)

We may now consistently make the field redefinitions $\tilde{H}_{ab} = rH_{ab}$, $\tilde{K} = rK$, to we end up with $2\tilde{K}(\tilde{\Box} - F_a^a)\tilde{K}$. Carrying the same procedure for all other fields, i.e. inserting $D = \frac{1}{r}\tilde{\nabla}r$ and the redefined fields, results in the following Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{even} = \frac{1}{4}\tilde{H}^{ab}\tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{abcd}\tilde{H}^{cd} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{H}^{ab}\tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{L,ab}\tilde{K} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{K}\tilde{\Delta}^{-1}_{R,ab}\tilde{H}^{ab} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{K}\tilde{\Delta}^{-1}\tilde{K}.$$
 (B.75)

Here we defined

$$\tilde{\Delta}^{-1} = -\tilde{\Box} + F_a^a , \qquad (B.76)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{R,ab}^{-1} = -g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} - \frac{1}{2} V_c \tilde{\nabla}^c + \frac{1}{4} V_c V^c - F_c^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) + \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b - F_{ab} , \qquad (B.77)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{L,ab}^{-1} = -g_{ab} \left(\tilde{\Box} + \frac{1}{2} V_c \tilde{\nabla}^c - \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^2} \right) + \tilde{\nabla}_a \tilde{\nabla}_b - F_{ab} , \qquad (B.78)$$

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{abcd}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} g_{ac} V_{[b} \tilde{\nabla}_{d]} + \frac{1}{2} g_{bd} V_{[a} \tilde{\nabla}_{c]} + \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} \left(V_{(c} \tilde{\nabla}_{d)} + 2F_{cd} \right) + \frac{1}{2} g_{cd} \left(-V_{(a} \tilde{\nabla}_{b)} + \frac{1}{2} V_{a} V_{b} \right) + g_{ab} g_{cd} \left(\frac{1}{4} R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right) - g_{ac} g_{bd} \left(\frac{1}{2} R_{2d} + \frac{\ell(\ell+1)}{2r^{2}} \right).$$
(B.79)

A minus sign has been absorbed into all $\tilde{\Delta}$ operators for convenience. We note that all operators are in fact symmetric in the fields, since for example $\tilde{\Delta}_{R,ab}^{-1}$ equals $\tilde{\Delta}_{L,ab}^{-1}$ up to total derivatives. This completes the rewriting of the action; we have now arrived at the Lagrangian in (3.69).

C Shockwaves and on-shell perturbations

The question of interest in this Appendix is to derive the equation of motion for the metric perturbation that results in the Dray-'t Hooft shockwave, first derived in [41]. Given that the source involves a delta function in the stress tensor, the perturbation is naively of the form $h_{xx} = 2A(x, y) \delta(x)F$, where we seek to derive the equation of motion for the function F, such that the perturbed metric satisfies the Einstein's equations. This calculation in the harmonic gauge of course fails because the solution is not invariant under gauge transformations. So, we will instead work with the general equations of motion before gauge fixing. We begin with the Einstein's equations that are of course given by

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 8\pi G_N T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (C.1)$$

and the variation of the Ricci tensor is derived in (A.10):

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\rho} \left(\nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\mu} h_{\rho\nu} + \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} h_{\rho\nu} - \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} h_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} h_{\lambda\rho} \right).$$
(C.2)

We want to find the F function using the following (Schwarzschild form of the) metric:

$$g_{\mu\nu} = -2A(x,y)dxdy + r^2(x,y)d\Omega^2$$
, (C.3)

such that it still satisfies the non-linear Einstein's equations. Here, A(x, y), r(x, y), and the inverse metric are defined in (B.1), (B.5), and (B.6) respectively. From the form of the source that introduces the shockwave, we may write $h_{\mu\nu}$ containing the only non-vanishing component

$$h_{xx} = 2A(x, y)\delta(x)F(\Omega) . \qquad (C.4)$$

Explicitly calculating all covariant derivatives in the Ricci tensor results in

$$R_{xx} = \frac{A\delta(x)}{r^2} \Delta_{\Omega} F + \frac{2F\delta'(x)}{r} \partial_y r + \frac{2F\delta(x)}{A} \left(\frac{\partial_x A \partial_y A}{A} - \partial_x \partial_y A - \frac{1}{r} \left(\partial_x A \partial_y r + \partial_y A \partial_x r \right) \right).$$
(C.5)

Here Δ_{Ω} is the Laplacian on the two-sphere. We now interpret the dirac delta derivative as $\delta'(x)f(x) = -\delta(x)f'(x)$. Moreover, it suffices to evaluate the equation of motion at x = 0 owing to the $\delta(x)$; therefore, we may set A = 1 and remove the $\partial_y A, \partial_y r$ terms. Finally, using the derivatives in Appendix B.1, the equation of motion now becomes

$$\frac{\delta(x)}{R^2} \Delta_{\Omega} F - 2\delta(x) F\left(\partial_x \partial_y A + \frac{\partial_x \partial_y r}{r}\right) = 8\pi G_N T_{xx} \,. \tag{C.6}$$

Using the double derivative identities in Appendix B.1 given by

$$\partial_y \partial_x A \big|_{r=R} = \frac{1}{R^2} \text{ and } \partial_y \partial_x r \big|_{r=R} = -\frac{1}{2R},$$
 (C.7)

we therefore find

$$\frac{\delta(x)}{R^2} \left(\Delta_{\Omega} - 1\right) F = 8\pi G_N T_{xx} \,. \tag{C.8}$$

This shows that the Shapiro delay can be treated in linear gravity. It is worth mentioning that all of the above was done in the discontinuous $y + \Theta(x)F$ coordinate, while the energy-momentum tensor is given in the continuous y coordinate. However a quick coordinate transformation shows that on r = R this has no effect on the result.

References

- S.W. Hawking. "Particle Creation by Black Holes". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975). Ed. by G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking. [Erratum: Commun.Math.Phys. 46, 206 (1976)], pp. 199–220. DOI: 10.1007/BF02345020.
- S.W. Hawking. "Breakdown of Predictability in Gravitational Collapse". In: Phys. Rev. D 14 (1976), pp. 2460–2473. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.14.2460.
- [3] Gerard 't Hooft. "Quantum mechanics at the black hole horizon". In: Beyond the Standard Model II - A Critical Review of the Standard Model and the Prospects for Discovering New Physics. 1990, pp. 273–295.
- [4] Christopher R. Stephens, Gerard 't Hooft, and Bernard F. Whiting. "Black hole evaporation without information loss". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 11 (1994), pp. 621–648. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/11/3/014. arXiv: gr-qc/9310006.
- [5] Gerard 't Hooft. "The Scattering matrix approach for the quantum black hole: An Overview". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 11 (1996), pp. 4623–4688. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X96002145. arXiv: gr-qc/9607022.
- [6] Gerard 't Hooft. "Graviton Dominance in Ultrahigh-Energy Scattering". In: Phys. Lett. B 198 (1987), pp. 61–63. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(87)90159-6.
- [7] Daniel N. Kabat and Miguel Ortiz. "Eikonal quantum gravity and Planckian scattering". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 388 (1992), pp. 570–592. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(92)90627-N. arXiv: hep-th/9203082.
- [8] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano. "Superstring Collisions at Planckian Energies". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 197 (1987), p. 81. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(87)90346-7.
- [9] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano. "Classical and Quantum Gravity Effects from Planckian Energy Superstring Collisions". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 3 (1988), pp. 1615–1661. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X88000710.
- D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano. "Planckian scattering beyond the semiclassical approximation". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 289 (1992), pp. 87–91. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(92)91366-H.
- [11] C.O. Lousto and Norma G. Sanchez. "Particle and string scattering at the Planck scale". In: Network Meeting of the Observatoire de Paris on String Gravity. 1996, pp. 136–167.
- [12] Paolo Di Vecchia et al. "Universality of ultra-relativistic gravitational scattering". In: (Aug. 2020). arXiv: 2008.12743 [hep-th].
- [13] G. Veneziano. "String-theoretic unitary S-matrix at the threshold of black-hole production". In: *JHEP* 11 (2004), p. 001. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2004/11/001. arXiv: hep-th/0410166.

- D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano. "Towards an S-matrix description of gravitational collapse". In: JHEP 02 (2008), p. 049. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/02/ 049. arXiv: 0712.1209 [hep-th].
- [15] G. Veneziano and J. Wosiek. "Exploring an S-matrix for gravitational collapse". In: JHEP 09 (2008), p. 023. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/09/023. arXiv: 0804.3321
 [hep-th].
- G. Veneziano and J. Wosiek. "Exploring an S-matrix for gravitational collapse. II. A Momentum space analysis". In: JHEP 09 (2008), p. 024. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/09/024. arXiv: 0805.2973 [hep-th].
- [17] M. Ciafaloni and D. Colferai. "S-matrix and Quantum Tunneling in Gravitational Collapse". In: *JHEP* 11 (2008), p. 047. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/11/047. arXiv: 0807.2117 [hep-th].
- [18] G. Dvali et al. "Black hole formation and classicalization in ultra-Planckian 2→N scattering". In: Nucl. Phys. B 893 (2015), pp. 187–235. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2015.02.004. arXiv: 1409.7405 [hep-th].
- [19] Andrea Addazi, Massimo Bianchi, and Gabriele Veneziano. "Glimpses of black hole formation/evaporation in highly inelastic, ultra-planckian string collisions". In: JHEP 02 (2017), p. 111. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2017)111. arXiv: 1611.03643 [hep-th].
- [20] Marcello Ciafaloni and Dimitri Colferai. "Unitarity restoring graviton radiation in the collapse regime of gravitational scattering". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 96.12 (2017), p. 126008. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.126008. arXiv: 1709.08405 [hep-th].
- [21] Marcello Ciafaloni, Dimitri Colferai, and Gabriele Veneziano. "Infrared features of gravitational scattering and radiation in the eikonal approach". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 99.6 (2019), p. 066008. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.99.066008. arXiv: 1812.08137 [hep-th].
- [22] Tom Banks and Willy Fischler. "A Model for high-energy scattering in quantum gravity". In: (June 1999). arXiv: hep-th/9906038.
- [23] Herman L. Verlinde and Erik P. Verlinde. "Scattering at Planckian energies". In: Nucl. Phys. B 371 (1992), pp. 246–268. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(92)90236-5. arXiv: hep-th/9110017.
- [24] Erik P. Verlinde and Herman L. Verlinde. "High-energy scattering in quantum gravity". In: Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993), S175–S184. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/10/S/018.
- [25] Stephen H. Shenker and Douglas Stanford. "Stringy effects in scrambling". In: JHEP 05 (2015), p. 132. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2015)132. arXiv: 1412.6087 [hep-th].
- [26] Juan Maldacena, Stephen H. Shenker, and Douglas Stanford. "A bound on chaos". In: JHEP 08 (2016), p. 106. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2016)106. arXiv: 1503.01409 [hep-th].

- [27] Stephen H. Shenker and Douglas Stanford. "Black holes and the butterfly effect". In: JHEP 03 (2014), p. 067. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2014)067. arXiv: 1306.0622
 [hep-th].
- [28] Joseph Polchinski. "Chaos in the black hole S-matrix". In: (May 2015). arXiv: 1505. 08108 [hep-th].
- [29] Kristan Jensen. "Chaos in AdS₂ Holography". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 117.11 (2016),
 p. 111601. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.111601. arXiv: 1605.06098 [hep-th].
- Juan Maldacena, Douglas Stanford, and Zhenbin Yang. "Conformal symmetry and its breaking in two dimensional Nearly Anti-de-Sitter space". In: *PTEP* 2016.12 (2016), p. 12C104. DOI: 10.1093/ptep/ptw124. arXiv: 1606.01857 [hep-th].
- [31] Julius Engelsöy, Thomas G. Mertens, and Herman Verlinde. "An investigation of AdS₂ backreaction and holography". In: JHEP 07 (2016), p. 139. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP07(2016)139. arXiv: 1606.03438 [hep-th].
- [32] Alexei Kitaev and S. Josephine Suh. "The soft mode in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model and its gravity dual". In: JHEP 05 (2018), p. 183. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2018)183. arXiv: 1711.08467 [hep-th].
- [33] Ho Tat Lam et al. "Shockwave S-matrix from Schwarzian Quantum Mechanics". In: JHEP 11 (2018), p. 182. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2018)182. arXiv: 1804.09834 [hep-th].
- [34] Ahmed Almheiri et al. "Black Holes: Complementarity or Firewalls?" In: JHEP 02 (2013), p. 062. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2013)062. arXiv: 1207.3123 [hep-th].
- [35] Ahmed Almheiri et al. "An Apologia for Firewalls". In: JHEP 09 (2013), p. 018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2013)018. arXiv: 1304.6483 [hep-th].
- [36] Donald Marolf and Joseph Polchinski. "Gauge/Gravity Duality and the Black Hole Interior". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 111 (2013), p. 171301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 111.171301. arXiv: 1307.4706 [hep-th].
- [37] Ram Brustein and A. J. M. Medved. "Restoring predictability in semiclassical gravitational collapse". In: *JHEP* 09 (2013), p. 015. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2013)015. arXiv: 1305.3139 [hep-th].
- [38] Lasma Alberte et al. "Density matrix of black hole radiation". In: JHEP 08 (2015),
 p. 015. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2015)015. arXiv: 1502.02687 [hep-th].
- [39] Walter D. Goldberger and Ira Z. Rothstein. "An Effective Field Theory of Quantum Mechanical Black Hole Horizons". In: JHEP 04 (2020), p. 056. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP04(2020)056. arXiv: 1912.13435 [hep-th].
- [40] Walter D. Goldberger and Ira Z. Rothstein. "Virtual Hawking Radiation". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 125.21 (2020), p. 211301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.211301. arXiv: 2007.00726 [hep-th].

- [41] Tevian Dray and Gerard 't Hooft. "The Gravitational Shock Wave of a Massless Particle". In: Nucl. Phys. B 253 (1985), pp. 173–188. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(85)90525-5.
- [42] Gerard 't Hooft. "Diagonalizing the Black Hole Information Retrieval Process". In: (Sept. 2015). arXiv: 1509.01695 [gr-qc].
- [43] Gerard 't Hooft. "Black hole unitarity and antipodal entanglement". In: Found. Phys. 46.9 (2016), pp. 1185–1198. DOI: 10.1007/s10701-016-0014-y. arXiv: 1601.03447
 [gr-qc].
- [44] Panagiotis Betzios, Nava Gaddam, and Olga Papadoulaki. "The Black Hole S-Matrix from Quantum Mechanics". In: *JHEP* 11 (2016), p. 131. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2016) 131. arXiv: 1607.07885 [hep-th].
- [45] Mihalis Dafermos, Gustav Holzegel, and Igor Rodnianski. "The linear stability of the Schwarzschild solution to gravitational perturbations". In: Acta Math. 222 (2019), pp. 1–214. DOI: 10.4310/ACTA.2019.v222.n1.a1. arXiv: 1601.06467 [gr-qc].
- [46] Thibault Damour. "Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 94.10 (2016), p. 104015. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.94.104015. arXiv: 1609.00354 [gr-qc].
- [47] Thibault Damour. "High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 97.4 (2018), p. 044038. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD. 97.044038. arXiv: 1710.10599 [gr-qc].
- [48] N.E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr et al. "General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121.17 (2018), p. 171601. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.171601. arXiv: 1806.04920 [hep-th].
- [49] Clifford Cheung, Ira Z. Rothstein, and Mikhail P. Solon. "From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121.25 (2018), p. 251101. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.251101. arXiv: 1808.02489 [hep-th].
- [50] David A. Kosower, Ben Maybee, and Donal O'Connell. "Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering". In: JHEP 02 (2019), p. 137. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2019)137. arXiv: 1811.10950 [hep-th].
- [51] Zvi Bern et al. "Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 122.20 (2019), p. 201603. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.201603. arXiv: 1901.04424 [hep-th].
- [52] Zvi Bern et al. "Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory". In: JHEP 10 (2019), p. 206. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2019)206. arXiv: 1908.
 01493 [hep-th].

- [53] Hamed Masaood. "A Scattering Theory for Linearised Gravity on the Exterior of the Schwarzschild Black Hole I: The Teukolsky Equations". In: (July 2020). arXiv: 2007.13658 [gr-qc].
- [54] Andrea Cristofoli. "Gravitational shock waves and scattering amplitudes". In: (June 2020). arXiv: 2006.08283 [hep-th].
- [55] W. B. Bonnor. "The gravitational field of light". In: Communications in Mathematical Physics 13.3 (1969), pp. 163–174. DOI: 10.1007/BF01645484. URL: https://doi. org/10.1007/BF01645484.
- [56] P.C. Aichelburg and R.U. Sexl. "On the Gravitational field of a massless particle". In: Gen. Rel. Grav. 2 (1971), pp. 303–312. DOI: 10.1007/BF00758149.
- [57] Roger Penrose. "General Relativity (papers in honour of J L Synge)". In: *Physics Bulletin* 24.8 (Aug. 1973). Ed. by R. A. D'Inverno and O' Raifearteigh, pp. 491–491.
 DOI: 10.1088/0031-9112/24/8/016. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088%2F0031-9112%2F24%2F8%2F016.
- [58] Gustav Mogull, Jan Plefka, and Jan Steinhoff. "Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory". In: (Oct. 2020). arXiv: 2010.02865 [hep-th].
- [59] Panos Betzios, Nava Gaddam, and Olga Papadoulaki. "Black holes, quantum chaos, and the Riemann hypothesis". In: (Apr. 2020). arXiv: 2004.09523 [hep-th].
- [60] Norma G. Sanchez and Bernard F. Whiting. "Quantum Field Theory and the Antipodal Identification of Black Holes". In: Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987), pp. 605–623. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(87)90289-6.
- [61] Norma G. Sanchez. "The classical-quantum duality of nature including gravity". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 28.03 (2018), p. 1950055. DOI: 10.1142/S021827181950055X. arXiv: 1803.04257 [physics.gen-ph].
- [62] Adam Bzowski, Alessandra Gnecchi, and Thomas Hertog. "Interactions resolve statedependence in a toy-model of AdS black holes". In: JHEP 06 (2018), p. 167. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2018)167. arXiv: 1802.02580 [hep-th].
- [63] Norma G. Sanchez. "The New Quantum Structure of the Space-Time". In: (Apr. 2018), HAL Id : hal-01735421, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01735421. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.32903.50086.
- [64] Nathaniel A. Strauss, Bernard F. Whiting, and Anne T. Franzen. "Classical tools for antipodal identification in Reissner-Nordström spacetime". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 37.18 (2020), p. 185006. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6382/ab9a9d. arXiv: 2002.02501 [gr-qc].
- [65] Panagiotis Betzios, Nava Gaddam, and Olga Papadoulaki. "Antipodal correlation on the meron wormhole and a bang-crunch universe". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 97.12 (2018), p. 126006. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.126006. arXiv: 1711.03469 [hep-th].
- [66] Adam Bzowski. "Wormholes from two-sided TT-deformation". In: (Aug. 2020). arXiv: 2008.02810 [hep-th].
- [67] Maurice Levy and Joseph Sucher. "Eikonal approximation in quantum field theory". In: *Phys. Rev.* 186 (1969), pp. 1656–1670. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.186.1656.
- [68] Gerard 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman. "One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation". In: Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. A 20 (1974), pp. 69–94.
- [69] Marc H. Goroff and Augusto Sagnotti. "QUANTUM GRAVITY AT TWO LOOPS".
 In: Phys. Lett. B 160 (1985), pp. 81–86. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(85)91470-4.
- [70] Walter D. Goldberger and Ira Z. Rothstein. "Horizon radiation reaction forces". In: JHEP 10 (2020), p. 026. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2020)026. arXiv: 2007.00731 [hep-th].
- [71] Tullio Regge and John A. Wheeler. "Stability of a Schwarzschild singularity". In: *Phys. Rev.* 108 (1957), pp. 1063–1069. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.108.1063.
- [72] Frank J. Zerilli. "Effective potential for even parity Regge-Wheeler gravitational perturbation equations". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 24 (1970), pp. 737–738. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.24.737.
- [73] C.V. Vishveshwara. "Stability of the schwarzschild metric". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 1 (1970), pp. 2870–2879. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.1.2870.
- S.A. Teukolsky. "Rotating black holes separable wave equations for gravitational and electromagnetic perturbations". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 29 (1972), pp. 1114–1118.
 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.29.1114.
- Bruce P. Jensen, John G. McLaughlin, and Adrian C. Ottewill. "One loop quantum gravity in Schwarzschild space-time". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 51 (1995), pp. 5676–5697. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.51.5676. arXiv: gr-qc/9412075.
- J.L. Martínez-Morales. "Eigentensors of the Lichnerowicz operator in Euclidean Schwarzschild metrics". In: Annalen der Physik 15.9 (2006), pp. 653-662. DOI: 10.1002/andp. 200510184. eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/andp. 200510184. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/andp. 200510184.
- [77] Igor Khavkine. "Explicit triangular decoupling of the separated Lichnerowicz tensor wave equation on Schwarzschild into scalar Regge-Wheeler equations". In: (Apr. 2020). arXiv: 2004.09651 [gr-qc].
- [78] Nava Gaddam, Nico Groenenboom, and Gerard 't Hooft. "Quantum gravity on the black hole horizon". In: (Dec. 2020). arXiv: 2012.02357 [hep-th].
- [79] M. Abramowitz and I. Stegun. Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover, New York, 1970.

- [80] Gerard 't Hooft. "On the Quantum Structure of a Black Hole". In: Nucl. Phys. B 256 (1985), pp. 727–745. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(85)90418-3.
- [81] Gia Dvali and Cesar Gomez. "Black Hole's Quantum N-Portrait". In: Fortsch. Phys. 61 (2013), pp. 742–767. DOI: 10.1002/prop.201300001. arXiv: 1112.3359 [hep-th].
- [82] Karl Martel and Eric Poisson. "Gravitational perturbations of the Schwarzschild spacetime: A Practical covariant and gauge-invariant formalism". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 71 (2005), p. 104003. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.71.104003. arXiv: gr-qc/0502028.
- [83] Alessandro Nagar and Luciano Rezzolla. "Gauge-invariant non-spherical metric perturbations of Schwarzschild black-hole spacetimes". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 22 (2005).
 [Erratum: Class.Quant.Grav. 23, 4297 (2006)], R167. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/22/ 16/R01. arXiv: gr-qc/0502064.
- [84] Kurt Hinterbichler. "Theoretical Aspects of Massive Gravity". In: Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012), pp. 671–710. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.84.671. arXiv: 1105.3735 [hep-th].
- [85] Steven Weinberg. The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, June 2005. ISBN: 978-0-521-67053-1, 978-0-511-25204-4.
- [86] Steven Weinberg. The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. Cambridge University Press, Aug. 2013. ISBN: 978-1-139-63247-8, 978-0-521-67054-8, 978-0-521-55002-4.
- [87] Sebastian de Haro. "Planckian scattering and black holes". In: *JHEP* 10 (1998), p. 023.
 DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/1998/10/023. arXiv: gr-qc/9806028.
- [88] S. de Haro Olle. "Noncommutative black hole algebra and string theory from gravity". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 15 (1998), pp. 519–535. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/15/3/006. arXiv: gr-qc/9707042.
- [89] Jonathan Kommemi. "The Global structure of spherically symmetric charged scalar field spacetimes". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 323 (2013), pp. 35–106. DOI: 10.1007/ s00220-013-1759-1. arXiv: 1107.0949 [gr-qc].
- [90] Demetrios Christodoulou. "The Formation of Black Holes in General Relativity". In: 12th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity. May 2008, pp. 24–34. DOI: 10.1142/9789814374552_0002. arXiv: 0805.3880 [gr-qc].
- [91] Xinliang An. "Emergence of Apparent Horizon in Gravitational Collapse". In: (Feb. 2017). DOI: 10.1007/s40818-020-00085-9. arXiv: 1703.00118 [gr-qc].
- [92] Abhay Ashtekar and Badri Krishnan. "Dynamical horizons and their properties". In: Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003), p. 104030. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.68.104030. arXiv: gr-qc/0308033.
- [93] Abhay Ashtekar and Badri Krishnan. "Isolated and dynamical horizons and their applications". In: *Living Rev. Rel.* 7 (2004), p. 10. DOI: 10.12942/lrr-2004-10. arXiv: gr-qc/0407042.

- [94] Stephen W. Hawking, Malcolm J. Perry, and Andrew Strominger. "Soft Hair on Black Holes". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116.23 (2016), p. 231301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 116.231301. arXiv: 1601.00921 [hep-th].
- [95] Stephen W. Hawking, Malcolm J. Perry, and Andrew Strominger. "Superrotation Charge and Supertranslation Hair on Black Holes". In: JHEP 05 (2017), p. 161. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2017)161. arXiv: 1611.09175 [hep-th].
- [96] Andrew Strominger. "Black Hole Information Revisited". In: 2020, pp. 109–117. DOI: 10.1142/9789811203961_0010. arXiv: 1706.07143 [hep-th].
- [97] Sasha Haco et al. "Black Hole Entropy and Soft Hair". In: JHEP 12 (2018), p. 098.
 DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2018)098. arXiv: 1810.01847 [hep-th].
- [98] Yasunori Nomura. "Spacetime and Universal Soft Modes Black Holes and Beyond". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 101.6 (2020), p. 066024. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.101.066024. arXiv: 1908.05728 [hep-th].
- [99] Elizabeth Himwich et al. "The Soft S-Matrix in Gravity". In: JHEP 09 (2020), p. 129.
 DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2020)129. arXiv: 2005.13433 [hep-th].
- [100] Ward Vleeshouwers. "On BMS-transformations and the shockwave S-matrix". In: Master thesis in Utrecht University, supervised by Nava Gaddam and Gerard 't Hooft (2018).
- [101] Nava Gaddam. In: (Work in progress).
- [102] Geoffrey Penington. "Entanglement Wedge Reconstruction and the Information Paradox". In: JHEP 09 (2020), p. 002. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2020)002. arXiv: 1905.08255 [hep-th].
- [103] Ahmed Almheiri et al. "The entropy of bulk quantum fields and the entanglement wedge of an evaporating black hole". In: JHEP 12 (2019), p. 063. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP12(2019)063. arXiv: 1905.08762 [hep-th].
- [104] Ahmed Almheiri et al. "The Page curve of Hawking radiation from semiclassical geometry". In: JHEP 03 (2020), p. 149. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2020)149. arXiv: 1908.10996 [hep-th].
- [105] Andreas Karch and Lisa Randall. "Locally localized gravity". In: JHEP 05 (2001).
 Ed. by Michael J. Duff, J.T. Liu, and J. Lu, p. 008. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2001/ 05/008. arXiv: hep-th/0011156.
- [106] Hao Geng and Andreas Karch. "Massive islands". In: JHEP 09 (2020), p. 121. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2020)121. arXiv: 2006.02438 [hep-th].
- [107] Samir D. Mathur. "The Information paradox: A Pedagogical introduction". In: Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009). Ed. by A.M. Uranga, p. 224001. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/ 26/22/224001. arXiv: 0909.1038 [hep-th].

- [108] Per Kraus and Samir D. Mathur. "Nature abhors a horizon". In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 24.12 (2015), p. 1543003. DOI: 10.1142/S0218271815430038. arXiv: 1505.05078
 [hep-th].
- [109] Panos Betzios, Nava Gaddam, and Olga Papadoulaki. "To appear". In: (2020).
- [110] Steven B. Giddings. "Nonviolent unitarization: basic postulates to soft quantum structure of black holes". In: JHEP 12 (2017), p. 047. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2017)047. arXiv: 1701.08765 [hep-th].
- [111] Alok Laddha et al. "The Holographic Nature of Null Infinity". In: (Feb. 2020). arXiv: 2002.02448 [hep-th].
- [112] Chandramouli Chowdhury, Olga Papadoulaki, and Suvrat Raju. "A physical protocol for observers near the boundary to obtain bulk information in quantum gravity". In: (Aug. 2020). arXiv: 2008.01740 [hep-th].
- [113] Subham Dutta Chowdhury et al. "Classifying and constraining local four photon and four graviton S-matrices". In: JHEP 02 (2020), p. 114. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2020) 114. arXiv: 1910.14392 [hep-th].
- [114] Diego Blas, Jorge Martin Camalich, and Jose Antonio Oller. "Unitarization of infiniterange forces: graviton-graviton scattering". In: (Oct. 2020). arXiv: 2010.12459 [hep-th].
- [115] L.N. Lipatov. "High-energy scattering in QCD and in quantum gravity and twodimensional field theories". In: Nucl. Phys. B 365 (1991), pp. 614–632. DOI: 10.1016/ 0550-3213(91)90512-V.
- [116] R. Kirschner and L. Szymanowski. "Effective action for high-energy scattering in gravity". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 52 (1995), pp. 2333–2340. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.52.2333. arXiv: hep-th/9412087.
- M. Fabbrichesi et al. "Planckian energy scattering and surface terms in the gravitational action". In: Nucl. Phys. B 419 (1994), pp. 147–188. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(94)90361-1. arXiv: hep-th/9309037.
- [118] Tom Banks and John Kehayias. "Fuzzy Geometry via the Spinor Bundle, with Applications to Holographic Space-time and Matrix Theory". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 84 (2011), p. 086008. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.84.086008. arXiv: 1106.1179 [hep-th].
- [119] T. Banks. "Holographic Space-time Models in 1 + 1 Dimensions". In: (June 2015). arXiv: 1506.05777 [hep-th].
- [120] Lorenzo Cornalba et al. "Eikonal Approximation in AdS/CFT: From Shock Waves to Four-Point Functions". In: JHEP 08 (2007), p. 019. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/ 08/019. arXiv: hep-th/0611122.
- [121] Lorenzo Cornalba et al. "Eikonal Approximation in AdS/CFT: Conformal Partial Waves and Finite N Four-Point Functions". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 767 (2007), pp. 327– 351. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2007.01.007. arXiv: hep-th/0611123.

- [122] Lorenzo Cornalba. "Eikonal methods in AdS/CFT: Regge theory and multi-reggeon exchange". In: (Oct. 2007). arXiv: 0710.5480 [hep-th].
- [123] Lorenzo Cornalba, Miguel S. Costa, and Joao Penedones. "Eikonal approximation in AdS/CFT: Resumming the gravitational loop expansion". In: *JHEP* 09 (2007), p. 037.
 DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/09/037. arXiv: 0707.0120 [hep-th].
- [124] Andrei Parnachev and Kallol Sen. "Notes on AdS-Schwarzschild eikonal phase". In: (Nov. 2020). arXiv: 2011.06920 [hep-th].
- [125] Lam Hui et al. "Static response and Love numbers of Schwarzschild black holes". In: (Oct. 2020). arXiv: 2010.00593 [hep-th].
- [126] Rachel A. Rosen and Luca Santoni. "Black hole perturbations of massive and partially massless spin-2 fields in (anti) de Sitter spacetime". In: (Oct. 2020). arXiv: 2010.00595 [hep-th].
- [127] Vijay Balasubramanian et al. "Superluminal chaos after a quantum quench". In: JHEP 12 (2019), p. 132. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2019)132. arXiv: 1908.08955 [hep-th].
- [128] Ben Craps et al. "Slow scrambling in extremal BTZ and microstate geometries". In: (Sept. 2020). arXiv: 2009.08518 [hep-th].
- [129] Paolo Benincasa and Freddy Cachazo. "Consistency Conditions on the S-Matrix of Massless Particles". In: (May 2007). arXiv: 0705.4305 [hep-th].
- [130] Xian O. Camanho et al. "Causality Constraints on Corrections to the Graviton Three-Point Coupling". In: JHEP 02 (2016), p. 020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2016)020. arXiv: 1407.5597 [hep-th].
- [131] Jared Kaplan and Sandipan Kundu. "Causality Constraints in Large N QCD Coupled to Gravity". In: (Sept. 2020). arXiv: 2009.08460 [hep-th].
- [132] G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking. "Cosmological Event Horizons, Thermodynamics, and Particle Creation". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 15 (1977), pp. 2738–2751. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.15.2738.